
 
 

The Board of Housing’s mission is to create affordable housing opportunities for Montanans whose needs are not 
met by the market. We value people, families, communities, fairness, teamwork, mutual respect, integrity. 
We are committed and passionate about collaborating with our partners to make sure Montana's families and 
communities have attainable, affordable, accessible and sustainable homes. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
AGENDA ITEMS 
Public Comments - Public comment is welcome on any public matter that is not on 
the agenda and that is within the jurisdiction of the agency. Please sign in on our 
attendance sheet. 

 

Minutes 
¤ Approve Prior Board Meeting Minutes        

Finance Program (Manager: Ginger Pfankuch)  
¤ Finance Update            

Homeownership Program (Manager: Vicki Bauer)  

¤ Lender Approval 

¤ Setaside Interest Rate Adjustment 

¤ Setaside Approval 

¤ Homeownership Program Update         

 

Thank you for attending this public meeting and for 
your support of affordable housing. 

 
 Date:  Monday, March 14, 2016  

   
Time:  8:30 a.m. 

 
Chairperson:  JP Crowley 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting Location: 
Quality Inn and Suites 

2100 Cornell Ave 
Butte, MT 59701 
(406)494-7800 

 
Board Offices: 

301 S Park Ave., Room 240  
Helena MT  59601 

(406) 841-2840 

Remote Attendance Information: 
You may join our meetings from your 

 office or home via webinar and phone. 

Dial (877) 273-4202 
Access Code: 7233056# 

Webinar: Click here to register 

1



 
 

The Board of Housing’s mission is to create affordable housing opportunities for Montanans whose needs are not 
met by the market. We value people, families, communities, fairness, teamwork, mutual respect, integrity. 
We are committed and passionate about collaborating with our partners to make sure Montana's families and 
communities have attainable, affordable, accessible and sustainable homes. 

 

¤ Multifamily  Program (Manager: Mary Bair) 

¤ 110 S California Loan Request 

¤ Northstar Apartments Loan Request 

¤ 2017 QAP Public comments and Approval 

¤ Reverse Annuity Mortgage (RAM) Exception 

¤ Multifamily Program Update   

Executive Director (Bruce Brensdal) 

¤ Updates 
 

¤ Mortgage Servicing Update (Mary Palkovich) 

o Updates            

¤ Operations Update (Stacy Collette) 

o Updates          

¤ Marketing Update (Penny Cope) 

o Updates           

¤ Miscellaneous 

 
Meeting Adjourns 
 
Training Session (if schedule allows)  
*All agenda items are subject to Board action after public comment requirements are fulfilled.   

*We make every effort to hold our meetings at fully accessible facilities.  Any person needing reasonable 
accommodation must notify the Housing Division at (406) 841-2840 or TDD (406) 841-2702 before the 
scheduled meeting to allow for arrangements. 

 
Future Meeting Dates and Locations (subject to change) 
April 11, 2016: no meeting May 23, 2016: Kalispell June 13, 2016: unknown 
July 11, 2016: No meeting August 8, 2016: unknown September 12, 2016: Helena 

2



 MEG O’LEARY   STEVE BULLOCK  
 DIRECTOR  GOVERNOR 

   
HOUSING DIVISION – MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 

301 S. Park Avenue, Room 240 and via Webinar – Helena Montana 59601  
February 8, 2016 

ROLL CALL OF BOARD  

MEMBERS: J.P. Crowley, Chairman (Present - webinar) 
Bob Gauthier (Excused) 
Doug Kaercher (Present - webinar) 
Ingrid Firemoon (Excused) 
Jeanette McKee (Present - webinar) 
Pat Melby (Present - webinar) 
Sheila Rice (Present - webinar) 

STAFF: Bruce Brensdal, Executive Director 
Ginger Pfankuch, Accounting & Finance Manager 
Vicki Bauer, Homeownership Program 
Mary Bair, Multifamily Program 
Stacy Collette, Operations Manager  
Penny Cope, Marketing and Public Relations 
Mary Palkovich, Servicing Program 
Paula Loving, Executive Assistant 
Kellie Guariglia, Multifamily Program 
Jeannene Maas, Homeownership Program 

COUNSEL: Greg Gould, Luxan and Murfitt  
   John Wagner, Kutak Rock 

UNDERWRITERS: Mina Choo, RBC Capital  

OTHERS: Alex Burkhalter 
 Andrea Davis 
 Heather McMilin 
 John Firehammer 
 Kevin Thanes 
 Logan Anderson 
 Liz Mogstad 
 Amy Fitzpatrick 
 Brian Barns 

These written minutes, together with the audio recordings of this meeting, constitute 
the official minutes of the referenced meeting of the Montana Board of Housing 
(MBOH).  References in these written minutes to tapes (e.g., Tape 1 – 4:34) refer to 
the location in the audio recordings of the meeting where the discussed occurred.  The 
audio recordings of the MBOH meeting of this date are hereby incorporated by 
reference and made a part of these minutes.  The referenced audio recordings are 
available on the MBOH website at Meetings and Minutes . 

3

http://housing.mt.gov/About/MBOH/Meetings#Archived-Minutes-304


Page 2 of 6 

 

CALL MEETING TO ORDER  

Chairman JP Crowley called the Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) meeting to order 
at 9:05 a.m. (0:00).  Chairman asked for any public comment not on the agenda (2:00).   

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Doug Kaercher stated the January 19, 2016 MBOH Board meeting minutes reflect that 
he was not present at the meeting.  Doug was in attendance via webinar. (2:20).   Sheila 
Rice moved to approve the January 19, 2016 MBOH Board meeting minutes with the 
change of Doug’s presence and Doug Kaercher seconded the motion (2:50). Chairman 
Crowley asked for comments.  A roll call vote was taken: 

Doug Kaercher: Yes 
Jeanette McKee: Yes 
Pat Melby:  Yes 
Sheila Rice:  Yes 
J.P. Crowley:  Yes 

The January 19, 2016 MBOH Board minutes were approved unanimously.     

FINANCE PROGRAM 
There was no Finance Program update. 

HOMEOWNERSHIP PROGRAM 
Vicki Bauer brought to the Board the wind and hail minimum deductible policy change. 
(4:10) In October of 2012 the Board changed the hazard insurance requirement from 
$1,000 to the greater of $1,000 or 1% for all perils.  With wind and hail storms in 
eastern Montana over the past two years, we have heard from our lenders that our 
deductible requirements are getting harder to find.  Vicki called several companies and 
agents and found that people can get insurance that meets our requirements, but some 
companies have changed their wind and hail minimum deductible to $1,500 making it 
more difficult and more expensive to get insurance that meets our requirements.  This 
is more of an issue in eastern Montana. Vicki also polled other neighboring states and 
their requirements which includes; Wyoming and South Dakota - $1,000 or 1%; North 
Dakota - $1,500 or 1%, wind and hail $2,500 or 1%; Idaho – lesser of $2,500 or 2%.  
Doug Kaercher inquired if deductible was the greater of the two dollar amounts (7:03).  
Vicki confirmed the deductible was the greater amount.   

Doug Kaercher moved to change the Hazard Insurance Deductible Requirement to 
$1,500 or 1% for all perils and Jeanette McKee seconded the motion. (7:24).   Chairman 
Crowley asked for comments.   Pat Melby requested it be clarified that the deductible is 
the greater amount.   Doug Kaercher moved to amend original motion to include the 
greater of the two amounts and Jeanette McKee seconded the motion. (8:07) A roll call 
vote was taken (8:28):  

Doug Kaercher: Yes 
Jeanette McKee: Yes 
Pat Melby:  Yes 

4



Page 3 of 6 

 

Sheila Rice:  Yes 
J.P. Crowley:  Yes 

The Hazard Insurance Deductible Requirement increase to $1,500 or 1% of all perils, 
whichever is greater, was approved unanimously.  

MULTIFAMILY PROGRAM 
Mary Bair brought to the Board the Draft 2017 Qualified Allocation Plan. (9:00) Bruce 
Brensdal provided a review of the process that will used to review changes to the 
Qualified Allocation Plan.  Every state Housing Credit allocating agency is required by 
Section 42 to have a Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP).  The Housing Credits are 
awarded once a year.  The QAP is the rulebook for the Housing Credit Program for the 
year.  Pat Melby moved to approve the 2017 Qualified Allocation Plan with suggested 
Staff’s amendments to be placed for public comment and Jeanette McKee seconded the 
motion. (14:47) 

Mary Bair reviewed the significant changes to the 2017 Qualified Allocation Plan.  The 
page numbers are referenced to Attachment I – 2017 Draft Qualified Allocation Plan. 
(15:57) 

Several redline changes are clarification and are not listed on this document.  The hi-
lighted changes are listed below and are considered significant changes 

• Table of contents, page iv.  Exhibits are being changed to forms, will be outside the 
QAP, and available on the website. (16:35) 

• Definitions page 3 (17:38) 
o Added Common Space – put in definition 
o Cost per Square foot – changed total project costs to Hard Costs 
o Cost per unit – changed total project costs to Hard Costs 

Sheila Rice asked for staff’s rationale on the change from total project to hard cost.  
(18:49) Sheila Rice made a motion to include a cost per square foot and square unit for 
hard costs and a cost per square foot and square unit for total project. (23:18) After 
further discussion, Sheila Rice withdrew the motion (26:21)  

• Page 4 (26:27) 
o Added Forms -  put in definition 

• Page 5 (27:10) 
o Hard cost - definition changed 
o Land or Property control - definition expanded 

• Page 6 (30:05) 
o Project Square Footage – expanded definition 
o Qualified Management Company – definition expanded 

• Page 7 (31:12) 
o Small Project  - changed from 24 to 20 units or fewer  
o Small Rural Project – added project with 20 units or fewer 
o Soft costs – expanded definition 
o Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio – added land value to calculation 
o Added Substantial Change – put in definition 

• Page 12 & 13 (34:02) 
o Eligible Applicants – added language  - delinquent late fees make an applicant 

ineligible 

5



Page 4 of 6 

 

o Tax Credit Proceeds, paragraph 2 – adding late fee for delinquent submission of 
agreement 

• Page 13 & 14 (35:20) 
o Cost Per Unit/Cost Per Square Foot, 4th paragraph – changed amount to 

$175,000 and added must meet maximum requirements at application, 10% and 
8609 

Sheila Rice moved to amend the Cost Per Unit/Cost Per Square Foot to include a 
maximum of $230,000 total development cost and Pat Melby seconded the motion. 
(38:40)  Chairman Crowley asked for public comments.  A roll call vote was taken 
(40:39): 

Doug Kaercher: Yes 
Jeanette McKee: Yes 
Pat Melby:  Yes 
Sheila Rice:  Yes 
J.P. Crowley:  Yes 

The Cost Per Unit/Cost Per Square Foot, page 13 & 14 – paragraph 4, was approved 
unanimously to include the “maximum of $230,000 total development cost”.  

• Page 15 (41:05) 
o Debt Cover Ratio – changed Debt Coverage Ratio and expounded on language 

• Page 16 (42:00) 
o Replacement Reserves – Changed amount to the same for all types of projects. 
o Additional Underwriting Assumptions – added underwriting assumptions to be 

used by applicants and board staff in underwriting 

Sheila Rice moved to remove the “until the replacement reserve equals at $1,000.00 
per unit” from Placement Reserves, page 16 – first sentence and Jeanette McKee 
seconded the motion (38:40)  Chairman Crowley asked for public comments.  A roll 
call vote was taken (44:18): 

Doug Kaercher: Yes 
Jeanette McKee: Yes 
Pat Melby:  Yes 
Sheila Rice:  Yes 
J.P. Crowley:  Yes 

The “until the replacement reserve equals at $1,000.00 per unit” from Placement 
Reserves, page 16 – first sentence, was approved unanimously.  

• Page 20 (50:00) 
o 130% Basis Boost – additional clarification language 

• Page 21 (50:39) 
o Information Request and Release Policy is to be moved to the website 

• Page 23 (51:07) 
o Ex Parte Communication Policy is being moved to the website 

• Page 24 (52:08) 
o Deleted First Allocation Round (current process) 
o Added First Award Round – Invitation to apply 

 
• Page 25 (53:23) 

6



Page 5 of 6 

 

o Board Consideration and Determination Process – Added language for 
Invitation to apply 

• Page 25 & 26 (53:23) 
o 4% Credit Applications for Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects, hi-lighted 

language – adding must submit application at least 6 weeks before board 
meeting and stating the fees that are due. 

• Page 26 (1:02:20) 
o Application Submission Method for 4% and 9% Credit Applications – adding 

language about changing or adding folders in the electronic submission process 
o Section 5 – Fee Schedule – Letter of Intent – Raising Letter of Intent fee to 

$1500.00 
• Page 28 (1:02:40) 

o Maximum Credit Award – adding language to give discretion to award outside 
competitive cycle 

• Page 29 (1:04:03) 
o Small Rural Projects – added 20 or fewer units 

• Page 30 (1:06:49)  
o Application – must submit Letter of Intent and be invited to apply to submit 

application 
o used by applicants and board staff in underwriting 

Sheila Rice inquired about requiring an analysis on rehab projects on why the 
project didn’t meet the 4% credit applications. (1:07:28) Pat Melby moved to 
include special requirements for rehab projects to include a 4% credit analysis at 
the time of Letter of Intent. (1:09:35) There was no second to the motion. 

• Page 31 (1:11:38) 
o Threshold Requirements  
 Forms are referenced on the website 
 13.  Clarified CMA/Appraisal required on ALL applications 
 17.  Expanding Non Profit language 
 18.  Expanding Property Tax Exemption language 
 25.  Additional language for Narrative 

• Page 36 (1:14:48) 
o Development Evaluation Criteria and Scoring 
 Total score available has been raised 
 2. Lower Income Tenants - Additional points available for targeting more 

40% units than needed for 20 points 
 4.  Community Input – Changed to points per item 
 4.  Appropriate Size and Development Type – Added required reference to 

market study 
 5.  Preservation or Increase of Housing Stock – Increased available points 
 5.  Amenities – adjusted score to  by item instead of every 3 items 
 6.  Development Team Characteristics, 2nd paragraph – Clarified the 

education requirements  
 7.  Participation of Local Entity,  1st paragraph – Increased available points 

• 3rd paragraph – clarification of formal agreement language 
 8.  Tenant Populations with Special Housing Needs – Additional language 

added 
 9.  Percentage of Credits Funding Total Project Cost – NEW SCORING 

CATEGORY  
 10.  Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness – Separated by categories 

and added additional Language 

7



Page 6 of 6 

 

• Page 49 (1:24:17) 
o 10% Test – changed deadline language to allow additional time to meet and 

complete 
• Page 50 (1:25:48) 

o Final Allocation/8609 – Additional Fee language 
• Page 52 (1:27:27) 

o Changes to Project or Application – Bulleted language moved to definition of 
substantial change and clarification of substantial change requirements and 
process 

• Page 53 (1:27:27) 
o Compliance Fees – Clarification -  Fees refers to Complete Annual Compliance 

Package not just the Owners Certification Form 
• Page 54 (1:28:00) 

o Ownership/Management Changes – implementing a fee if MBOH is not notified 
of changes 

• Page 55 (1:28:10) 
o Education Requirements – Training requirements must be met to maintain 

Qualified Management Company Status 
• Page 59 (1:28:22) 

o Deletion of Exhibits – Change to Forms available on the website 

Chairman Crowley asked for any additional comments from the Board. (1:28:50) 
Jeanette McKee provided comment 

Chairman Crowley asked for any additional comments from the public. (1:30:30) 
Kevin Thane, Heather McMilin and Andrea Davis provided comment.  

Chariman Crowley restated the original motion to approve the 2017 Qualified 
Allocation Plan with suggested Staff’s amendments, which included approved 
Board amendments, to be placed for public comment.  A roll call vote was taken 
(1:36:47): 

Doug Kaercher: Yes 
Jeanette McKee: Yes 
Pat Melby:  Yes 
Sheila Rice:  Yes 
J.P. Crowley:  Yes 

The 2017 Qualified Allocation Plan was approved unanimously for public comment 
placement.   Bruce Brensdal stated the Public Comment Hearing will be on February 17, 
2016 and the public comment deadline is March 11, 2016 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR UPDATE 
Meeting adjourned at 10:46 a.m.  (1:39:05)  

 
 
______________________ 
Sheila Rice, Secretary  

______________ 
Date 

8



ATTACHMENT I 

 
 

MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 
 

HOUSING CREDIT PROGRAM 
 

20176 QUALIFIED ALLOCATION PLAN (QAP) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 
PO BOX 200528 

HELENA, MONTANA  59620-0528 
(406) 841-2840 

(406) 841-2841 FAX

9



ATTACHMENT I 

 
i 

 

Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................... 1 
SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS .......................................................................................... 2 
SECTION 2 - OVERVIEW OF HOUSING CREDITS ............................................................. 8 

New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation ........................................................... 9 

Acquisition and Substantial Rehabilitation................................................................. 10 

Eventual Home Ownership ..................................................................................... 10 

Federally Subsidized Buildings ................................................................................ 10 

Qualifying Buildings ............................................................................................... 10 

Election................................................................................................................ 10 

Rent Limitation ...................................................................................................... 10 
Tenant paid rent + Utility Allowance + Mandatory Fees equals the Gross Rent .............. 11 
Basis ................................................................................................................... 11 

Eligible Basis ......................................................................................................... 11 
Qualified Basis ....................................................................................................... 11 
Credit Calculations ................................................................................................ 11 

Allocation of Credit ................................................................................................ 11 

Need for Allocation ................................................................................................. 11 
Allocation Applies Throughout Credit Period .............................................................. 11 
Time for Obtaining Allocation – Carryover Provision ................................................... 12 
Carryover Provision ................................................................................................ 12 
Compliance Period ................................................................................................. 12 

SECTION 3 - MONTANA SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS ....................................................... 12 
Eligible Applicants ................................................................................................. 12 

Tax Credit Proceeds ............................................................. 13Housing Credit Proceeds
 .......................................................................................................................... 13 

Development Cost Limitations ................................................................................. 13 

Cost Per Units/Cost per Square Foot ........................................................................ 13 

Contractor’s Overhead ........................................................................................... 14 

General Requirements ........................................................................................... 14 

Contractor Profit ................................................................................................... 14 

Developer Fees ...................................................................................................... 14 
Disclosure of Transactions Involving Related Parties ................................................... 15 
Underwriting Assumptions and Limitations ............................................................... 15 

Operating Expenses ............................................................................................... 15 
Debt Coverage Ratio .............................................................................................. 15 
Operating Reserves ................................................................................................ 16 
Replacement Reserves ........................................................................................... 16 

10



ATTACHMENT I 

 
ii 

 

Utility Allowances................................................................................................... 16 
Project Accessibility Requirements ........................................................................... 17 

Energy and Green Building Initiatives, Goals and Requirements .................................. 17 

Integrated Design Process and Community Connectivity ............................................. 17 
Sustainable Site, Location and Design ...................................................................... 17 
Energy and Water Conservation ............................................................................... 18 
Material and Resource Efficiency .............................................................................. 18 
Healthy Living Environments (Indoor Environmental Quality) ...................................... 18 
Substantial Rehabilitation ....................................................................................... 19 

Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects ........................................................................ 19 

Eventual Homeownership ....................................................................................... 19 

130% Basis Boost ................................................................................................. 20 

Basis Boost for QCT and DDA Projects ...................................................................... 20 
Basis Boost for Non-QCT/DDA Projects ..................................................................... 20 
Non-Housing Amenities .......................................................................................... 20 

Accountant and Owner Certification ......................................................................... 21 

Rural Development Projects .................................................................................... 21 

Information Request and Release Policy ................................................................... 21 

General Program Information .................................................................................. 21 
Request Procedure ................................................................................................. 21 
Policy on Confidentiality and Disclosure of Information ............................................... 21 

Compliance File Policy ............................................................................................ 22 

Individual Loan Files .............................................................................................. 23 

Ex Parte Communication Policy ............................................................................... 23 

SECTION 4 - APPLICATION CYCLE .............................................................................. 24 
First Allocation Round: ........................................................................................... 24 

Second Allocation Round (if any): ........................................................................... 24 

Carryover Commitment .......................................................................................... 26 

SECTION 5 - FEE SCHEDULE ...................................................................................... 26 
Letter of Intent ..................................................................................................... 26 

Application ........................................................................................................... 27 

Requesting Additional Credits After Initial Allocation .................................................. 27 

Compliance Fees ................................................................................................... 27 

SECTION 6 - MAXIMUM AWARDS ............................................................................... 27 
SECTION 7 – SET ASIDES ......................................................................................... 28 

Non-profit ............................................................................................................ 28 

Corrective Award .................................................................................................. 28 

11



ATTACHMENT I 

 
iii 

 

Small Rural Projects .............................................................................................. 29 

SECTION 8 – LETTER OF INTENT AND APPLICATION PROCESS ...................................... 29 
Letter of Intent ..................................................................................................... 30 

Application ........................................................................................................... 30 

Threshold Requirements Are Mandatory ................................................................... 30 

Threshold Requirements ........................................................................................ 31 

SECTION 9 – EVALUATION AND AWARD ..................................................................... 34 
Threshold Evaluation and Considerations.................................................................. 34 

Amount of Tax Housing Credit Allocation .................................................................. 35 

Development Evaluation Criteria and Scoring ............................................................ 36 

1. Extended Low Income Use* (0-100 points) ........................................................ 36 
2. Lower Income Tenants* (0-220 points).............................................................. 37 
3. Project Location* (0-100 points) ....................................................................... 37 
4. Housing Needs Characteristics* (0-190 points) ................................................... 38 
5. Project Characteristics* (0-240 points) .............................................................. 39 
Preservation of Affordable Housing Projects* (0-20 points) ......................................... 39 
6. Development Team Characteristics* (0-110 points) ............................................. 41 
7. Participation of Local Entity (0-50 points) ........................................................... 42 
8. Tenant Populations with Special Housing Needs* (0-100 points) ........................... 43 
9. Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness (Up to minus (-) 400 points) ................ 43 

SECTION 10 – RESERVATION, CARRYOVER AND FINAL ALLOCATION .............................. 47 
Reservation Agreement .......................................................................................... 47 

Gross Rent Floor Election ....................................................................................... 48 

Declaration of Restrictive Covenants ........................................................................ 48 

Carryover Commitment .......................................................................................... 49 

10% Test ............................................................................................................. 49 

Placed in Service ................................................................................................... 49 

Final Allocations/8609 ............................................................................................ 50 

SECTION 11 - DEVELOPER/APPLICANT RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................ 50 
State Law Requirements ........................................................................................ 51 

Public Notification .................................................................................................. 51 

Quarterly Status Reporting ..................................................................................... 51 

Changes to Project or Application ............................................................................ 52 

SECTION 12 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING................................................................... 52 
Compliance Fees ................................................................................................... 53 

Recordkeeping, Record Retention and Data Collection ................................................ 53 

Recordkeeping ...................................................................................................... 53 
Records Retention .................................................................................................. 54 

12



ATTACHMENT I 

 
iv 

 

Data Collection ..................................................................................................... 54 

Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance ............................................... 54 

Annual Operating Expense Information .................................................................... 45 

Submission Deadlines ............................................................................................ 54 

Review by MBOH staff ............................................................................................ 54 

Ownership/Management Changes ........................................................................... 54 

Education Requirements ........................................................................................ 55 

Tenant Income Certifications (TIC) .......................................................................... 56 

Frequency and Form .............................................................................................. 56 
Student Status Certification .................................................................................... 56 

On-Site Inspections ............................................................................................... 56 

Notice To Owner (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(2)) ..................................................................... 56 

Correction Period (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(4)) .................................................................... 57 

Notice To IRS (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(3)) ......................................................................... 57 

Liability (26 CFR 1.42 (g)) ...................................................................................... 57 

Marketing the Project ............................................................................................ 57 

SECTION 13 – DISCLAIMER ....................................................................................... 57 
MBOH Policy on Non-Discrimination ......................................................................... 57 

Qualified Allocation Plan Revisions ........................................................................... 58 

MBOH Policy on Civil Rights Compliance ................................................................... 58 

Exhibits ................................................................................................................... 59 
Exhibit A .............................................................................................................. 59 

Exhibit B .............................................................................................................. 59 

Exhibit C .............................................................................................................. 59 

Exhibit D-1 ........................................................................................................... 59 

Exhibit D-2 ........................................................................................................... 59 

Exhibit E .............................................................................................................. 59 

Exhibit F .............................................................................................................. 59 

Exhibit G .............................................................................................................. 59 

Exhibit H .............................................................................................................. 59 

All Exhibits Forms are located on the website at:               Montana Department of 
Commerce – 2017 QAP Forms 

13

http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP
http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP


ATTACHMENT I 

 
1 

 

INTRODUCTION  
The low income housing tax credit is established under Section 42 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986.  The credit is a federal income tax credit for Owners of qualifying rental 
housing which meets certain low income occupancy and rent limitation requirements. 

Congress established the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program by enactment of the Tax 
Reform Act of 1986.  Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) implemented and began 
administering the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program in 1987 in the State of Montana.  
Since then, the program has assisted in providing for the retention, rehabilitation, and 
construction of rental housing for low income individuals and families for over 6,000 units 
throughout Montana.  

The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1989 required the appropriate administering 
agencies (in this case, MBOH) to allocate credits pursuant to a Qualified Allocation Plan 
(QAP) which sets forth the priorities, considerations, criteria and process for making 
Allocations to Projects in Montana.  The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 provided 
a permanent extension for the Low Income Housing Tax Credit.  

Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) is the state agency that allocates the tax credits for 
housing located in Montana.  The per state resident amount of tax credit allocated annually 
for housing is limited to $2.30 with a minimum cap as allocated by IRS, whichever is larger.  
The current allocation of Tax Credits plus any inflation factor the IRS may calculate is posted 
to the MBOH website, normally in August or September each year.  Montana receives the 
minimum cap because of its population. 

An Owner must obtain a credit Final Allocation from MBOH and meet all other applicable 
requirements before claiming the tax credit.  

This QAP is intended to ensure the selection of those developments which best meet the 
most pressing housing needs of low income people within the State of Montana in 
accordance with the guidelines and requirements established by the federal government and 
the requirements, considerations, factors, limitations, criteria and priorities established by 
the MBOH Board. 

At its February 8, 2016November 17, 2014 meeting, the MBOH Board considered and 
approved public notice and distribution of the proposed 20176 Qualified Allocation Plan 
(QAP).  Public notice of the proposed 20176 QAP and the opportunity for public comment 
was published and distributed on February 8, 2016November 17, 2014 with oral comments 
received at a public hearing February 17, 2016December 16, 2014.  At its March 14, 
2016January 9, 2015 meeting, after considering written and oral public comment on the 
proposed 20176 QAP, the MBOH Board approved the proposed 20176 QAP for submission to 
and approval by the Montana Governor.  The Governor of Montana, Steve Bullock, approved 
the plan as the final 20176 QAP on __January 16, 2015. 

MBOH annually makes available for reservation and Allocation its authorized volume cap of 
credit authority subject to the provisions of this QAP.  Montana’s Qualified Allocation Plan for 
the current and prior years, along with current Forms, are available 
athttp://housing.mt.gov/About/MF/lihtcallocation.mcpx  http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP. 
MBOH evaluates tax credit Applications, selects the Projects for which tax credits will be 
reserved, and allocates credits to the selected developments meeting applicable 
requirements.  Federal legislation requires that the administering agency allocate only the 
amount of credit it determines necessary to the financial feasibility of the development. 

Tax credits not Awarded during a given round or any unused credits from earlier rounds 
may, at the discretion of MBOH, be carried forward for the next round of allocation or, as 

14



ATTACHMENT I 

 
2 

 

MBOH determines necessary for financial feasibility, be used to increase the amount of tax 
credits Awarded for a Project selected for an Award of tax credits in a prior round. 

Consistent with the foregoing and notwithstanding any other provision of this QAP, all tax 
credit Awards, Reservations, Carryovers Allocations and Final Allocations are subject to and 
conditional upon IRS authorization and allocation of tax credits for the State of Montana. 

 
SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS 
As used in this QAP, the following definitions apply unless the context clearly requires a 
different meaning: 

“4% Credits” means HCs that may be Awarded in accordance with the applicable QAP 
to Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
and outside the competitive allocation process applicable to 9% Credits. 

“9% Credits” means HCs that may be Awarded through the competitive process in 
accordance with the applicable QAP.  

“10% Carryover Cost Certification” means the certification that must be provided to 
MBOH using the MBOH 10% Carryover Cost Certification Formsforms provided and including 
the items specified in Exhibit C to this QAP  with respect to a Carryover Allocation.   

“Absorption Rate” means the number of months projected in the Application’s market 
study for a Project to become fully leased. 

“Acquisition” means obtaining title, lease or other Land and Propertylegal Ccontrol 
over a property for purposes of an HC Project.  Acquisition includes purchase, lease, 
donation or other means of obtaining Land and Property Control. 

“Acquisition/Rehab” means Acquisition of a property with one or more existing 
buildings and renovation meeting Montana’s minimum Rehabilitation standard set forth in 
Section 3, Substantial Rehabilitation, forof one or more existing buildings on the property as 
that are part of an HC Project.   

“Allocation” means an Initial Allocation, Carryover Allocation or a Final Allocation. 

“Applicable QAP” means: (a) for purposes of any substantive issues relating to an 
Award, or to the Development Evaluation Criteria, Scoring, Selection Criteria or Selection 
Standard for such Award, the particular year’s QAP under which the Application is or was 
submitted, evaluated and Awarded HCs; or (b) for purposes of Project changes, 
Reservation, Carryover, Carryover AllocationCommitment, Final Allocation, compliance 
requirements, compliance audits, and any post-Award procedures, the QAP most recently 
adopted. 

“Applicant” means the entity identified as such in the Application, and who is and will 
remain responsible to MBOH for the Application.  When used in reference to a Letter of 
Intent, the term means the person or entity on whose behalf the Letter of Intent is 
submitted and who is and will remain responsible to MBOH for the Letter of Intent.   

“Application” means a request for an Award of HCs submitted in the form specified 
by and according to the requirements of this QAP. 

“Architect” means a professional licensed by the applicable state authority as a 
building architect. 

“Available Annual Credit Allocation” is defined as and includes the state’s actual or 
estimated credit ceiling for the current year plus any other available credits from prior year 

15



ATTACHMENT I 

 
3 

 

credit authority determined as of 20 business days prior to the applicable Application 
deadline, and includes any credits held back pursuant to court order or subject to Award 
under the Corrective Award set aside. 

“Award” means selection of a Project by the MBOH Board to receive a Reservation of 
HCs. 

“Award Determination Meeting” means the meeting of the MBOH Board at which the 
Board selects one or more Applicants to receive an Award. 

“Carryover” means the process and determination of MBOH by which Awarded and 
reserved HCs are continued and carried into the second year after Award of the HCs by 
MBOH issuance of a Carryover Commitment Allocation, according to the specific 
requirements of this QAP.  

“Carryover AllocationCommitment” means a conditional allocation Carryover of HCs 
based upon an MBOH Carryover determination, which allocation commitment is conditional 
upon the Applicant performing all conditions and requirements for Final Allocation as set 
forth in the Applicable QAP, the Carryover Allocation Commitment document issued by 
MBOH and applicable law. 

“Cold Weather Development and Construction” means experience of the HC 
Developer or Consultant on one or more Projects located above the 40 degrees north 
parallel. 

“Commercial Purposes” means use of any Project Amenities, common space or other 
Project property or facilities by others than tenants for which the Project owner or 
management receives any compensation for such use, whether in cash or in kind. 

“Common Area” means any space in the building(s) on the Project property that is 
not in the units, i.e. hallways, stairways, community rooms, laundry rooms, 
garages/carports, etc.  Common area is eligible to be paid for with housing credits. 

“Compliance Period” means, with respect to any building, the initial period of 15 
taxable years beginning with the 1st taxable year of the applicable credit period as provided 
in 26 U.S.C. § 42. 

“Consultant” or “HC Consultant” means an individual or entity advising a Developer 
or Owner with respect to the HC Application and/or development process. 

 “Contractor’s Overhead” means the contractor’s overhead shown in the Applicant’s 
properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements. 

“Contractor Profit” means the contractor’s profit shown in the Applicant’s properly 
completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements.  

“Cost Per Square Foot” means Hard CostsTotal Project Costs divided by Project 
Square Footage shown in the Applicant’s properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, 
Cost Limitations and Requirements. 

“Cost Per Unit” means an amount calculated by dividing Hard CostsTotal Project 
Costs by the number of units in the Project, as calculated in the UniApp Supplement, 
Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements, Part XI, line “Cost Per Unit.” 

“Debt Coverage Ratio” or “DCR” means the ratio of a Project’s net operating income 
(rental income less Operating Expenses and reserve payments) to foreclosable, currently 
amortizing debt service obligations.  

“Design Professional” means a housing/building design professional.  

16



ATTACHMENT I 

 
4 

 

“Developer” means the individual(s) and/or entity(ies) specifically listed and 
identified as the developer in the Uniform Application, Section A - Applicant 
Developer/Sponsor, responsible for development, construction and completion of an HC 
Project. 

“Developer Fee” means those costs included by the Applicant in the UniApp, adjusted 
as necessary to comply with the maximum Developer’s fee specified in Section 3, Additional 
Cost Limitations, Developer Fees, which are included as Developer’s fees by the Cost 
Analysis. 

“Development Evaluation Criteria” means the evaluation and scoring criteria set forth 
in QAP Section 9, Evaluation and Award. 

“Development Team” means and includes the Applicant, Owner, Developer, General 
Partner, Qualified Management Company, and HC Consultant identified as such in the 
Application. 

“Difficult Development Areas” or “DDA” means an area designated by HUD as a 
Difficult Development Area. 

“Disqualify” or “Disqualification” means, with respect to an Application, that the 
Application is returned to the Applicant by MBOH without scoring and without consideration 
for an Award of HCs, as authorized or required by this QAP.   

“Elderly Property” means a Project that will limit its tenants to households that 
include at least one individual age 55 or older or in which all household members are age 62 
or older.  If permitted by the rules applicable to other federal funding sources involved in 
the Project, households may also include disabled individuals below the specified age 
thresholds. 

 “Experienced Developer” means a Developer who was entitled by written agreement 
to receive at least 50% of the Development Fees on a prior low-income housing tax credit 
Project that has achieved 100% qualified occupancy and for which the applicable state 
housing finance agency has conducted a compliance audit which revealed no significant 
problems. 

“Experienced Partner” means a member of the Development Team who was a 
member of the Development Team on a prior low-income housing tax credit Project that has 
achieved 100% qualified occupancy and for which the applicable state housing finance 
agency has conducted a compliance audit which revealed no significant problems. 

“Extended Use Period” means the Compliance Period plus an additional period of 15 
or more years as specified in the Application and provided for in the Restrictive Covenants.   

“Final Allocation” means, with respect to HCs, MBOH issuance of an IRS Form 
8609(s) (Low Income Housing Credit Allocation Certificate) for a Project after building 
construction or Rehabilitation has been completed according to the Project Application and 
any MBOH Board-approved changes and the building has been placed in service. 

“Final Cost Certification” means an independent third party CPA cost certification, 
including a statement of eligible and qualified basis for the Project, submitted to MBOH on 
the form specified by and in accordance with the requirements of this QAP, for purposes of 
obtaining IRS Form 8609(s). 

“Form” means the most current version of any Form referenced in this QAP, which 
Forms are available on the MBOH website at [URL].   

“General Partner” means the general partner of a partnership entity that is formed 
for purposes of a Project.   

17



ATTACHMENT I 

 
5 

 

“General Requirements” means the contractor's miscellaneous administrative and 
procedural activities and expenses that do not fall into a major-function construction 
category and are Project-specific and therefore not part of the contractor's general 
overhead, categorized in accordance with NCSHA standards and shown in the Applicant’s 
properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Limitations and Requirements. 

“Gut Rehab” means a Project that includes the replacement and/or improvement of 
all major systems of the building, including (i) removing walls/ceilings back to the 
studs/rafters and replacing them; (ii) removing/replacing trim, windows, doors, exterior 
siding and roof; (iii) replacing HVAC, plumbing and electrical systems; and (iv) replacing 
and/or improving the building envelope (i.e., the air barrier and thermal barrier separating 
exterior from interior space) by either removing materials down to the studs or structural 
masonry on one side of the exterior walls and subsequently improving the building envelope 
to meet the whole-building energy performance levels for the project type, or creating a 
new thermal and air barrier around the building. 

“Hard Costs” means and includes all costs other than Soft Costs, land Acquisition 
costs and operating and replacement reserve costs included by the Applicant in the UniApp, 
which are not included as professional work and fees, interim costs, financing fees and 
expenses, syndication costs and Developer’s fees.  Hard Costs include any building 
Acquisition costs. 

“Housing Credits” or “HCs” or “Credits” means federal low-income housing tax credits 
allocated or available for allocation under this Montana QAP. 

“Initial Allocation” means the conditional setting aside by MBOH of HCs from a 
particular year’s federal LIHTC allocation to the state for purposes of later Carryover 
CommitmentAllocation and/or Final Allocation to a particular Project, as documented by and 
subject to the requirements and conditions set forth in a written Reservation Agreement, 
the Applicable QAP and federal law. 

 “Investor” means an entity that will directly or indirectly purchase HCs from the 
awardee.  

 “Land or Property Control” means legally binding documentation of title or right to 
possession and use of the property, or the right to acquire title or right to possession and 
use of the property, for purposes the Project, including but not limited to documentation of 
fee ownershipan executed, lease, buy/sell agreement, option to purchase or written 
agreement to lease, or other right, title or interest that will allow the Owner to acquire Proof 
of Ownership for purposes of Carryover. 

“Large Project” means, for purposes of the Soft Cost Ratio, a Project with more than 
24 low-income units. 

 “Letter of Intent” means a letter and attachment submitted to MBOH onin the MBOH 
Letter of Intent Formform shown in Exhibit D. 

“Low-Income Housing Tax Credits” means federal low-income housing tax credits, 
referred to in this QAP as HCs. 

“Housing Credits” or “HCs” means federal low-income housing tax credits allocated 
or available for allocation under this Montana QAP. 

“Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company” means a company 
recognized in the Low Income Housing Tax Credit industry as a qualified Low Income 
Housing Tax Credit compliance trainer.  

“NCSHA” means the National Council of State Housing Agencies.  

18

http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/stud
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/rafter
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/trim
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/window
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/doors
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/siding
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/roof
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/plumbing
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/electrical
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/system


ATTACHMENT I 

 
6 

 

“New Construction” means construction of one or more new buildings, and includes 
Gut Rehabs.   

“Operating Expenses” means projected ongoing costs to run or operate a property. 

“Owner” means the legal entity that owns the Project.  

“Preservation” means Projects that are for the Acquisition and/or Rehabilitation of 
existing affordable housing stock. 

“Project” means the low income residential rental building, or buildings, that are the 
subject of an Application for or an Award of HCs.  

“Project Square Footage” means such portion of the total square feet applicable to 
low-income units and common areas and used for the applicable square footage calculation 
in the UniApp under Part X, “Project Uses.”  Project Square Footage includes all building 
square footage available to or serving tenants, including units, management unit(s) and 
offices, common space, balconies, patios, storage and parking structures.  

“Proof of Ownership” means title or right to possession and use of the property for 
the duration of the Compliance Period and any Extended Use Period plus one year, e.g., a 
recorded deed or an executed lease agreement. 

“Qualified Allocation Plan” or “QAP” means this Montana qualified allocation plan 
required by Section 42 of the Code.   

“Qualified Census Tract” or “QCT” means an area designated as such by HUD. 

“Qualified Management Company” means a Management Company that meets the 
education requirements specified in Section 12, Education Requirements, and is not 
disqualified by MBOH to serve as a Management Company on existing, new or additional tax 
credit Properties or Projects, based upon the company’s: (i) failure to complete timely any 
required training; (ii) failure to have or maintain any required certification; or (iii) record of 
noncompliance, or lack of cooperation in correcting or refusal to correct noncompliance, on 
or with respect to any tax credit or other publicly subsidized low-income housing property; 
or (iv) delinquent MBOH late fees (unless the management company demonstrates to the 
satisfaction of MBOH that such noncompliance or lack of cooperation was beyond such 
company’s control). 

“Qualified Nonprofit Organization” means, with respect to a Project, an organization 
exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c) (3) or (4) of the Internal Revenue 
Code, which is not and during the Compliance Period will not be affiliated with or controlled 
by a for-profit organization, whose exempt purposes include the fostering of low income 
housing, which owns an interest in the Project, which will materially participate in the 
development and operation of the Project throughout the Compliance Period, and which is 
not affiliated with or controlled by a for-profit organization. 

“Rehabilitation,” “Rehab” or “Substantial Rehabilitation” means renovation of a 
building or buildings to house HC units meeting the required minimum Cost Per Unit 
thresholds specified in Section 3, Substantial Rehabilitation of this QAP. 

“Related Party” means an individual or entity whose financial, family or business 
relationship to the individual or entity in question permit significant influence over the other 
to an extent that one or more parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests.  Related parties include but are not limited to: (1) family members 
(sibling, spouse, domestic partner, ancestor or lineal descendant); (2) a subsidiary, parent 
or other entity that owns or is owned by the individual or entity; (3) an entity with common 
control or ownership (e.g., common officers, directors, or shareholders or officers or 
directors who are family members of each other); (4) an entity owned or controlled through 

19



ATTACHMENT I 

 
7 

 

ownership or control of at least a 50% interest by an individual (the interest of the 
individual and individual’s family members are aggregated for such purposes) or the entity 
(the interest of the entity, its principals and management are aggregated for such 
purposes); and (5) an individual or entity who has been a Related Party in the last year or 
who is likely to become a Related Party in the next year. 

“Reservation” means MBOH’s Initial Allocation of HCs from a particular year’s federal 
LIHTC allocation to the state for purposes of later Carryover Allocation Commitment and/or 
Final Allocation to a particular Project, as documented by and subject to the requirements 
and conditions set forth in a written Reservation Agreement, the Applicable QAP and federal 
law.    

“Reservation Agreement” means a written contract entered into between MBOH and 
the taxpayer to provide for a Reservation and setting forth the terms and conditions under 
which the taxpayer may obtain a Carryover Allocation Commitment or Final Allocation.   

“Restrictive Covenants” means the recorded covenants required by Section 42 of the 
Code.  

“Selection Criteria” means and includes all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides and priorities set forth in 
this QAP and all federal requirements. 

“Selection Standard” means the standard for selection of Projects to receive an 
Award of HCs set forth in the Award Determination subsection of Section 9, Evaluation and 
Award, i.e., the MBOH Board’s determination that one or more Projects best meet the most 
pressing housing needs of low income people within the state of Montana as more 
specifically set forth in such subsection.  

“Small Project” means, for purposes of the Soft Cost Ratio, a Project with 2420 or 
fewer low-income units. 

“Small Rural Project” means, for purposes of the Small Rural Project set aside, a 
Project: (1) for which the submitted tax credit Application requests tax credits in an amount 
up to but no more than 10% of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation; (2) is a 
Project with 20 or fewer low-income units, and (23) proposed to be developed and 
constructed in a location that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great 
Falls, Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula.  

 “Soft Costs” means the costs of professional work and fees, interim costs, financing 
fees and expenses, syndication costs and Developer’s fees included by the Applicant in the 
UniApp. Soft Costs do not include operating or replacement reserves. 

“Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio” or “Soft Cost Ratio” means total Soft Costs divided by 
the sum of total Hard Costs (as calculated in the UniApp) and land value (as shown by a 
comparative market analysis or appraisal).  Land value is added regardless of whether land 
is donated, leased, purchased or otherwise acquired. 

“Sources and Uses” means the sources and uses of funds as specified in the 
Application. 

“Substantial Change” means a substantial change in the Project from the Project as 
set forth in the Application, and includes a change in or to:  

• A member of the Development Team; 
• Participating local entity; 
• Quality or durability of construction; 
• Number of units or unit composition; 
• Site or floor plan; 

20



ATTACHMENT I 

 
8 

 

• Square footage of Project building(s); 
• Project amenities; 
• Income or rent targeting; 
• Rental subsidies; 
• Target group; 
• Project location; 
• Sources and Uses (to the extent any line item changes by 10% or more); 
• Common Space square footage, location or purposes; 
• Housing Credits required for the Project; 
• Extended Use Period; 
• Any Application item or information required by the Applicable QAP; 
• Any item that would have resulted in a lower Development Evaluation Criteria 

Score under the Applicable QAP; and 
• Any other significant feature, characteristic or aspect of the Project.   

  

“Total Project Cost” or “Total Development Cost” mean all costs including building, 
Acquisition, site work, construction and Rehab, professional work & fees, 
construction/interim fees, permanent financing fees, Soft Costs, syndication costs, 
Developer Fees and Project reserves, as shown in UniApp Section C, Part II, Uses of Funds 
line “Total Projects Costs without Grant Admin”.  Total Project Cost does not include grant 
administration costs. 

“UniApp” means the most current Uniform Application and Supplement available on 
the MBOH website at: http://housing.mt.gov/FAR/housingapps.mcpx. 

“UniApp Supplement” means the Supplement portion of the UniApp. 

“Vacancy Rate” means percentage of vacant units in the Application’s market area or 
in the property. 

 
SECTION 2 - OVERVIEW OF MBOH HOUSING CREDITS 
THE FOLLOWING IS A BRIEF SUMMARY OF SOME ELEMENTS OF THE HOUSING CREDIT AND 
IS PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.  THERE ARE NUMEROUS TECHNICAL 
RULES GOVERNING A BUILDING'S QUALIFICATION FOR THE HOUSING CREDIT, THE 
AMOUNT OF THE HOUSING CREDIT, AND AN OWNER'S ABILITY TO USE THE HOUSING 
CREDIT TO OFFSET FEDERAL INCOME TAXES.  ANYONE CONSIDERING APPLYING FOR 
HOUSING CREDITS SHOULD REFER, IN ADDITION TO THIS QAP, TO SECTION 42 OF THE 
UNITED STATES INTERNAL REVENUE CODE (26 U.S.C. § 42).  DEVELOPERS OR OWNERS 
INTERESTED IN APPLYING FOR A CREDIT ALLOCATION SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX 
ACCOUNTANT OR ATTORNEY IN PLANNING A SPECIFIC TRANSACTION.   

Low Income Housing Tax Credits, referred to in this QAP as Housing Credits or HCs, are 
Awarded by the State of Montana through MBOH to applicants based on the information 
submitted in or in connection with applicationsApplications, other information obtained by 
MBOH staff as provided in this QAP and justification with support documentation supplied by 
the Aapplicants.  At or before the time an Application is made, the Applicant must solicit an 
Investor who will purchase the tax credits, if Awarded. 

The Hhousing Ccredits are Awarded each year for a ten-year period.  Hypothetically, a 
Project Awarded $100,000 in tax Housing Ccredits is essentially Awarded $1,000,000 
($100,000 X 10 years) for the ten-year period.  When an Investor purchases the Ccredits, 
the money from the purchase is infused into the financing for the building of the Project.  
The Investor purchases the Hhousing Ccredits, for example, $ .75 on the dollar ($100,000 X 

21

http://housing.mt.gov/FAR/housingapps.mcpx


ATTACHMENT I 

 
9 

 

$.75 X 10 years) equating to $750,000.  Typically, the Investor pays at a range of $ .70 to 
$.90 on the dollar.  This money directly reduces the amount of dollars financed in a Project, 
thereby reducing the rents that must be charged to tenants as well as assuring that the 
Project cash flows.   

The Investor, through a limited liability partnership (LLP) or a limited partnership (LP), must 
be a 99.99% Owner of the Project for fifteen years during which the Investor declares 
$100,000 each year for ten years as credit on the Investor’s income tax.  Generally, once 
fifteen years have passed, the Project is sold back to the General Partner (the .01% 
partner) for a negotiated amount and the ownership is transferred. 

Throughout the Hhousing Ccredit Extended Use Period, the Project must comply with the 
requirements of housing credit administration as set forth in the current QAP and 26 U.S.C. 
§ 42.  Periodic file audits and inspection of units will be performed by MBOH staff. 

The Hhousing Ccredit is available for residential rental buildings which are part of a 
qualifying low income Project.  The rental units must be available to the general public.  
Residential properties which are ineligible for the Ccredit generally include transient 
housing, housing initially leased for less than six (6) months, buildings of four (4) units or 
less which are occupied by the Owner or a relative of the Owner, nursing homes, life care 
facilities, retirement homes providing significant services other than housing, dormitories, 
and trailer parks. 

Projects with tax-exempt financing under the Montana’s volume limitation for private 
activity bonds may be eligible to receive Hhousing Ccredits outside the state’s Hhousing 
Ccredit allocation volume cap.   See specific requirements in Section 3, Montana Specific 
Requirements, Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects discussion in Section 3, Montana Specific 
Requirements, below.  

The Hhousing Ccredit can be used to assist in financing Acquisition with Ssubstantial 
Rehabilitation, Ssubstantial Rehabilitation, construction of qualifying residential rental, or 
eventual homeownership housing.  The applicable percentage rate (APR) for each Project 
will depend upon the type of building and its financing, the floating APR or other APR set by 
the federal government, and the Project’s election of the APR.  As long as the building 
continues to qualify for the Ccredit, the Owner may claim the Ccredit each year during the 
10-year credit period. 

New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation 
New Construction and Rehabilitation Pprojects using competitive Ccredits will qualify for the 
floating monthly tax credit rate (commonly referred to as the 9% rate) or another 
percentage rate permitted by federal law.  The applicable tax credit rate is elected by the 
taxpayer and locked at Reservation/Initial Allocation or at placed in service, as specified in 
the Reservation Agreement. .  If an Owner Ssubstantially Rrehabilitates a building (basically 
by incurring Rrehabilitation expenditures in an amount that equals or exceeds the greater 
of: either (a) the federal minimum of $6,200 or the higher Montana-specific Substantial 
Rehabilitation minimum requirements Hard Costs per rental unit standard specified in 
Section 3, “Substantial Rehabilitation,” Hard Costs per rental unit or (b) an amount which is 
not less than 2030% of the adjusted basis of the building during a 24-month or shorter 
period), the Rehabilitation expenditure is treated as a separate new building for purposes of 
the Hhousing Ccredit. The “per unit” calculation is the total amount of Hard Costs for the 
Project divided by the number of units within the Project.  Because Montana’s Substantial 
Rehabilitation standard is higher than the deferralfederal minimum of $6,200.00 in Hard 
Costs and 20% of adjusted basis, Montana’s higher Substantial Rehabilitation standard 
applies. 

22



ATTACHMENT I 

 
10 

 

Acquisition and Substantial Rehabilitation 
For an existing building which is acquired and Substantially Rehabilitated, the tax Housing 
Ccredit will be approximately four (4) percent for qualified Acquisition costs and nine (9) 
percent for the qualified Substantial Rehabilitation costs, provided that the Rehabilitation is 
not federally subsidized. 

Eventual Home Ownership 
The opportunity for eEventual hHome oOwnership allows for Projects, with sufficient 
justification, to make units available to be purchased by the current tenants after 15 years 
of successful performance as an affordable rental. See Section 3, Eventual Home 
Ownershipspecific requirements for Montana below.  

Federally Subsidized Buildings 
Projects funded by tax exempt bonds are considered federally subsidized and qualify only 
for 4% of the qualified basis for New Construction, Acquisition, and Rehabilitation. Buildings 
directly or indirectly financed with below market federal loans are not considered federally 
subsidized.  Below market loans made to the Project from the proceeds of grants made 
under the HOME Investments Partnership Act or loans made to Projects through the Native 
American Housing Assistance and Self Determination Act of 1996 are no longer considered 
to be federal subsidy.  Section 8 rental “certificate” or “voucher” subsidy is not considered 
to be federal subsidy.   

Qualifying Buildings 
In order to qualify for the Hhousing Ccredit, an eligible building must be part of a qualifying 
low income Project.  A Project is a qualifying Project only if it meets one of the following 
requirements:   

At least 20% of its units are rent-restricted and rented to households with incomes at 50% 
or less of area median gross income, adjusted for family size (the "20-50 test”), or 

At least 40% of its units are rent-restricted and rented to households with income at 60% 
or less of area median income, adjusted for family size (the "40-60 test").  

Election 
The Owner must make an irrevocable election between the 20-50 test and the 40-60 test.  
Regardless of the election made, the credit is only allowed for the portion of the building 
dedicated to low income use (for example, if the Owner elects the 40/6040-60 test and a 
minimum of 40% of the units are low income, the Owner would qualify for Hhousing 
Ccredits on a minimum of 40% of the eligible basis as defined in this summary). 

Rent Limitation 

The gross rent for each Hhousing Ccredit unit may not exceed 30% of the applicable income 
ceiling (30% of 50% of median or 30% of 60% of median, as applicable, calculated based 
on the number of bedrooms in the unit, which is the “Maximum Rent”).  For purposes of the 
rent limitation, the gross rent is the sum of the rent amount payable by the tenant, a utility 
allowance amount determined in accordance with this QAP (see Section 3, “Utility 
Allowances” in Underwriting Assumptions and Limitations, “Utility Allowances” in Section 3 
below) and any mandatory fees payable by the tenant.  Rental assistance payments made 
by government agencies such as Section 8, Rural Development, or any comparable rental 
assistance program are not included in gross rent.  Gross rent does not include any fee for 
supportive services as described in 26 U.S.C. §42(g)(2)(B)(iii).  Gross Rent is expressed as 
follows: 

23



ATTACHMENT I 

 
11 

 

Tenant paid rent + Utility Allowance + Mandatory Fees equals the Gross Rent 

The Gross Rent must be less than or equal to the Maximum Rent (i.e., 30% of the 
applicable income ceiling). 

Basis 
Eligible Basis 

Eligible basis of a qualifying building is generally the same as its adjusted basis for tax 
purposes, determined at the time the building is placed in service.  Generally, eligible basis 
consists of: 

• The cost of New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation; or 
• The cost of purchasing an existing building and the cost of Substantial Rehabilitation. 

Eligible basis includes costs of common areas and comparable amenities provided to all 
residential rental units in the building.  However, eligible basis must be reduced to reflect 
any Rehabilitation or historic preservation tax credit claimed with respect to the building.  
Eligible basis excludes land cost, costs attributable to any portion of the building which is 
not residential rental property (except common areas), and costs attributable to non-low 
income units which are above the average quality of the low income units in the Project. 
Cost certifications must list all items in basis (parking lot, paving, community areas, covers 
for parking, etc.). 

Qualified Basis 

To determine the qualified basis of a qualifying building, the taxpayer multiplies the eligible 
basis of the building by the lesser of the "unit percentage" or the "floor space percentage".  
The "unit percentage" is the number of low income units in the building expressed as a 
percentage of the number of all residential rental units in the building.  The "floor space 
percentage" is the total floor space of the low income units in the building expressed as a 
percentage of the total floor space of all residential rental units in the building. Low income 
units are eligible units which are occupied by qualified low income tenants (with income at 
or below 50% or 60% of area median gross income, depending on the Owner's election of 
the 20-50 or 40-60 test) and which comply with the gross rent limitation (30% of the 
applicable 50% or 60% income limit). The Ccredit is only allowed for the portion of the 
building dedicated to low income use.   

Credit Calculations 
To calculate the Ccredit each year, the taxpayer applies the applicable credit percentage to 
the qualified basis of a qualifying building.  The "qualified basis" is that portion of the 
"eligible basis" attributable to low income units in the building. 

Allocation of Credit 
Need for Allocation 

All Projects including Projects financed with tax-exempt bonds must first obtain a Final 
Allocation from MBOH before claiming the housing credit.  MBOH makes a Final Allocation by 
issuance of IRS Form 8609(s). 

Allocation Applies Throughout Credit Period 

An Owner needs to obtain a Final Allocation only once with respect to a building for which 
the Ccredit will be claimed.  The Final Allocation then applies each year during the 10-year 
Ccredit period.  Regardless of the maximum Ccredit otherwise available (based on applying 
the applicable credit percentage to the qualified basis), the Ccredit claimed each year for a 
building may not exceed the amount of the Final Allocation for that building. 

24



ATTACHMENT I 

 
12 

 

Time for Obtaining Allocation – Carryover Provision  Commitment   

An Owner who receives an Award of Ccredits must either: 

• Place the building in service and receive a Final Allocation by MBOH issuance of IRS 
Form 8609(s) by the close of the calendar year corresponding to the annual tax 
credit ceiling from which the Ccredits are allocated (e.g., by the close of calendar 
year 2016 2017 for 2016 2017 credits Awarded in January 20162017), or 

• Obtain a Carryover Allocation Commitment as provided below, and place the building 
in service and receive a Final Allocation by MBOH issuance of IRS Form 8609(s).  

 

Carryover Provision 

A Carryover of a housing credit Allocation will be permitted for a period of two (2) years 
beyond the end of the calendar year corresponding to the annual tax credit ceiling from 
which the Ccredits are allocated (e.g., by the close of calendar year 2018 2019 for 2016 
2017 credits Awarded in January 20162017); contingent upon meeting 10% requirements 
(see Section 1010% Test in Section 10 below for specific requirements). 

Compliance Period 
The Compliance Period is the initial period of 15 taxable years beginning with the 1st 
taxable year of the applicable credit period as provided in 26 U.S.C. § 42.  The Application 
must specify an additional period of 15 or more years in which the Applicant agrees to 
maintain units for low income occupancy.  The Compliance Period plus the additional 15 or 
more year period together are referred to as the Extended Use Period.  These restrictions 
will be included in the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants and will be effective for the 
entire Extended Use Period. 

An Owner must continue to meet the requirements of Section 42 for a Compliance Period of 
15 years.  Failure to comply, reducing the number of the HC units, or reducing floor space 
for which the Ccredit is based during the Compliance Period, may result in IRS recapture of 
tax Housing Ccredits, including non-deductible interest, of at least a portion of the tax 
Housing Ccredits taken previously by the Owner. 

To be eligible for HCs, a building must be subject to an extended low income housing 
commitment between the Owner and the state agency, which commitment must be 
established by recorded Restrictive Covenants effective for the full Extended Use Period.  
The Owner must meet compliance criteria for the full Extended Use Period specified in the 
Restrictive Covenants.  Any Application indicating an Extended Use Period beyond the 
Compliance Period forfeits the right to request that MBOH locate a non-profit qualified buyer 
and the Owner must maintain HC units through the Extended Use Period as provided in the 
Restrictive Covenants. 

Three-year tenant protection period 

HC rent requirements and restrictions will continue for a period of three years following the 
termination or expiration of the Extended Use Period.  The Owner cannot evict or terminate 
the tenancy of an existing tenant of any HC unit other than for good cause during the 
Extended Use Period or during the additional three-year tenant protection period.  

 

SECTION 3 - MONTANA SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS 
Eligible Applicants 

25



ATTACHMENT I 

 
13 

 

An Applicant who previously received an Award of Ccredits for its first tax Housing Ccredit 
Project in Montana may not receive an Award of Ccredits for another Tax Housing Credit 
Project until the first Project has achieved 100% qualified occupancy and an MBOH 
compliance audit has been conducted which revealed no significant problems.  For purposes 
of this rule, Applicants are considered to be the same Applicant if the Applicants are Related 
Parties or if the same Developer or a Related Party of the Developer will receive more than 
50% of the Development Fees for both Projects.  The foregoing rule does not apply to a 
subsequent tax Housing Ccredit Application if the Developer partners with an Experienced 
Developer who will be entitled under a written agreement to receive at least 50% of the 
Developer Fee on the subsequent Project.  The Applicant is not eligible to apply for Credits 
If anif the Applicant or any member of the Applicant’s Development Team is debarred from 
federal programs or FHLB (Federal Home Loan Bank), prohibited from applying for LIHTCs 
by another state HFA for disciplinary reasons, or has outstanding delinquent late fees due 
and payable to MBOH, the Applicant is not eligible to apply for credits.  If any member of 
the Development Team has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH at any time from 
submission of Letter of Intent through the Award Board meeting, the Application will be 
ineligible for an Award of Credits until such fees are paid in full.  If such late fees are not 
paid in full within ten (10) business days of written notice, the Application will be returned 
and will receive no further consideration.  Application fees will not be refunded. 

Tax Credit Proceeds 
In order to allow MBOH to adequately evaluate Sources and Uses for Housing Credit 
Projects, the Applicant is required to provide information to MBOH regarding the proceeds or 
receipts generated from the tax Housing Ccredit.   

At Application, expected Credit proceeds must be estimated by the Applicant.  Within 30 
days after the partnership or operating agreement is signed by all partiesequity 
sources are committed, the Applicant must provide MBOH with a copy of the 
commitment orexecuted agreement.  If MBOH does not receive a copy of the executed 
agreement within 30 days of execution, a late fee of $500.00 will be assessed. Prior to 
issuance of IRS Form 8609(s), MBOH will require the accountant's certification to include 
gross syndication proceeds and costs of syndication, even though the costs are not allowed 
for eligible basis. 

Sources and Uses Certification 
Applicants must certify that they have disclosed all of a Project’s funding Sources and Uses, 
as well as its total financing, and must disclose to MBOH in writing any future changes in 
Sources and Uses over 10% in any line item or any increase in Soft Costs throughout the 
development period (until 8609’s are received).  Applicant’s certification of such disclosure 
must be provided to MBOH at Application, at 10% Carryover Cost Certification and at Final 
Cost Certification on the MBOH Disclosure Certification Formform attached below as Exhibit 
C. 

Development Cost Limitations 
To balance housing needs in Montana with appropriate and efficient use of the state's 
allocation of tax credit authority, MBOH has adopted the following cost limitations and 
requirements for purposes of calculating the tax Housing Ccredit amount for a particular 
Project.  These cost limitations are based upon and in accordance with NCSHA standards. 

Cost Per Unit/Cost Per Square Foot 

Cost Per Unit and Cost Per Square Foot are subject to the specific limitations provided in 
other sections of this QAP.  In addition, MBOH will evaluate Cost Per Unit and Cost Per 

26



ATTACHMENT I 

 
14 

 

Square Foot for all Projects for reasonableness, taking into account the type of housing, 
other development costs as detailed below, unit sizes, the intended target group of the 
housing and other relevant factors.  MBOH will also consider in this review the area of the 
state and the community where the Project will be located in this review.   

All Applications must provide justification for development costs.  These costs will be 
analyzed and scrutinized considering the individual characteristics of the Project listed above 
and will be compared to other like Projects.   

Even though the costs of some Projects may be justifiable and even in some contexts 
considered reasonable given their unique characteristics, MBOH may decline to Award 
Ccredits to a Project where it determines that costs are unreasonablecosts do not reflect the 
optimal use of Housing Credits.  

Development cost analysis will be done on Total Development Costs, including land costs, 
whether or not any such costs are eligible for the credit financing.   

Cost Per Unit may not exceed $230,000175,000 per unit.  Applications exceeding this limit 
will be returned un-scored and will receive no further consideration, and the application fee 
will not be refunded.  Projects must meet this Cost Per Unit limit at Application, 10% 
Carryover Cost Certification and Final Cost Certification.  If the Cost Per Unit exceeds this 
Cost Per Unit limit at Final Cost Certification, negative points will be assessed with respect 
to future Applications as provided in Section 9, Item 9, Developer Knowledge and 
Responsiveness.  The revised $175,000_amount of the Cost Per Unit limit set forth in this 
2017 QAP and the negative points assessment provided in this paragraph will apply only 
prospectively to Projects awarded Credits in the 2017 or later Award rounds. 

 
Additional Cost Limitations 
Applications must comply with the following limitations on Contractor Overhead, General 
Requirements, Contractor Profit and Developer Fee.  To the extent an Application exceeds 
these cost limitations, as calculated in Uni-App Section C, Cost Limitations and 
Requirements, the excessive costs will be reduced to the limit amount for all purposes under 
the HC program, including without limitation, calculation of basis and eligible Project costs, 
determination of Ccredit eligibility, and any Award, Reservation or Allocation of Ccredits.  

Contractor’s Overhead   

Contractor’s Overhead is limited to a maximum of 2% of Construction Costs.   

General Requirements 

General Requirements are limited to a maximum of 6% of Total Construction Costs, 
excluding General Requirements.   

Contractor Profit 

Contractor Profit will be limited to a maximum of 6% of Construction Costs. 

Developer Fees  

Developer Fees for New Construction or Rehabilitation will be limited to a maximum of 15% 
of Total Project Costs.  For purposes of this Developer Fee limit, Total Project Costs do not 
include Developer Fees, Contractor Profit or land costs.  Consultant fees (amount must be 
disclosed) will be included as part of and subject to the limit on Developer Fees.  
Architectural, engineering, and legal fees are considered to be professional services, and are 
not included in this limitation; however, fees for professional services will be examined for 
reasonableness. 

27



ATTACHMENT I 

 
15 

 

Developer fees for Aacquisition will be limited to a maximum of 15% of the Project 
Acquisition costs.  

Disclosure of Transactions Involving Related Parties  

If the development includes transactions with Related Parties, any profit from those 
transactions must be subtracted from the Total Development Cost before calculating the 
15% maximum Developer Fee and 6% maximum Contractor Profit. Failure to fully disclose 
Related Party transactions may result in the Pproject’s not receiving an Award of tax 
Housing Ccredits.  MBOH reserves the right to negotiate lower Developer Fees and 
Contractor Profit on Projects involving Related Party transactions.  

Limitation on Soft Costs 
The Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio (“Soft Cost Ratio”) for the Project, based upon the 
Application’s UniApp, may not exceed 30% for Large Projects (more than 20 units) and 35% 
for Small Projects (20 or fewer units) or Small Rural Projects.  If the Soft Cost Ratio for a 
Project exceeds the applicable maximum, MBOH will contact the Applicant regarding the 
excessive costs and allow the Applicant to specify how and by what amount its Soft Costs 
will be reduced to comply with the maximum.  The Applicant must communicate its chosen 
Soft Costs adjustments to MBOH staff in writing within ten (10) business days after such 
communication and the Application will be deemed amended to reflect such adjustments for 
all purposes under the HC program.  All such Ssoft Ccost adjustments and the Application, 
as amended to reflect such adjustments, must comply with this QAP in all other respects.  If 
the Applicant fails to communicate its Ssoft Ccost adjustments to MBOH staff within the 
required time, MBOH staff will decide how and by what amount Soft Costs will be reduced to 
comply with the maximum and the Application will be deemed amended to reflect such 
adjustments for all purposes under the HC program.   

Underwriting Assumptions and Limitations 
Credit Percentage Rate for Tax Credit Calculation 

The credit percentage rate published by the federal government for the month prior to the 
date of Application will be used by Applicants and MBOH for purposes of preparation, 
submission, underwriting and evaluation of Applications and Award of HCs. 

Operating Expenses 

MBOH will evaluate Operating Expenses and Vacancy Rate underwriting assumptions for all 
Projects for reasonableness, taking into account the type of housing, unit sizes, intended 
target group of the housing and the location of the Project within the area of the state and 
the community.  Staff may require the Aapplicant to provide additional justification and 
documentation regarding any Ooperating Ccosts deemed to be outside the normal range.   

Debt Coverage Ratio    

The Debt Coverage Ratio (“DCR”) should be:  

• For Projects whose DCR is projected to trend upward through the first 15 years of 
normal operation, the DCR should be between 1.15 and 1.251.50 in the first year of 
normal operation, i.e., year 1 as shown on the DCR calculation of the UniApp. 

• For Projects whose DCR is projected to trend downward through the first 15 years of 
normal operation, the DCR should be between 1.10 and 1.50 during the entire first 
15 years of normal operation i.e., the 15-year period that begins with year 1 as 
shown on the DCR calculation of the UniApp. 

• DCR’s outside this rangethese ranges must be justified in the Application narrative. 

28



ATTACHMENT I 

 
16 

 

MBOH will evaluate the DCR at Application, at 10% Carryover Cost Certification and at Final 
Cost Certification.  MBOH considers several variables, including projected Vacancy Rates 
(which may require upward adjustment for small propertiesSmall Projects) and Ooperating 
Ccost data, in conjunction with debt service coverage, in judging the long-term financial 
viability of Projects.  MBOH may require adjustments to rents or Ccredit amount to assure 
the Ccredits Awarded are no greater than necessary to make the Project feasible. 

 

Maximum Rents 

The MBOH Board may require that rents be maintained at a specified percentage of 
maximum target rent throughout the Extended Use Period.  If required for a particular 
Project, this limitation must be specifically included as a condition of the HC Award and 
included in the Project’s Restrictive Covenants. 

Operating Reserves 

Minimum operating reserves must be established and maintained in an amount equal to at 
least four months of projected Operating Expenses, debt service payments, and annual 
replacement reserve payments.  The specific requirements for reserves, including the term 
for which reserves must be held, must be included in the limited partnership or operating 
agreement and meet the requirements of the Investor.  Using an acceptable third party 
source, this requirement can be met by either cash, letter of credit from a financial 
institution, or a Developer guarantee that a syndicator has accepted the responsibility for a 
reserve. 

Replacement Reserves 

Minimum replacement reserves must be built up in an amount equal to at least 
$250$300.00 per unit annually for New Construction developments for Elderly Properties 
and $300 for other New Construction and Rehabilitation developments, until the 
replacement reserve equals at least $1,000.00 per unit.  Upon Allocation of tax credits, the 
Project has five years to attain and must then maintain replacement reserves in at least that 
amount per unit.  Exceptions may be made for certain special needs or supportive housing 
developments.  Exceptions must be documented and will be reviewed on a case by case 
basis.  In projecting replacement reserves (15 year pro-forma), developments should take 
into account a realistic rate of inflation foreseeable at the time of Application.  The specific 
requirements for reserves, including the term for which reserves must be held, will be 
included in the limited partnership or operating agreement and meet the requirements of 
the Investor.  

 

Utility Allowances 

The Montana Department of Commerce Section 8 Utility Allowances are the only acceptable 
utility allowances for Applications, unless otherwise provided by USDA (Rural Development), 
an MBOH-approved allowance or a HOME-approved allowance.  Utility allowances provided 
by utility providers will not be considered or accepted.    

 

Additional Underwriting Assumptions 

The following underwriting assumptions will be used by MBOH for underwriting of all 
Applications: 

• Vacancy rates:  10% - 20 units and less, 7% - more than 20 and up to 50 units, 5%- 
more than 50 units or 100% project based rental assistance; 

29



ATTACHMENT I 

 
17 

 

• Income Trending: 2%; 
• Expense Trending: 3%; 
• Reserves Trending: 0%; 
• Debt Coverage Ratio:  see “Debt Coverage Ratio” subsection above; 
• Structured Debt for pro-forma not allowed; and 
• Operating expenses per unit: $3,000-$6,000 annually.  

These underwriting assumptions will used at Application, 10% Carryover Cost Certification 
and Final Cost Certification.  Credits will not be Awarded in an amount beyond those needed 
to make the Project feasible according to these underwriting assumptions. 

 

Project Accessibility Requirements 

The Fair Housing Act, including design and accessibility requirements, applies to HC 
properties.  In addition to meeting Fair Housing Act requirements, all New Construction and 
Rehabilitation that at least replaces interior walls and doors must incorporate the following: 

• 36 inch doors for all living areas (except pantry, storage, and closets). 
• Levered handles for exterior and interior doors (except exterior swing doors)All door 

hardware must comply with Fair Housing Act standards for all units. 
• Outlets mounted not less than 18 inches above floor covering. 
• Light switches, control boxes and/or thermostats mounted no more than 36 inches 

above floor covering. 
• Walls adjacent to toilets, bath tubs and shower stalls must be reinforced for later 

installation of grab bars. 
• AllLever style faucets for laundry hook-up, lavatory and kitchen sinkall faucets must 

be lever style. 
• A minimum of a ground floor level half-bath with a 30X48 inch turn space (also 

required in Rehabilitation unless waived by staff for structural limitations or 
excessive cost, etc.) (does not apply if there is no living space on the ground floor 
level).  

• No-step entry to all ground floor level units. 

Compliance with accessibility requirements must be certified in the architect’s letter of 
certification submitted with the 8609(s) submission.  It is suggested but not required that 
Projects also include parking for caregivers for tenants with disabilities and that a lease 
addendum provide for moving a household without tenants with disabilities from a 
handicapped accessible unit to a regular unit if the handicapped accessible unit is needed for 
rental to a tenant with a disability.                 

Energy and Green Building Initiatives, Goals and Requirements 
Integrated Design Process and Community Connectivity 

Project development and design includes a holistic approach.  Processes include 
neighborhood and community involvement to ensure Project acceptance and enhancement.  
Integrated design processes ensure higher quality finish Project.  Existing neighborhood 
edges, characteristics, fabric are considered in the Project design. Some considerations may 
include but are not limited to a community design charrette, incorporating Project into 
neighborhood fabric, energy modeling, commissioning, blower door testing, etc. 

Sustainable Site, Location and Design 

The building(s) and Project site, including the surrounding area, provide opportunities for 
education, alternative transportation, services, and community facilities.  This is evidenced, 
for example, by Projects using existing infrastructure, reusing a building or existing housing, 

30



ATTACHMENT I 

 
18 

 

redeveloping a greyfield/brownfield, or developing in an existing neighborhood.  Design 
elements use the site’s characteristics and reduce impact on the site allowing for open space 
and other amenities, such as infill projects, rehabilitating existing building(s), rehabilitating 
existing housing, providing carpooling opportunities, using well water for landscaping, etc. 

 

Energy and Water Conservation  

Design features, product selection and renewable energy options directly reduce use of 
resources and result in cost savings.  Design and product selection exceeds applicable 
energy codes in performance.  Examples include but are not limited to Energy Star 
appliances, drip irrigation, low flow fixtures, dual flush or composting toilets, ground source 
heat, duct sealing, rain water collection, and low water consumption plants. 

Material and Resource Efficiency 

Material selections are better quality, designed for durability and long term performance 
with reduced maintenance.  Products used are available locally and/or contain recycled 
content.  Construction waste is reduced in the Project through efficient installation or 
recycling waste during construction. Considerations include but are not limited to 
construction waste management specification, recycled content products, local materials, 
reuse existing building materials, certified lumber, and sustainable harvest lumber. 

Healthy Living Environments (Indoor Environmental Quality) 

Materials and design contribute to a healthy and comfortable living environment.  
Mechanical system design, construction methods and materials preserve indoor air quality 
during construction as well as the long term performance such as fresh air circulation and 
exhaust fans, bathroom and kitchen fans exhausting air and moisture, material selection 
with low toxicity and low VOC (volatile organic compounds) paints, sealants, and adhesives.  

Smoke-Free Housing 

Promoting healthy behaviors can also have a large impact on residents at no additional cost 
to the Developer.  Smoke-free policies protect residents against the harmful health impacts 
of tobacco smoke, greatly reduce the risk of fires, and prevent damage to units caused by 
tobacco smoke.  Such policies also make properties more attractive to those who do not 
allow smoking in their own homes. 

For New Construction Projects seeking or awarded 2016 or later year Ccredits, the Owner 
(and any Management Company) must establish and implement a written policy that 
prohibits smoking in the units and the indoor common areas of the Project, including a non-
smoking clause in the lease for every Project unit.  The Owner (and any management 
company) rather than MBOH will be responsible to establish and, implement and enforce 
such written policy and lease clause.  The Owner and management company also must 
make educational materials on tobacco treatment programs, including the phone number 
for the Montana Tobacco Quit Line, available to all tenants of the Project.  The Montana 
Tobacco Use Prevention Program Smokefree Housing Project can provide educational 
materials and smokefree signage to property owners and managers free of charge, as 
requested.  If smoking is allowed outside on the Project pProperty, it is recommended that 
the written smoking policy require that smoking be restricted to areas no closer than 20 feet 
from all building entrances and exits.  The written policy must provide appropriate 
exceptions for bona fide cultural or religious practices.  

Required Blower Door and Infrared Testing for Projects Awarded Credits  

For New Construction Projects Awarded HCs: Blower door tests must be completed on every 
Single Family Project unit.  On Multi-Family Projects, blower door tests must be completed 

31



ATTACHMENT I 

 
19 

 

on the greater of twenty percent (20%) of units (such units to be selected by MBOH in 
conjunction with the testing provider) or the number of units required by State building 
codes (whether or not the State building code has been adopted in the Project’s 
jurisdiction).  Proof of such testing demonstrating compliance with the state building code 
standard (CFM50) must be submitted to MBOH to qualify for issuance of Form 8609(s).  The 
Developer or Builder must notify MBOH at least one week in advance of the date and time 
that blower door testing will be performed and MBOH staff must be permitted to attend and 
observe the testing.  

For Rehabilitation Projects Awarded HCs: Infrared tests will be required on each full unit and 
all common areas both before and after the Rehabilitation.  The Developer or Builder must 
notify MBOH at least one week in advance of the date and time that post-Rehabilitation 
infrared tests will be performed and MBOH staff must be permitted to attend and observe 
such testing.  Proof of such testing must be submitted to MBOH to qualify for issuance of 
Form 8609(s), demonstrating at least 20 degrees temperature difference from outdoors to 
inside the unit. 

Substantial Rehabilitation 
Montana’s minimum Substantial Rehabilitation standard is expenditures the greater of (i) 
$15,000 (for 4% projects)/$25,000 (for 9% Projects) of Hard Costs per rental unit, or (ii) 
an amount which is not less than 30% of the adjusted basis of the building during a 24-
month or shorter period. 

Rehabilitation Projects applying for (9%) competitive credits must meet all requirements of 
the capital needs assessment and the Application must also include a list of items to be 
included in each unit that will be(i.e., replaced, refinished, repaired, upgraded, etc.)or 
otherwise rehabilitation in the rehabilitation Project and a detailed narrative explaining the 
scope, details and expectations of the rehabilitation. 

 

Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects 
Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
(“4% Projects”) may be eligible to receive tax Housing Ccredits outside the state’s tax credit 
allocation volume cap.   Applications may be submitted at any time and are not limited to 
the application schedule in Section 4, below.  Applications must meet all requirements of the 
applicable QAP and must meet at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria score 
specified in Section 9, below, to receive an Allocation of tax Housing Ccredits.  Projects with 
tax exempt financing must submit a certification from the bond financing agency indicating 
that the Project meets the public purpose requirements of the bonds and that the Project is 
consistent with the needs of the community.  For purposes of Application, evaluation and 
Awarding tax credits with respect to 4% Projects, the Applicable QAP is the version of the 
QAP most recently and finally adopted as of the date of Application submission.  

Eventual Home Oownership 
Several supplemental Application documents are required for Projects that include eventual 
home ownership.  The Application must: (a) address how the Owner will administer the 
transfer of ownership to a qualified homebuyer at the end of the Compliance Period.  
Second, the Application must; (b) either identify the price at the time of the title transfer or 
a reasonable process to determine the price.  Third, the Application must; (c) document 
that the potential owners will be required to complete a homebuyer counseling program.  
The Applicant must; and (d) identify how Reserve for Replacement funds will be used at the 
time of sale of the properties.   

32



ATTACHMENT I 

 
20 

 

At the time of sale, the HC Owner must provide a copy of the title transfer together with a 
certificate verifying that the new homeowner completed a homebuyer program within five 
years prior to the transfer of title.  Enforceable covenants must maintain the home as 
affordable and prevent sale or resale to a realtor, financial institution, or a family with an 
income over 80% AMI, or more than 80% of FHA appraised value.  Families who exceed 
income levels of 80% of AMI at the time of the sale must have qualified at the appropriate 
AMI contained in the recorded Restrictive Covenants for the Project evidenced by the Tenant 
Income Certification at the initial rent-up for the family. Tenant qualification documentation 
must be sent to MBOH for approval before the sale is completed.  Please contact MBOH for 
current forms.  Units not sold under the Eventual Home Ownership Program must remain in 
compliance with Section 42 until such time as they are sold to a qualified buyer or the end 
of the Extended Use Period. 

130% Basis Boost 
Basis Boost for QCT and DDA Projects 

Federal law permits MBOH to reserve tax Housing Ccredits based on a “basis boost” of 30% 
for Projects in a Qualified Census Tract (“QCT”) or in HUD designated Difficult Development 
Areas (“DDA”).  In addition, a 30% “basis boost” may be available for non-QCT or DDA 
Projects based upon the specific requirements specified below. 

MBOH Discretionary Basis Boost for Non-QCT/DDA Projects 

For buildings not already eligible for the 30% “basis boost” by virtue of being located in a 
QCT or DDA, up to 130% of the eligible basis of a New Construction building or the 
Rehabilitation portion of an existing building may be considered in Awarding tax Housing 
Ccredits if MBOH determines that an increase in tax Housing Ccredits is necessary to 
achieve the Project’s feasibility.  MBOH staff may recommend an Award of tax Housing 
Ccredits, and the MBOH Board, at the time it considers authorizing Rreservations of tax 
Housing Ccredits, may Award Ccredits for such buildings based upon a basis boost of up to 
30%.  Applications for Projects not located in a DDA or QCT may be submitted with 
requested tax Housing Ccredits calculated at up to 130% of eligible basis.   The Application 
narrative and supporting documentationApplicants must specify and explain in detail the 
applicable considerations supporting the need for the requested basis boost (i.e., any of 
items 1 through 5, below) and justify the need for the requested basis boost in the narrative 
and support documentation.  Considerations justifying a need for a basis boost are: 

1. Qualification of the Application for the Small Rural Project set aside pool; 
2. Qualification of the building location for Rural Development funding; 
3. Targeting of more than 10% of the Project units to 40% or below area median 

income level or more than 62% of Project units to 50% or below area median income 
level; 

4. The Project includes historical preservation or Preservation of existing affordable 
housing; or 

5. The Project is located within a community where unusual market conditions produce 
higher than normal labor and material costs, unusually high land cost and/or rent 
and income limits which are too low to support the cash flows required by the 
Project’s financial structure. 

The MBOH discretionary basis boost does not apply to non-competitive 4% Credits. 

Non-Housing Amenities 
Swimming pools, tennis courts, golf courses, and other similar amenities will not be funded 
by Housing Credits.  Proposed Projects may include such amenities only if the amenities are 
funded by sources other than Housing Credits.  Subject to the requirements of this QAP, 

33



ATTACHMENT I 

 
21 

 

garages or car ports may be funded by Housing Credits considering Montana’s extreme 
winter weather.  

Accountant and Owner Certification 
Prior to the 10% Carryover Cost Certification deadline and at Final Cost Certification, MBOH 
requires an independent third party CPA cost certification, including a statement of eligible 
and qualified basis for the Project.  The Accountant Certification must include a breakdown 
of costs similar to the Project costs and usesSources and Uses of the Application, including 
development cost limitation categories as discussed in this QAP.  The Owner must provide 
the CPA certification, under penalty of perjury, providing the Owner’s name and address, 
the placed in service date, taxpayer identification number, the Project name and address, 
building(s) address(s), building identification numbers, the total eligible and qualified basis, 
and, if applicable, the percentage of the Project financed by tax-exempt bonds. 

Rural Development Projects  
For Rural Development Projects, MBOH requires a copy of the final USDA Rural 
Development cost certification, as well as the Accountant Certification of tax credit eligible 
and qualified basis, and the Owner’s certification.  While a USDA Rural Development Project 
may be technically eligible for an amount of credit, such Projects frequently will receive an 
Award less than the maximum amount of credit, because less credit is required to fill the 
financing gap.  MBOH will Award no more than the amount of credit determined necessary 
to make the Project feasible. 

Information Request and Release Policy 
Requests for information and documents from MBOH will be handled in accordance with and 
subject to applicable law and the MBOH Information and Release Policy, which policy is 
available on the MBOH website at [URL]. 

General Program Information 

All general program information will be provided as requested either by mail, facsimile, 
email, or on the MBOH website.  General information may include, but is not limited to, 
program terms and guidelines, income and mortgage limits, funds availability, Project lists, 
etc. 

Request Procedure 

If requesting information from an Application and/or compliance file, a written request must 
be submitted and must include a description of the specific information or documents being 
requested.  The requestor will be charged and must pay the costs of providing such 
documents according to the Department of Commerce Public Records Request Response 
Guidelines effective July 1, 2012, or as amended. 

Policy on Confidentiality and Disclosure of Information  
Information submitted to the Board is subject to the public’s right to know guaranteed by 
the Montana Constitution except where the demands of individual privacy clearly exceeds 
the merits of public disclosure. 

Information contained in an Application or compliance file is subject to disclosure as 
described in the Board’s administrative rule, ARM 8.111.203, which follows: 

8.111.203 CONFIDENTIALITY AND DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION 

(1) Information submitted to the board by private parties is generally open to public 
review and disclosure. Therefore, applications, financial information and other 

34



ATTACHMENT I 

 
22 

 

information submitted to the board under any of its programs are subject to 
inspection and copying by interested members of the public except as provided in 
this rule. Some information may be protected from public disclosure. Information 
that is constitutionally protected from disclosure is information in which there is an 
individual privacy interest that clearly exceeds the merits of public disclosure. 

(2) If a person or entity submitting information to the board considers any of that 
information confidential and wishes the information documents to be withheld from 
public disclosure, the submitting party must identify which part of the information is 
considered confidential upon their submission and the basis upon which the party 
believes the information should be withheld from public disclosure. 

(3) The type of information which may be withheld from the public disclosure is very 
limited. If individual documents are not specified and a basis not identified, the board 
will deem all the information submitted to the board as subject to public disclosure. A 
submitting party should consult with legal counsel to determine what information 
may be protected and for what reason. A statement that all information submitted by 
a submitting party is confidential will be considered ineffective. 

(4) The board will take reasonable steps to protect information designated as 
confidential from public disclosure and for which a reasonable basis is stated for the 
confidentiality. If information has been designated as confidential and a basis for 
confidentiality stated, upon receiving a request to review any such information board 
staff will notify the submitting party of the request in writing by United States mail at 
an address provided by the submitting party. The notice will identify the party 
making the request, and the stated purpose for the request. 

(5) It is the responsibility of the submitting party upon receipt of the notice to take 
such action as is necessary to protect the information from disclosure, including 
obtaining a court order protecting the documents from disclosure if necessary. If the 
board does not receive an order from a court of competent jurisdiction ordering the 
board to maintain confidentiality of the requested information or the board is not 
notified of other arrangements made between the requesting and submitting parties 
within 10 days from the date of the notice of the request, the information will be 
disclosed to the requesting party. The board will not assert the right of confidentiality 
for a submitting party in a court of law. 

(6) Any information not designated as confidential with a specified basis for 
confidentiality will be subject to public disclosure without notification to the 
submitting party. 

(7) Tenant certifications, income information and information in individual loan files 
are confidential and will not be disclosed to the public. (8) If a requesting party 
wants copies of information maintained by the board, and depending on the number 
of copies to be made, the board may require the requesting party to provide for their 
own copying, either by making the copies with a copier and paper provided by the 
requesting party or by paying the expense of a copy service to make the copies. 

Information in compliance files and Application information submitted to the Board prior to 
the effective date of the rule (June 8, 2001) will not be disclosed until the person who 
submitted the information is given notice of the request and the opportunity obtain an order 
protecting the information from disclosure as provided in ARM 8.111.203. 

Compliance File Policy 
If the information or documents being requested are from an Application, the Project Owner 
will be notified of the request by telephone or facsimile, the Project Owner will be told the 

35



ATTACHMENT I 

 
23 

 

identity of the party making the request.  If the Project Owner believes that its Application 
contains trade secrets, confidential or proprietary information, it is the Project Owner’s 
responsibility to obtain a court order protecting their documents from release. If the Board 
does not receive a court order within 10 calendar days from the day the request is received 
by the Board, the documents will be released to the person requesting them. 

Tenant Certifications and Income Information will be considered confidential and will not be 
released. 

Individual Loan Files 
Personal financial information will be considered confidential and will not be released. 

Ex Parte Communication Policy   
MBOH Board members should refrain from ex parte communications with interested persons 
or parties, or their representatives, who may be affected by any matter on which members 
may take official Board action.  Ex parte communications may include communications that 
take place outside a duly noticed meeting or hearing of the Board, relate to a matter on 
which the Board may take action to determine to rights or obligations of the person or 
party, and which convey information or may otherwise influence the Board member 
regarding the matter. 

If a Board member is unable to avoid such communications, the member will be required to 
disclose at a public meeting of the Board the full content of such communication and the 
identity of the person making the communication.  In addition, the Board member may be 
disqualified from participating in Board action on the matter.  Such communications may 
also subject the Board to challenge regarding its action on the matter. 

Ex parte communications do not include communications regarding general matters of 
housing, funding for low-income housing, or other Board policy, and do not include Board 
member speaking appearances, conferences, consulting engagements or other events or 
settings to the extent not involving communications such as those described above. 

The foregoing statement is provided as general information.  Ex parte communications are 
addressed in further detail and governed by the MBOH Ex Parte Communication Policy, 
available on the MBOH website at [URL]. 

In instances where the Board of Housing acts as a quasi-judicial body, its members should 
refrain from ex parte contact with parties who will be appearing before it or their 
representatives. 

Additionally, any ex parte communication made where a quorum of the Board is present, 
outside of a meeting or hearing scheduled for the purpose of entertaining the issue before 
it, would violate Montana’s open meeting requirements and the right of public participation 
under Article II, section 8 of the Montana Constitution and § 2-3-203, MCA.  A quorum of 
the Board is defined as a majority of the membership.  See § 2-15-124(8), MCA. 

The policy when the Board is sitting as a quasi-judicial body is: 

• Not to receive any evidence, individually, or collectively, except as a part of the 
public record at a publicly noticed meeting or hearing scheduled for that purpose. 

• If a member is not able to avoid receipt of information or contact with parties outside 
of a public meeting or hearing the remedial action in that instance is for the Board 
member to disclose at the public meeting or hearing the full content of the 
information received.  

• Avoidance of ex parte communications is preferred over relying on the public 
disclosure remedy because an incomplete or inaccurate conveyance of the ex parte 

36



ATTACHMENT I 

 
24 

 

contact, even if inadvertent, may bias the outcome and subject the Board action to 
challenge. 

All information an Applicant wants distributed to board members should be provided to staff 
who will disburse consistently to all members.  

 
SECTION 4 - APPLICATION SUBMISSION AND AWARD 
SCHEDULECYCLE – MANNER OF SUBMISSION 
Competitive 9% Credit Applications 
Applicants may apply for an Award of tax 9% Ccredits for a particular Project no later than 
the applicable submission deadline specified below or otherwise set by MBOH.   

Applicants must submit the Application and the applicable fee (based on the fee schedule 
below) to MBOH as required in this QAP.  A separate Application is required for each Project.  
A single Application should include all buildings within a single Project. 

An Applicant for tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
also seeking an Award of 4% Credits outside the state’s tax credit allocation volume for a 
scattered-site Project under a single partnership may apply for such credits by submission 
of a single Application that includes sub-applications for each property included in the 
Project.  Full Applications for tax-exempt financing and related 4% Credits may be 
submitted at any time and are not limited to the competitive allocation rounds listed below. 

Electronic submission of Applications using MBOH’s system (currently ShareFile) is preferred 
but hard copy Applications will also be accepted.  Please contact staff (preferably at least a 
week ahead of the submission deadline) for set up and for specific instructions on how to 
access this system.  Complete Letters of Intent/Applications meeting all requirements of this 
QAP must be received at MBOH's office by 5:00 pm Mountain Time on the Letter of 
Intent/Application submission date specified below. 

First Allocation Round: 
o Letter of Intent    First Monday in August 2015  
o Board Review and Discussion   Next  MBOH Board Meeting 
o Application Submission   First Monday in October 2015  
o Applicant Presentations   Next MBOH Board Meeting after 

application submission 
 Award Determination   January 2016 MBOH Board Meeting 

First Award Round:  
o Letter of Intent Submission  First Monday in July 2016 
o Applicant Presentations/ 

Board Invitations to Apply  August 2016 MBOH Board Meeting 
o Application Submission   First Monday in October 2016 
o Award Determination   January 2017 MBOH Board Meeting 

Second Allocation Award Round (if any): 
If the Board decides to hold a second allocation Award round, it will determine and 
post on MBOH’s website the dates for submission of Letters of Intent and 
Applications, Board review and, discussion and invitation to apply, Applicant 
presentations and Award determination. 

37



ATTACHMENT I 

 
25 

 

Any of the above deadlines and dates may be extended or changed by MBOH if 
circumstances warrant, and in such event MBOH will provide notice of such extension or 
change by posting on MBOH’s website.  The MBOH Board, in its discretion, may waive any 
requirement of this QAP if it determines such waiver to be in the best interests of MBOH, the 
HC program or the application cycle.  In any application Application/Award round or rounds, 
the MBOH Board may elect to Award less than all available Ccredits or to not Award any 
Ccredits if the MBOH Board determines that such is in the best interests of MBOH, the HC 
program or the Application cycle.  

Board Consideration and Determination Process 
At the MBOH Board’s meeting in the month after submission of Letters of Intent, MBOH staff 
will present Letters of Intent to the MBOH Board. MBOH will provide an opportunity for 
Applicants to make a presentation to the MBOH Board regarding their Projects and Letters 
of Intent and will provide an opportunity for public comment on proposed Projects and 
Applications.  Applicant presentations will be limited to 10 minutes or less.  The MBOH 
Board may ask questions of Applicants and discuss proposed Projects but there will be no 
Applicant presentations and  the MBOH Board will not make any Award determination at this 
meeting.  MBOH Board questions and discussion are for purposes of assisting the Board in 
determining which Projects it will invite to submit Applications and assisting Applicants in 
presenting better Applications, and but such questions, answers and discussions shall not be 
binding upon MBOH in any later Award determination or other MBOH process. 

After considering the Letters of Intent, presentations, questions and answers and 
discussion, the MBOH Board will select those Projects that it will invite to submit 
Applications.  Selection for invitation to submit an Application may be based upon 
consideration of any of the Selection Criteria permitted to be considered for purposes of an 
Award under this QAP, but no evaluation or scoring of Letters of Intent will be done or 
considered for purposes of selection for invitation to submit an Application.  For purposes of 
determining the number of Projects to select: (a) the total amount of Credits requested for 
all Projects invited to submit Applications will not exceed 150% of the State’s Available 
Annual Credit Allocation determined as provided in Section 6; and (b) no more than 10 
Projects will be selected.  Each Project so selected by the MBOH Board will deemed invited 
to submit an Application.  An Application may be submitted only for a Project invited by the 
MBOH Board to submit an Application.  All other Applications will be returned without 
consideration.   

At the MBOH Board’s meeting in the month of Application submission, MBOH staff will 
present Applications to the MBOH Board.  The MBOH Board may ask questions of Applicants 
and discuss proposed Projects but there will be no Applicant presentations.  MBOH will 
provide an opportunity for Applicants to make a presentation to the MBOH Board regarding 
their Projects and Applications and will provide an opportunity for public comment on 
proposed Projects and Applications.  Applicant presentations will be limited to 10 minutes or 
less.   

At the Award Determination Meeting, Applicants should be available to the MBOH Board to 
answer questions regarding their respective Applications.  Applicants shall have an 
opportunity to respond to any negative comments.   

4% Credit Applications for Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects 
Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
(“4% Projects”) may be eligible to receive tax credits outside the state’s tax credit allocation 
volume cap.  An Applicant for tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private 
activity bonds also seeking an Award of 4% Credits for a scattered-site Project under a 

38



ATTACHMENT I 

 
26 

 

single partnership may apply for such credits by submission of a single Application that 
includes sub-applications for each property included in the Project.   

Full Applications for tax-exempt financing and related 4% Credits may be submitted at any 
time; submission is not limited to the Application schedule set forth above for 9% Credit 
competitive awards.  However, complete Applications must be received by MBOH at least 6 
weeks before the scheduled MBOH Board meeting at which the Application is to be 
considered.  Changes to the Application that require MBOH to re-underwrite the Application 
will restart the minimum 6-week period. 

The Application fee for 4% Projects is 1% of the amount of annual Credits requested in the 
Application and must be submitted to and received in the MBOH office for the Application to 
receive consideration.  In addition, Final Allocation of 4% Credits is subject to payment in 
full of applicable bond closing fees at bond closing per the MBOH Private Placement policy 
available on the MBOH website at [URL]. 

Applications for 4% Projects must meet all requirements of the Applicable QAP, including 
meeting at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria threshold score specified in 
Section 9 to receive an Allocation of Housing Credits.  Projects with tax exempt financing 
must submit a certification from the bond financing agency indicating that the Project meets 
the public purpose requirements of the bonds and that the Project is consistent with the 
needs of the community.  For purposes of Application, evaluation and Awarding Housing 
Credits with respect to 4% Projects, the Applicable QAP is the version of the QAP most 
recently and finally adopted as of the date of Application submission.  

 

Application Submission Method for 4% and 9% Credit 
Applications 
Electronic submission of Applications using MBOH’s system (currently ShareFile) is preferred 
but hard copy Applications will also be accepted.  Please contact staff (preferably at least a 
week ahead of the submission deadline) for set up and for specific instructions on how to 
access this system.  In submitting or preparing to submit Applications, Applicants shall not   
change or create folders or otherwise change the file structure within the ShareFile 
submission.  An Applicant may request an additional folder by contacting MBOH staff.   

 

Carryover Commitment 
MBOH will issue a Carryover Commitment in December of the year for which the credits are 
being Awarded and such Carryover will be for a period of two (2) years. To preserve this 
commitment the Owner/Developer must submit the 10% Carryover Cost Certification by the 
deadline specified in the Applicable QAP.   Move to section 10  

 

SECTION 5 - FEE SCHEDULE 
Letter of Intent 
The Letter of Intent fee is $1,000.00 $1,500.00 and must be submitted to and received in 
the MBOH office by the applicable Letter of Intent deadline.  MBOH will not consider Letters 
of Intent submitted without the Letter of Intent fee.  The Letter of Intent fee is not 
refundable.  

 

39



ATTACHMENT I 

 
27 

 

Application 
The application fee is 1% of the amount of credits requested in the Application and must be 
submitted to and received in the MBOH office by the applicable application deadline.  MBOH 
will not consider Applications submitted without the application fee.  The application fee is 
not refundable and will not be adjusted even if the MBOH Board Awards no credits or only a 
portion of the tax credits requested. 

In addition to the application fee, a Reservation fee in the amount of  8% of the credits 
reserved is due on or before December 1 of the year in which the Award is made (e.g., 
December 1, 2016 2017 for 2016 2017 credit Awards made in January 20162017).  After a 
Reservation Agreement is executed the Reservation fee is not refundable.  If the conditions 
described in the Reservation Agreement are not met, the entire Reservation fee will be 
forfeited to MBOH. 

Requesting Additional Credits After Initial Allocation   
As MBOH, in its discretion, determines necessary for financial feasibility, returned or 
unreserved tax Housing Ccredits may be used to increase the amount of tax Housing 
Ccredits reserved for a Project after the first round Awards have been made.  In considering 
a request for an increase under this paragraph, MBOH may consider any anticipated 
potential need for returned or unreserved Ccredits to fund Projects that would otherwise be 
funded or require greater funding under the Corrective Award set aside under Section 7.  An 
Applicant seeking an increase in the amount of reserved Ccredits must apply in writing for 
such increase and must submit new financials (UniApp Section C) and documentation of 
cost increases. Applications for additional Ccredits must be submitted to staff.  Staff will 
review and evaluate supporting financials and new cost documentation and a staff 
recommendation will be presented at a later MBOH Board meeting for consideration.  Staff 
will not recommend and the MBOH Board will not approve any increase beyond that 
necessary to make the Project feasible. 

Any request for Credits above the amount initially Awarded is considered a request for 
additional Credits after Initial Allocation and is subject to the provisions of this section. 

An Application and Reservation fee of 9% of the additional tax Housing Ccredits requested is 
due with the request.  In the event an increase for the additional requested Ccredits is not 
approved, the Reservation fee in the amount of 8% will be returnedrefunded.   

Compliance Fees 
See Section 12 -, Compliance Monitoring. 

 

SECTION 6 - MAXIMUM AWARDS  
Maximum Credit Award  
Twenty-five percent (25%) of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation will be the 
maximum Ccredit Awarded or Allocated to any one Project or Developer.  The state’s 
Available Annual Credit Allocation is defined as and includes the state’s actual or estimated 
credit ceiling for the current year plus any other available Ccredits from prior year credit 
authority determined as of 20 business days prior to the applicable application deadline, and 
includes any Ccredits held back pursuant to court order or subject to Award under the 
Corrective Award set aside.  The Developer’s percentage of the Ddevelopment Ffee, as 
specified in a written development agreement, will be that Developer’s percentage of the 
25% limit.  The maximum Ccredit Award for a Project will be determined based upon the 

40



ATTACHMENT I 

 
28 

 

state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation for the tax Housing Ccredit year from which the 
Project is first Awarded HCs. If the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is not known as 
of 20 business days prior to the applicable application deadline, MBOH will estimate the 
Available Annual Credit Allocation from the previous year will be usedamount, subject to 
later adjustment once the state’s actual Available Annual Credit Allocation is known.  If an 
estimated amount is used for Award purposes, all Awards based upon such estimate shall 
be conditional upon a final determination of the state’s actual Available Annual Credit 
Allocation.   

MBOH does not commit tax credits from future years, except as specifically provided in this 
QAP. The MBOH Board may Award Housing Credits from a future year’s Available Annual 
Credit Allocation at any time outside the competitive cycle for purposes of funding repair or 
replacement of a Project building due to a life/safety emergency as determined by the 
MBOH in its discretion.  The Applicant must submit a Letter of Intent and the Board must 
invite the Applicant to submit an Application before making an Award.  The Application must 
meet all QAP requirements. 

 
SECTION 7 – SET ASIDES  
Non-profit 
Ten percent of each state's credit ceiling must be set aside for buildings which are part of 
one or more Projects involving Qualified Nonprofit Organizations.   

The 10% non-profit set-aside requirement may be met by an Award to a Project involving a 
Qualified Nonprofit Organization out of any other set-aside or the general pool.  If no Project 
Awarded HCs involves a Qualified Nonprofit Organization, the non-profit set aside (i.e., 10% 
of the state's credit ceiling) will be held back for later Award to a Project involving a 
Qualified Nonprofit Organization. 

Corrective Award 
Such portion of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is reserved and set-aside as is 
necessary for Award of credits to: 

• Any Project for which an Application was submitted in a prior round or year, if: 
o a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction determines or declares that 

such Applicant was entitled to an Award in such prior round or year or 
requires MBOH to make an Award or Allocation of tax credits to such Project; 

o a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction invalidates or sets aside an 
Award of credits to an approved Project from such prior round or year and a 
Reservation Agreement was executed by MBOH and such Applicant prior to 
issuance of such court order, unless such court order determines that such 
Project was not eligible or qualified under the applicable QAP to receive an 
Award of tax credits; or 

o MBOH, upon further consideration of any Award determination as required by 
and in accordance with the order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
determines that such Project was entitled to an Award in such prior round or 
year. 

All requirements and conditions of this Corrective Award set aside provision must be met to 
receive an Award under this set aside provision.  The amount of any Award under the 
Corrective Award set aside shall be the amount specified by the court, or if no Award 
amount is specified by the court, an amount determined by MBOH in accordance with this 
QAP.  The Corrective Award set aside shall be funded first from returned or unreserved tax 

41



ATTACHMENT I 

 
29 

 

credits from a prior year.  Awards may be “future allocated” under this Corrective Action set 
aside, i.e., such Awards may be made from returned or unreserved tax credits from a prior 
year and/or the current year’s credits at any MBOH Board meeting after the final court order 
has been issued and presented to MBOH.  Such Award need not await the annual 
Application and Award cycle. 

Where a court orders that an amount of the current year’s credits be set aside for a Project 
pending the decision of the court, if the court’s decision is not received before the end of the 
current year, the credits set aside will become classified as the next year’s credits, as 
required by federal code.  

If the court orders MBOH to Award credits to any Project under this set-aside, the Project 
must submit an updated Application so the MBOH can review and underwrite current 
numbers and assumptions to verify that the amount of credits requested or some other 
credit amount is justified for Project feasibility, unless otherwise ordered by the court.  The 
corrective awardee must pay the Reservation fee as required in Section 5.  

Small Rural Projects 
Twenty percent (20%) of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is set-aside for Small 
Rural Projects.  For purposes of this set-aside, a Small Rural Project is a Project: (1) for 
which the submitted tax credit Application requests tax credits in an amount up to but no 
more than 10% of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation, (2) with 20 or fewer low-
income units, and (23) proposed to be developed and constructed in a location that is not 
within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great Falls, Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula.  

General Rules Regarding Set Asides 
MBOH reserves the right to determine in which set-aside a Project will be reviewed (subject 
to its eligibility), regardless of its eligibility for any other set-aside.  For example, if a Project 
is submitted as a Small Rural Project in order to utilize the Small Rural Project set-aside 
when it is clearly part of a larger or non-rural Project, the Project will be placed in the 
proper category as determined by MBOH staff.   

To qualify and receive consideration to receive an Award of credits under a set-aside, the 
Project must meet all applicable requirements of this QAP and must receive minimum 
Development Evaluation Criteria score specified in this QAP. 

The MBOH Board reserves the right to not Award credits to a qualifying Small Rural Project 
even if the Project meets the minimum required score, if the MBOH Board, at its discretion, 
determines another Project or Projects better meet the most pressing housing needs of low 
income people within the state of Montana, taking into consideration the Selection Criteria 
of this QAP as determined in accordance with Section 9. 

In the event there are insufficient tax credits available to fully fund all set aside categories, 
the respective set asides categories shall be funded in the following order of priority: (1) 
Non-profit; (2) Corrective Award; and (3) Small Rural Project. 

 

SECTION 8 – LETTER OF INTENT AND APPLICATION 
PROCESS 
Applicants should are responsible to read and comply with this Qualified Allocation Plan 
(QAP) (and any other Applicable QAP) and accompanying materials. 

Applicants are responsible to determine the degree that their building(s) and development 
correspond to the MBOH's Selection Criteria contained in this QAP.  

42



ATTACHMENT I 

 
30 

 

Applicants are responsible to consult their own tax attorney or accountant concerning: (a) 
each building's eligibility for the tax credit; (b) the amount of the credit, if any, for which 
their building(s) may be eligible; and (c) their ability and/or their Investor's ability to use 
the tax credit.  

Letter of Intent 
All Projects wishing to apply for HCs in Montana must submit a Letter of Intent by the 
deadline specified in Section 4 with the applicable fee.   

If a Letter of Intent has not been submitted with respect to an Application according to the 
requirements of this QAP MBOH will return such Application un-scored along with the 
application fee and such Application will not be further considered.  All Letters of Intent 
must be submitted in the format posted on the Board’s website.  included as Exhibit D-1 
and D-2.  The Project Location, type (e.g., family or elderly), and Developer specified in the 
Letter of Intent may not be changed in the any later Application.  Other information in the 
Letter of Intent (e.g., cost information, number of units, unit sizes, income targeting, rents, 
hard and soft loan sources, etc.) will be considered the Applicant’s best estimates and may 
be changed in the Application.  No market study or mini-market study is required for 
purposes of a Letter of Intent. 

Application 
An Application may not be submitted for a Project unless a Letter of Intent has been 
submitted with respect to the Project according to the requirements of this QAP and the 
Board has invited that Project to submit an Application.  MBOH will return all other 
Applications without consideration, along with the application fee.   

Applicants must commission a full market study as outlined in Exhibit Bthe MBOH Market 
Study Form.  Such Market Study must be included with the Application submission in 
accordance with the Threshold Requirements below. 

Applicants must complete and submit the Uniform Application and Supplement, full market 
study and full application fee by the applicable application deadline (see Section 4 –, 
Application Submission and Award ScheduleCycle).  Applicants must use the most current 
form of the Uniform Application (UniApp) and Supplement available on the MBOH website 
at: http://housing.mt.gov/UniformApplicationhttp://housing.mt.gov/FAR/housingapps.mcpx 

Threshold Requirements Are Mandatory 
Threshold Requirements are mandatory for all Letters of Intent and Applications.  Letters of 
Intent and Applications received not meeting all Threshold Requirements or other 
requirements of this QAP will be returned un-scored and will receive no further 
consideration.  Fees will not be returnedrefunded. 

Submit complete Applications to MBOH.  Electronic submission of Applications using MBOH’s 
system (currently ShareFile) is preferred but hard copy Applications will also be accepted.  
Please contact staff (preferably at least a week ahead of the submission deadline) for 
specific instructions on how to access this system. In submitting or preparing to submit 
Applications, Applicants shall not change or create folders or otherwise change the file 
structure within the ShareFile submission.  Applicants may request an additional folder by 
contacting MBOH staff.   

MBOH staff may communicate with Applicants for purposes of providing interpretive 
guidance or other information or for purposes of clarifying Applications.  MBOH staff may 
allow minor corrections to Applications, but will return and will not further consider 
Applications requiring substantial revision or those that are substantially incomplete.  

43



ATTACHMENT I 

 
31 

 

Threshold Requirements 
To meet the thresholdbe eligible for further consideration, all Letters of Intent and 
Applications must be submitted in accordance with the requirements of this QAP and the 
following Threshold Requirements.  

ALL MBOH FORMS REFERENCED IN THIS QAP ARE AVAILABLE ON THE MBOH WEBSITE AT 
[URL].  ALL FORMS SUBMITTED TO MBOH IN OR AS PART OF THE APPLICATION, 
DEVELOPMENT, UNDERWRITING, ALLOCATION, COST CERTIFICATION, COMPLIANCE OR 
OTHER PROCESSES UNDER THIS QAP MUST BE THE MOST CURRENT FORM AVAILABLE ON 
THE MBOH WEBSITE.  If the most current Fform(s) are not used, submissions may be 
returned and required to be resubmitted on the correct Fform.  

Letters of Intent must: 

1.  Include the applicable fee; 
2.  Be received by the applicable deadline; and 
3.  Be substantially complete and in the format prescribed in Exhibit D-1 and D-2the 

MBOH Letter of Intent Form. 

Applications must: 

1. Include the application fee; 
  

2. Be received by the applicable deadline;  
 

3. Include a cover letter summarizing the Project, limited to 2 pages, which will be 
provided to MBOH Board members within one week following the application 
deadline; Include all of the documents, information and other items specified in 
threshold requirements 4 through 27 below;  
 

4. Include a cover letter summarizing the Project, limited to 2 pages, which will be 
provided to MBOH Board members within one week following the Application 
deadline Be substantially complete, and include all of the following documents, 
information and items. All the below listed items 5 through 26 must be correctly 
completed and submitted for the Application to be considered substantially 
complete:;  
 

5. The Include a fully completed, current UniApp, including all applicable Forms, all in 
the most current forms as posted on the MBOH website. 
 

6. Specify the Qualified Management Company that will provide property management 
service to the Project and provide a copy of the written agreement with the 
management company evidencingevidence of the company’s commitment to provide 
management services.  Upon written notice from MBOH that the Application has 
identified a mManagement cCompany that is not a Qualified Management Company, 
the Applicant must submit to MBOH within ten (10) days a written designation of a 
Qualified Management Company and a copy of the written agreement with the 
management company evidencingevidence of the replacement company’s 
commitment to provide management services.  
 

7. Include a Market Study prepared and signed by a disinterested third party analyst, 
with certificate (included in Exhibit BMBOH Market Study Form) signed by analyst 
and notarized.  Market Studies must be completed within six (6) months prior to the 
submission date of the Application, must have the market analyst complete a 
physical inspection of the market area within one (1) year of the Application and 

44



ATTACHMENT I 

 
32 

 

must adhere to minimum market study requirements in MBOH Market Study 
FormExhibit B. 
 

8. Include documentation of Land or Property Ccontrol through lease, ownership or a 
legal form of option to purchase. 
 

9. Include documentationEvidence from the applicable local zoning authority of that 
applicable proper zoning requirements are met or otherwise addressed, e.g., (Project 
is within applicable zoning requirementsplace, part of an approved planned unit 
development, subject to a zoning change requested)request that has been or will be 
approved, or not subject to any existing unless no zoning requirements exists.  If no 
zoning requirements exist provide documentation from the proper authority. 
Acquisition/Rehabilitation Projects may provide evidence documentation that the 
Project will not require aof no change in zoning requirements. 
 

10. Utilities Include dDocumentation of aAvailability and capacity of utilities to serve the 
Project, including documentation that utilities are available to the Project and the 
present proximity of utilities to the Project location.  Such documentation must be 
from the electric, gas/propane, water and/or sewer/septic provider/company, as 
applicable.  Acquisition/Rehabilitation Projects need only provide such documentation 
for any expected additional load.  Documentation of utility availability and capacity 
must not be more than 24 months old at the time of Application submission.  MBOH 
staff may in its discretion require the Applicant to provide updated documentation.  
 

11. Include aA preliminary financing letter from a lender indicating the proposed terms 
and conditions of the loan must be included.  The financing letter must formally 
express interest in financing the Project sufficient to support the terms and 
conditions represented in the Project financing section of the Application. 
 

12. Include aA letter of interest from an equity provider including an anticipated price 
based on the market at time of the Applicationapplication. 
 

13. For allAll Applications for land and/or Acquisition transactions must, include a 
comparative market analysis (“CMA”) or an appraisal done by an independent (non-
related) party.  Such CMA or appraisal is required regardless of the manner or 
method of Acquisition and must cover all real estate acquired, including land and/or 
buildings.  
 

14. For Rehabilitation Applications, include a full scale Capital Needs Assessment for 
Rehabilitation Applications, on the USDA Rural Development Capital Needs 
Assessment (CNA) template or similar form, a list of items in each unit that will be 
replaced, refinished, repaired, upgraded or otherwise rehabilitated, and a detailed 
narrative explaining the scope, details and expectations of the Rehabilitationscope of 
work for the Project. 
 

15. For Applications proposing Rehabilitation or if replacement of existing units are being 
replaced, include a preliminary relocation plan addressing the logistics of moving 
tenants out of their residences and providing temporary housing during the 
Rehabilitation or replacement and returning tenants to their residences upon 
completion of the Rehabilitation or replacement. 
 

16. Include aA site plan, and a Ddesign Pprofessional’s preliminary floor plan and 
elevations/photos of existing properties for the Project. 

45



ATTACHMENT I 

 
33 

 

 
17. For Applications for Projects involving Qualified Nonprofit Organizations and seeking 

to qualify for the non-profit set aside under Section 7, include: (a) a copy of the IRS 
determination letter documenting such organization’s Profit or non-profit 
status501(c)(3) or (4) status; (b) an affidavit by the organization’s managing 
partner or member certifying that the organization is not and during the Compliance 
Period will not be affiliated with or controlled by a for-profit organization; and (c) 
documentation that one of the exempt purposes of the organization includes the 
fostering of low-income housing. 
 

18. For ApplicationsIf a not-for-profit Owner proposes proposing a property tax 
exemption for rental housing providing affordable housing to lower-income tenants 
pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 15-6-221, include documentation of intent to conduct 
a public hearing as required by Mont. Code Ann. § 15-6-221(2)must be submitted 
with the Application.  Such public hearing must be and conducted by the Owner and 
documentation of such public hearing must be submitted prior to issuance of the 
Carryover Commitment.  If the Application does not includeWithout documentation of 
such intent to conduct the required public hearing, the Project will be underwritten as 
if no exemption was or will be received.  Documentation of public hearing(s) must be 
submitted prior to issuance of the Carryover Commitment. 
 

19. Specify the Extended Use Period. 
 

20. If For Projects is targeted for Eventual Homeownership, provide the supplemental 
Application documents and information specified in the “Eventual Homeownership” 
portion of Section 3, Eventual Home Ownership.   
 

21. Specify the selected minimum set aside (20-50 test) or (40-60 test). 
 

22. Include a copyCopy of the public notice and affidavit proof of publication meeting the 
requirements specified in this Section 8, under “Public Notice” ,below in this section. 
 

23. Include lettersLetters of community support. These support letters must be Project 
specific and address how the Project meets the needs of the community.  New letters 
of support (as well as new letters of non-support) must be submitted for each 
Application for each Application round of competition.  Generic support for affordable 
housing will not be considered support for the specific Project being considered. 
These letters will be provided to the MBOH Board for its consideration. 
 

24. If the Project is an Elderly Property, include a stipulation of minimum tenant or 
resident age (i.e., 55 or 62 and over).  
 

25. Include aA narrative addressing each of the Development Evaluation Criteria, 
demonstrating how the Application meets each of these criteria, and providing a 
specific explanation and justification of the points sought for each scoring item.  
Narrative references to the Market Study must cite the specific page and paragraph 
of the Market Study.  The narrative must include the Applicant’s own proposed total 
score for each scoring item in the Development Evaluation Criteria and, at the 
conclusion of the narrative, the Applicant’s own proposed total score. 
 

26. Include the completedCompleted and signed Indemnification FormExhibit E, Cost 
Sponsor Certification Form and Release of Information Formforms included in this 
QAP. 

46



ATTACHMENT I 

 
34 

 

 
27. Include a copy of the public notice and affidavit of publication required below under 

“Public Notice.” 
 

Applications must also demonstrate that the proposed Projects are financially sound.  This 
includes reasonable financing terms, costs, expenses, and sufficient cash flow to support the 
operations of the Project, all of which must meet the underwriting standards of MBOH. 

Public Notice 

An Tax Credit Applicant must place an advertisementa notice in the local newspaper of the 
intent to apply for Housing Credits, and by doing so, encourageencouraging submission of 
public comment to be submitted to MBOH.  Such notice must include nName of Project, 
Number number of Unitsunits, Location location of Project, Forfor-profit or nNon-profit 
status, and, if applicable, Intent intent to Request request Taxtax-exempt Status status for 
the Project.  The notice will be placed as a box advertisement in the newspaper within 90 
days prior to or not more than 5 working days after the due date of the Application and will 
allow for not less than 30 days for responsesubmission of comments to MBOH. The 
advertisement notice must be published twice within a seven-day period.  A copy of the 
notice, annotated together with an affidavit of publication showing the dates published, 
must be included in the Application. 

Example of Public Notice 

(Name of Developer, address, telephone number), a (for-profit/non-profit) organization, 
hereby notifies all interested persons of  (city, town, community name) that we are planning 
to develop, (Name of Project) an affordable multi-family rental housing complex on the site 
at (street location).  This complex will consist of (number) (one bedroom, two bedroom, or 
three bedroom) units for (elderly persons/families). This Project (will/will not) be exempt 
from property taxes.   

An Application (will be/has been) submitted to the Montana Board of Housing for federal tax 
credits financing.   

You are encouraged to submit comments regarding the need for affordable multi-family 
rental housing in your area to the Montana Board of Housing, PO Box 200528, Helena, MT  
59620-0528 or FAX (406) 841-2841.  Comments will be accepted until 5 PM the Friday 
before the MBOH Board Award Determination Meeting (sSee Section 4, Aapplication Ccycles 
above).  

 
SECTION 9 – EVALUATION AND AWARD 
Threshold Evaluation and Considerations 
MBOH staff will review all Applications received by the applicable submission deadline for 
compliance with all Threshold Requirements, including but not limited to completeness, 
soundness of the development, and eligibility based on federal requirements and this QAP.  
Applications determined by MBOH staff to not substantially meet all Threshold Requirements 
or other requirements of this QAP or federal law will be returned un-scored and will receive 
no further consideration.  Except as specifically provided in this QAP, Application fees will 
not be refunded. 

MBOH staff may communicate with Applicants for purposes of providing interpretive 
guidance or other information or for purposes of clarifying, verifying or confirming any 
information in Applications.  MBOH staff may allow minor corrections to Applications, but will 

47



ATTACHMENT I 

 
35 

 

return and will not further consider Applications requiring substantial revision or those that 
are substantially incomplete.   

MBOH staff may query an Applicant or other persons regarding any concerns related to a 
tax Housing Ccredit Application or the management, construction or operation of a proposed 
or existing low income housing Project.  Questionable or illegal housing practices or 
management, insufficient or inadequate response by the Applicant, General Partners, or 
Management Company as a whole or in part, may be grounds for Disqualification of an 
Application and non-consideration for an Award of tax Housing Ccredits. 

As part of its review of Applications, MBOH staff will contact community officials of the 
Project location to discuss relevant evaluation criteria information pertaining to the 
Application and the proposed Project.  MBOH may also contact any other third parties to 
confirm or seek clarification regarding any information in the Application, including but not 
limited to checking Development Team references, verifying credit reports and verifying 
information through direct contact with the Project Developer.   

Between the submission deadline and the MBOH Board Award Determination Meeting, as 
required by federal law, MBOH will notify the chief executive officer of the local jurisdiction 
of each proposed development requesting comments on the development.  

Tax Housing Ccredit Allocations will be subject to three underwriting evaluations: (i) 
evaluation for purposes of Award/Reservation and, for Projects that have received an Award 
of credits and entered into a Reservation Agreement, (ii) evaluation for purposes of the 
10% Carryover Cost Certification, and (iii) evaluation for purposes of Final Cost 
Certification. 

MBOH will return and will not consider for an Award of Ccredits: 

• Incomplete Applications; 
• Unsound Applications, i.e., Projects for which the Market Study and other available 

market information fails to demonstrate adequate market need within the proposed 
location community or Projects that are not financially feasible, including but not 
limited to viable cash flow, based upon MBOH underwriting standards as set forth in 
this QAP;   

• An Application submitted by an entity with a demonstrated poor track record in 
completion of development or management of low income housing, whether located 
in Montana or another state;  

• Applications submitted by Applicants with current Project(s) that have/had numerous 
or unresolved substantial non-compliance issues or IRS  8823’s (consideration will be 
given to the type of 8823); 

• Any other Application failing to meet any mandatory requirement of this QAP or 
federal law; and 

• Any Application as otherwise specified in this QAP. 

Applications meeting all minimum Tthreshold Rrequirements and not excluded from further 
consideration under this QAP will be evaluated for the amount of tax credits needed for 
feasibility and long term viability and will be evaluated and scored according to the 
Development Evaluation Criteria section below. 

Amount of Tax Credit Allocation 
Although a proposed development may be technically eligible for a certain Ccredit amount, 
federal law prohibits MBOH from allocating more Ccredits than necessary for the financial 
feasibility of the development and its viability as a qualified low income housing Project 
throughout the Compliance Period.  Accordingly, an Award of tax Housing Ccredits under 

48



ATTACHMENT I 

 
36 

 

this QAP will be limited to the amount of Ccredits that MBOH, in its sole discretion, deems 
necessary to make the development feasible and viable throughout the Compliance Period.   

In determining the amount of Ccredits necessary, MBOH will consider:   

• The Sources and Uses of funds and the total financing planned for the Project.  
Funds, including funds from federal sources, such as HOME grant money, Rural 
Development, and similar funds, may be loaned by or through a parent organization 
to a Project at an interest rate below the Applicable Federal Rate (AFR).  Such loans 
will not reduce the basis for the Project providing they are true loans. 

• Grants made with federal funds directly to a Project, which will reduce basis. 
• Any proceeds or receipts expected to be generated by the tax Housing Ccredits.  
• The reasonableness of the development and operational costs of the Project.  

Based on its evaluation, MBOH will make a preliminary determination of the amount of 
Ccredits deemed necessary for the financial feasibility of the development and its viability as 
a qualified low income housing Project throughout the Compliance Period.  This 
determination is made solely at MBOH's discretion, and is not intended to be a 
representation or warranty to anyone as to the feasibility of the development.  Rather, it will 
serve as the basis for making an Award of Ccredits.  A similar analysis will be done at the 
time of 10% Carryover Cost Certification and at Final Cost Certification prior to issuing IRS 
Form(s) 8609.  Neither the selection of a Project to receive an Award of tax Housing 
Ccredits nor the amount of Ccredits to be allocated constitutes a representation or warranty 
that the Owner or Developer should undertake the development, or that no risk is involved 
for the Investor. 

 
Development Evaluation Criteria and Scoring 
In addition to evaluation under all other QAP Selection Criteria, Applications will be 
evaluated and scored according to the following Development Evaluation Criteria. 

• Awarding of points to Projects pursuant to these Development Evaluation Criteria is 
for purposes of determining that the Projects meet at least a minimum threshold of 
1100 of the total possible 1330 1419 available points to qualify for further 
consideration.  Developments not scoring the minimum Development Evaluation 
Criteria score of 1100 of the total possible 1419 1330 available points will not receive 
further consideration.  

• Non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals will meet at least a minimum threshold of 
850 of the total possible 1419 1330 available points to qualify for further 
consideration. Non-competitive developments not scoring the minimum Development 
Evaluation Criteria score of 850 of the total possible 1419 1330 available points will 
not receive further consideration. 

• The Development Evaluation Criteria, other QAP Selection Criteria and information 
submitted or obtained with respect to Projects will be used to assist the MBOH Board 
in evaluating and comparing Projects. 

• Development Evaluation Criteria scoring is only one of several considerations taken 
into account by the MBOH Board.  It does not control the selection of Projects that 
will receive an Award of tax credits.  For purposes of this QAP and HC Awards and 
Allocations, the QAP Selection Criteria include all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides, priorities and data 
set forth in this QAP and all federal requirements. 
 

1.  Extended Low Income Use* (100 points possible) 

49



ATTACHMENT I 

 
37 

 

Federal law requires a 30-year or longer Extended Use Period.  An Application in which the 
Applicant agrees to maintain units for low income occupancy beyond the Compliance Period 
will receive points as indicated below and must incorporate these restrictions into the 
Restrictive Covenants.  

Years beyond initial 15 

15 years 0     points  (30 total years) 

16 – 20 years 40   points  (31 – 35 years) 

21 – 25 years 60   points  (36 – 40 years) 

26 – 30 years 80   points  (41 – 45 years) 

Over 30 years 100 points        (46 years +) 

 

Eventual Home Ownership* Applications must also specify an Extended Use Period and will 
receive points for the Extended Use Period chosen as provided above (refer to the “Eventual 
Home Oownership” portion of Section 3 for supplemental Application documentation and 
information requirements). 

2.  Lower Income Tenants* (220 points possible) 

An Application will receive points for the percentage of eligible units at the percentages of 
area median income (“AMI”) levels listed below.  An Application will receive points for 40%, 
50%, and 60% categories when the development targets those income and rent levels.  
Points awarded for 40% units are independent of and not calculated as part of 50% or 60% 
units, except that the number of 40% units included in the Project, if any, that exceed 10% 
of eligible units will be added to the number of 50% units for purposes of point scoring 
under the chart below.  Developments will be bound by the terms committed to in the 
application process through the use of the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants.  Section C, 
Part IV, Rent and Forecasted Income of the UniApp will be used to calculate the score for 
this item.  Scoring under the following chart is based upon the total number of HC units 
including a manager’s unit if applicable. 

Target Median Income Level Percentage of Eligible Units Points 

40%  10% (or greater) 20  NOTE 1 

50%  15-20% 60  NOTE 1 

50%  21-40% 80  NOTE 1 

50%  41-60% 150 NOTE 1 

50%  61-100% 200 NOTE 1 

60%  40% 0 

60%  41-60% 20 

60%  61-100% 40 

NOTE 1: Rents @ 40% allowed to income qualify to 49% AMI. 

 Rents @ 50% allowed to income qualify to 55% AMI (40-/60 election must apply) 

 (Applicable to all existing HC properties)  

3.  Project Location* (100 points possible) 

50



ATTACHMENT I 

 
38 

 

An Application will be awarded points to the extent the Project is located in an area where 
amenities and/or essential services will be available to tenants, determined according to the 
following specifications.  An Application will be awarded points with respect to an amenity or 
service as specified below, if: (i) a Project is located within 1½ miles of the specified 
amenity or essential service; (ii) public or contracted transportation (not including taxi or 
school bus service) is reasonably available to the specified amenity or service (i.e., the 
Project is located within ¼ mile of fixed bus stop or on a same day call basis); or (iii) where 
applicable, the specified amenity or service is available via a no-charge delivery service to 
the Project Location:  

• 20 points for grocery store (convenience store does not count); and 
• 10 points for each of the following, up to a maximum of 80 points: 

o One or more public schools; 
o Senior Center; 
o Bank; 
o Laundromat (only if washer/dryer not included in unit or onsite); 
o Medical services appropriate and available to all prospective tenants (e.g., 

hospital, doctor offices, etc.); 
o Pharmacy services appropriate and available to all prospective tenants; 
o Gas station and/or convenience store; 
o Post Office; 
o Public Park; 
o Shopping (department, clothing or essentials – does not include convenience 

store); or 
o Public Library. 

4. Housing Needs Characteristics* (190 points possible) 

Development meets area housing needs and priorities and addresses area market concerns, 
such as public housing waiting lists (for all units and tenants), Vacancy Rate and type of 
housing required.   

• Community Input (40 points possible): Up to a total of 40 points will be awarded 
for this Community Input.  10 points will be awarded for each of the items (i) 
through (iv) through which community input regarding the proposed Project was 
gathered, as shown by evidence provided in the Application or in response to MBOH 
inquiries through: (i) neighborhood meetings held expressly for this Application with 
attendance rosters and minutes; (ii) local charrettes held expressly for this 
Application with supporting documents, concept drawings, and input from 
community; and/or (iii) other appropriate form of community input specifically 
designed to gather community input for this Application; and/or (iv) City or County 
Commission meeting.  In order to obtain the available points under this bullet item 
(iii), there must be actual community input in some form.  If a community meeting is 
held but there is no attendance, another form of community input must be used.  No 
points will be awarded if the meeting or charrette is part of another public or design 
meeting, unless the minutes demonstrate that a portion of the meeting was 
specifically dedicated to community input for this Application.  No points will be 
awarded if the Application does not provide evidence of qualifying community input, 
including minutes of any meeting, charrette or other form of community input and 
copies of any written comments received.  Documentation of community outreach 
efforts to inform and invite community members to attend any of the community 
input events must be included. 
 

• Appropriate Size (50 points possible):  Points will be awarded for the 
appropriateness of size of the development for market needs and concerns as 

51



ATTACHMENT I 

 
39 

 

reflected in the Market Study.  50 points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is 50% or less than the number of units needed as projected by the 
Project’s Market Study.  No points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is more than 50% of the number of units needed as projected by the 
Project’s Market Study. For projects developed, rehabilitated or constructed in a 
location that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great Falls, 
Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula, no points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is more than 75% (rather than 50%) of the number of units needed as 
projected by the Project’s Market Study.  If the Project is existing in the community, 
the number of units in the Project will be added to the new units needed and the 
above test will be applied.  The Application narrative must address this scoring item 
with citations to the relevant pages and paragraphs of the market study.   
 

• Appropriate Development Type (40 points possible): Points will be awarded for 
the appropriateness of the development type for market needs and concerns as 
reflected in the Project’s Market Study.  40 points will be awarded if the Project’s 
Market Study explains and justifies the selection of the type of construction and 
housing selected (including justification of Rehab/New Construction, Family/Elderly, 
Single-Family/Multi-Family, bedroom size and Eventual Home Ownership).  If this 
explanation and justification is not included in the Project’s Market Study, no points 
will be awarded in this category.  The Application narrative must address this scoring 
item with citations to the relevant pages and paragraphs of the market study.  
 

• Market Need (60 points possible):  The Application will be awarded points based 
upon the required Market Study’s documentation that the Project meets the market 
needs of the community, as follows: 

o Vacancy Rate is at or below 5% (20 points); 
o Absorption rate is less than 4 months (20 points) or Absorption rate is 4 or 

more months and less than 6 months (10 points) and 
o Rents are at least 10% below adjusted market rents (20 points). 

Narrative references to the Market Study must cite the referenced page and paragraph of 
the Market Study. 

5. Project Characteristics* (240 269 points possible) 

Preservation of or Increase in Housing Stock (20 50 points possible) 

20 points will be awarded if the Application proposes the Preservation of existing affordable 
housing stock or increases the affordable housing stock through the use of federal funds or 
funds from other sources (e.g., donation of land, other substantial donations, reduction in 
taxes through tax abatement (other than non-profit exemption) or impact fees) to leverage 
the tax credit dollars.  

Qualified Census TrackTract* or Community Revitalization Plan* (10 points 
possible) 

10 points will be awarded if the Project is located in a Qualified Census Tract* or involves 
existing housing as part of a local (not national, state or regional) community 
revitalization plan* or similar plan.  The Application must include any such local community 
revitalization plan and identify where in the plan such existing housing may be found.   

Preservation of Affordable Housing Projects* (20 points possible) 

20 points will be awarded if the Application proposes the Acquisition and/or Rehabilitation of 
buildings with local, state, and/or federal historic* preservation designations, existing 

52



ATTACHMENT I 

 
40 

 

affordable housing stock, or Projects applying for Rehabilitation tax credits that have 
completed their Compliance Period. 

Project-based rental subsidy (50 points possible): 

 0 points for less than 25% of the units; 

 10 points for at least 25% of the units; 

 20 points for at least 35% of the units; 

 30 points for at least 50% of the units; 

 40 points for at least 75% of the units; or  

 50 points for 100% of the units. 

The Application must provide a copy of the relevant contract or other documentary proof of 
subsidy from the provider.  MBOH staff will verify claimed subsidies with funding source. 

Amenities (3940 points possible):   

Applications will be awarded 310 points for each 3 of the followingfor each of the higher 
quality amenities listed in the Amenities Form that will be provided at no charge to tenants 
in the Project up to a maximum of 40 39 points:  
For an amenity not included in all units, such amenity will be counted as a partial amenity 
based upon the ratio of number of units with the amenity to total units in the Project.  
Partial amenities may be combined to constitute one or more entire amenities for purposes 
of receiving an award of 3 points per amenitymeeting the 3-amenity requirement to obtain 
an award of 10 points.  These amenity items are:Amenities qualifying for points are listed in 
the Amenities Form available on the MBOH website at [URL]. 
Units:   Amenities must be identified on a per unit basis. 

Dishwasher Washer/dryer hookups 

Disposal Washer/dryer provided in unit 

 

Microwave Carport/garage 

 

Extra Storage outside unit Air conditioning 

High quality cabinets High quality flooring 

Patios or Balconies N/A 

Community: 

Computer(s) for tenant use Play area 

Community room Community garden 

Basketball hoop/pad Car plug ins 

Outdoor community area Library 

53



ATTACHMENT I 

 
41 

 

On site manager Laundry room 

Use of existing terrain and landscaping that matches the surrounding area to enhance the 
grounds for innovative accessibility 

 
Amenities listed above (dishwasher, washer/dryer, microwave, carport/garage, extra 
storage outside unit, etc.)on the Amenities Form must all be accessible amenities in/for 
handicapped/504 units. 
 
Luxury amenities will not be considered or funded with tax credits.  Items deemed luxury 
amenities include but are not limited to swimming pools, golf courses, tennis courts and 
similar amenities.   

The added costs of the Project attributable to higher quality amenities will be considered on 
a Project by Project basis for a cost to benefit assessment. 

Amenities provided will not be used for Commercial Purposes.  All Projects previously 
awarded tax credits are subject to this restriction but are grandfathered only to the extent 
Commercial Purposes were specifically included in the Application.   

Green Building and Energy Conservation Standards* (100 points possible):   

Applicant’s justification for green building and energy conservation includes but is not 
limited to Energy Star building and appliance initiatives, water saving devices and green 
construction and materials.  The green building and energy conservation items are listed 
and further described, and the available points and evaluation scoring criteria are specified, 
for New Construction and Rehabilitation in the worksheet Exhibit FMBOH Green Building and 
Energy Form.  The Application must include the completed worksheet (Exhibit F).  The 
Applicant’s architect, who is qualified with respect to energy and green building standards, 
must provide a letter confirming the listed green building and energy conservation items 
incorporated into the Project and this letter must be included in the Application.  NOTE: The 
Applicant’s architect also must provide certification at Final Cost Certification for 8609(s) 
purposes confirming that the initiatives were incorporated.     

Please refer to Section 3 for mandatory blower door and infrared testing for Projects that 
have been Awarded HCs. 

 
6.  Development Team Characteristics* (330 points possible) 

Participation by an entity with a demonstrated track record of quality experience in 
completed development or management of low income housing tax credit Projects.  MBOH 
will consider all members of the Development Team (Applicant, Owner, Developer, General 
Partner, Management Company, and HC Consultant) and whether housing Projects have 
been developed and operated with the highest quality either in Montana or another state.  
Special attention will be paid to existing Projects, amount of active local community 
participation used to develop Projects, and a management entity with a good compliance 
track record and specialized training.  If a new Developer these points can be obtained 
through Experienced Partners.  (180 points possible) 

Thirty points each will be awarded for (a) one member of the Management Company 
meeting the education requirement under Section 12, and (b) one member of the 
Development Team (other than the Management Company) who is directly and actively 
involved with the Project that has been trained and maintains certification by a Nationally 
Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company.  For MBOH purposes, to maintain 

54



ATTACHMENT I 

 
42 

 

certification, the person must attend a complete class with a Nationally Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company at least once every four years (certificates must be attached 
with each Application).  MBOH annual compliance training does not qualify for credit under 
this category (60 points possible). 

Ninety points will be awarded if the Project’s Developer or Consultant who is actively 
involved in the actual construction process has experience with Cold Weather Development 
and Construction, as reported on Exhibit Hthe MBOH Cold Weather Experience Form.  Cold 
Weather Development and Construction is defined as experience of the HC Developer or 
Consultant on one or more Projects located above the 40 degrees north parallel (90 points 
possible). 

The application must list all affordable housing including low-income housing tax credit 
Projects in Montana or any other state developed, owned, managed or consulted on by 
Aapplicant and any member of the Development Team or for which an Award of tax credits 
was received, whether or not such Projects were successfully completed.  All Development 
Team members, including Applicant, Developer, General Partner/Owner, Management 
Company, and HC Consultant  must consent in writing, on a form provided in the UniApp 
Supplement, to the release of information by any other applicable state tax credit agencies 
to MBOH regarding the Applicant’s history of performance on other tax credit Projects. 

7.  Participation of Local Entity (50 60 points possible) 

A proposal involving significant participation by a Local Entity separate from the Developer 
must be evidenced by a signed agreement to participate.  The MBOH Board has determined 
having a Local Entity participate at a significant level increases the success and acceptance 
of the Project into the community.  Up to 60 points may be awarded for participation of one 
or more local entities.  10 points will be awarded for each of the local entity participation 
items (i) through (vi) documented in the Application as provided below. 

Qualifying Examples of significant participation includes Local Entities providing: (i) on-site 
tenant services, such as screening and referring of individuals as prospective tenants or; (ii) 
providing on-sitesupportive services to Project tenants, through a formal written agreement, 
which agreement must be extended or replaced so that an agreement remains in place for 
the duration of the Extended Use Period (with such agreement preserving the Owner’s right 
to cancel the agreement and obtain a replacement agreement with a new servicer if existing 
servicer is unable to provide the services); (iii) donation of land or sale at a reduced price to 
enhance affordability; (iv) use of grant money to develop infrastructure or for other uses; or 
(v) significant fee waivers on city local government fees. ; or (vi) other forms of significant 
mMonetary or other material support will also be considered.  Note:  Information submitted 
during each round of Applications will be compared to other Applications within the same 
round.   

Each item of local entity participation must be evidenced by a binding written agreement to 
participate, binding grant or conveyance, binding commitment for fee waivers, etc.  Such 
agreements may be conditioned upon an Award of Credits.  Formal written agreements are 
required; letters, offers or other non-binding documents will not be accepted as sufficient 
documentation of local entity participation under this section.  Only new or updated 
agreements, land donations, and/or grants requested or negotiated for the current round 
will be considered for awarding points.  The Application must provide evidence of a 
connection with orhow such local entity support from some part of the local community and 
how it will benefit the property.  Formal written agreement for ongoing services must be 
extended or replaced so that a binding agreement remains in place for the duration of the 
Extended Use Period (with such agreement preserving the Owner’s right to cancel the 
agreement and obtain a replacement agreement with a new servicer if existing servicer is 
unable to provide the services).  The same component of participation by a local entity may 

55



ATTACHMENT I 

 
43 

 

not be counted toward more than one item, and may be given credit by an award of points 
only once.  Points will not be awarded for the same item in both this Development 
Evaluation Criteria 7 and Development Evaluation Criteria 5, Preservation of Affordable 
Housing. 

8.  Tenant Populations with Special Housing Needs* (100 points possible) 

An Application will be awarded 10 points for each 5% of the units targeting the following 
identified needs up to a maximum of 100 points.  The Application must specify the number 
of units targeted for each category.  Section B Part XII, Units Accessibility, of the UniApp 
will be used to calculate the score for this item.  Units may not be counted more than once 
or in more than one category for purposes of awarding points.    

• Units targeted specifically for individuals with children or large families (units with 2 
or more bedrooms). 

• Units targeted specifically as Section 504 fully accessible units exceeding minimum 
fair housing requirements. 

• Units targeted specifically for persons with disabilities (limited to a maximum of 25% 
of units in the Project) (Application must describe the strategy that will be used to 
market available units to disabled persons throughout the Extended Use Period). 

• Units targeted to veterans (limited to a maximum of 25% of units in the Project). 
• Units victims of domestic violence (limited to a maximum of 25% of units in the 

Project) 

If the Project is an Elderly Property as defined in federal law, the Application will receive 100 
points under this provision. 

Example:   

2 – 2 bdrm units meet family requirement 20% – 40 points 

2 – 1 bdrm units exceed section 504 20% – 40 points 

1 – 1 bdrm unit targeted to mental illness 10% – 20 points 

5 – 1 bdrm units with no targeting 50% – 0 points 

10 – Total units in Project – 100 total points received 

9.  Percentage of Credits Funding Total Project Cost (from minus (-) 50 to a 
positive 50 points possible) 

Projects proposing Total Project Cost to be funded by Housing Credits at the following levels 
will be assigned negative points (minus (-) 50) or awarded positive points (50 points) as 
follows: 

• New Construction (NC) equal to or above 75%  minus (-) 50 points; 
• Rehabilitation (Rehab) equal to or above 70%  minus (-) 50 points; 
• Combined NC/Rehab   equal to or above 72.5%  minus (-) 50 points; 
• New Construction (NC) below 75%    10050 points; 
• Rehabilitation (Rehab) below 70%    10050 points; 
• Combined NC/Rehab   below 72.5%    10050 points; 

Percentage numbers will not be rounded upward or downward for purposes of this Section.  
A Project is entitled to points in only one of the 3 categories New Construction, 
Rehabilitation and Combined New Construction/Rehabilitation. 

910. Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness (Up to minus (-) 400 points 
possible) 

56



ATTACHMENT I 

 
44 

 

If an entity or individual participating in a Project as a member of the Development Team 
identified in an Application has a demonstrated poor track record or demonstrated past 
management weaknesses with respect to developments in Montana or in another state, or 
has failed in the past to respond timely to an MBOH letter of Inquiry with respect to a 
Project, MBOH may assign negative points.   

a. Demonstrated Poor Track Record 

For purposes of determining a participant’s track record, MBOH may contact community 
officials, Developer teamDevelopment Team or Development Team member references, 
credit bureaus, other state tax credit administering agencies and any other sources as 
MBOH deems appropriate.  Up toAs much as minus (-) 100 points may be assigned for each 
of the following: (i) demonstrated poor track record with respect to developments in 
Montana or in another state, and/or (ii) for failure to respond within 10 working days of 
MBOH letter of inquiry. (Up to Minus (-) 200 points possible) 

b. Demonstrated Management Weaknesses 

Applicants, Consultants, Developers, Owners or other Development Team members with 
past demonstrated management weaknesses, including but not limited to those 
management weaknesses listed below may be assigned negative points for this section (Up 
to Minus (-) 200 points possible), for example:  

• Has not followed-through on the development of a Project from Application to rent-
up and operation; 

• Has not complied with MBOH submission, compliance or other requirements 
applicable during Project development, construction and Extended Use Period; 

• Has not maintained a Project to Section 42 or other program standards; 
• Has or had numerous or outstanding substantial non-compliance issues or IRS  

8823’s (consideration will be given the type of 8823); 
• Has not been trainedcompleted required training in a certified compliance training 

program; 
• Has not retrained completed required management on compliance retraining at least 

every four years; 
• Has requested income targeting changes that are not supported by unanticipated 

hardship; 
• Has requested additional credits more than once;  
• Has made Substantialsignificant Cchanges to previous tax credit applications or has 

failed to notify MBOH and seek approval of Substantial Changes according to QAP 
requirements; or 

• Has significantly diminished the quality and long term viability of a previous Project 
by lowering costs below a reasonable level.; 

• Has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH; or 
• Has been a member of the Development Team for a prior Project that exceeded 

maximum cost per unit at Final Cost Certification. 

Negative points may not be assigned for the same matter under both Section 9(a) and 9(b).   

c. Method of Assigning Negative Points. 

Any negative points will be assigned as follows: 

• The factors that will be considered in determining whether to assign negative points 
and the number of any negative points to be assigned with respect to poor track 
record items, management weaknesses and failure to response to MBOH letters of 
inquiry, include: 

o The nature and seriousness of the incident(s); 

57



ATTACHMENT I 

 
45 

 

o The frequency of such incidents; 
o The incidents were or were not within the control of the individual or entity; 
o The degree and timeliness to and with which the entity or individual 

responded to correction and educational efforts; 
o The responsiveness of the individual or entity in responding timely to fees, 

penalties and other sanctions imposed; 
o The cost or financial harm caused to the Project, the tax credit agency or 

third parties; 
o The nature and extent of inconvenience and harm caused to Project tenants; 
o The nature and extent of damage or expense caused to Project property; 
o The extent to which the Project as completed failed to comply with the Project 

as represented in the Application or in approved Project changes; 
o The extent to which the incident would have affected scoring of the Project 

Application if known as the time (although no such effect on Application 
scoring need be shown to justify an assignment of negative points);  

o The extent to which completion of a Project that received an Award of Credits 
was substantially delayed or prevented; 

o The extent to which Credits that were Awarded were recaptured; 
o The extent to which unreasonable or excessive fees, profits or other improper 

remuneration was derived improperly from a Credit Award or Project; and  
o The presence of any other relevant factors or considerations.    

• Except as otherwise provided in this Section, negative points will be assigned on the 
next competitive 9% Credit Application (or multiple Applications in the same 
competitive round) which includes as part of its Development Team any person or 
entity that participated as a Development Team member in the Project or Projects 
giving rise to the negative point assignment.   

• If multiple and/or repeat instances of poor performance, management weakness or 
fail to respond occur or have occurred, negative points may be assigned with respect 
to a Development Team member for not only the first competitive round in which an 
Application involving such member participates but may also be assigned for such 
Applications in multiple future years or competitive rounds. 

• If negative points are assigned as a result of poor track record, management 
weakness or failure to respond that occurred as part of the 
development/construction/rehabilitation process prior to beginning of lease-up 
activities or other involvement of the Qualified Management Company, negative 
points will not be assigned with respect to such Qualified Management Company.  

• If more than one Development Team member subject to a negative point assignment 
from a prior Project is part of the Development Team on a current or future Project 
Application, the total negative points assigned to the Application will be the greatest 
number of negative points assigned with respect to any one such participating 
Development Team member. 

• If the Project giving rise to the negative points would have received a lower 
Development Evaluation Criteria score under the QAP under which the Project 
initially was evaluated, scored and awarded credits had the poor track record, 
management weakness or failure to respond been known as of Application scoring, 
the negative points assigned with respect to a Development Team member from the 

58



ATTACHMENT I 

 
46 

 

earlier Application will be the number of points corresponding to the difference in 
scoring that would have resulted.  Such point difference shall be converted as 
appropriate and necessary to correspond to the current QAP point scoring system.   

 

* Indicates federally mandated criteria 

Minimum Scoring Threshold 
Developments not scoring the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria score of 1100 
points (or 850 points for non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals will not receive further 
consideration.  Applications scoring at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria 
score of 1100 points or 850 points for non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals and meeting 
all other requirements of this QAP will be considered for an Award of tax Housing Ccredits as 
provided in this QAP.    

Award Determination Selection Standard 
The MBOH Board will select those Projects to receive an Award of tax Housing Ccredits that 
it determines best meet the most pressing housing needs of low income people within the 
state of Montana, taking into consideration: (i) all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides, priorities and data 
(including without limitation the statistical data in the MBOH Statistical Data FormExhibit G) 
set forth in this QAP and all federal requirements (together referred to in this QAP as the 
“Selection Criteria”); (ii) the Development Evaluation Criteria scoring; and (iii) all other 
information provided to the MBOH Board regarding the applicant Projects. 

The awarding of points to Projects pursuant to the Development Evaluation Criteria is for 
purposes of determining that the Projects meet at least the minimum Development 
Evaluation Criteria required for further consideration and to assist the MBOH Board in 
evaluating and comparing Projects.  Development Evaluation Criteria scoring is only one of 
several considerations taken into account by the MBOH Board and does not control the 
selection of Projects that will receive an Award of tax Housing Ccredits.  In addition to any 
other Selection Criteria specified in this QAP, the MBOH Board may consider the following 
factors in selecting Projects for an Award of tax Housing Ccredits to qualifying Projects: 

• The geographical distribution of tax Housing Ccredit Projects; 
• The rural or urban location of the Projects; 
• The overall income levels targeted by the Projects; 
• The need for affordable housing in the community, including but not limited to 

current Vacancy Rates; 
• Rehabilitation of existing low income housing stock; 
• Sustainable energy savings initiatives; 
• Financial and operational ability of the Applicant to fund, complete and maintain the 

Project through the Extended Use Period; 
• Past performance of an Applicant in initiating and completing tax credit Projects;  
• Cost of construction, land and utilities, including but not limited to costs/credits per 

square foot/unit; and/or 
• The frequency of Awards in the respective areas where Projects are located.  

If the MBOH Board Awards Ccredits to an Applicant where the Award is not in keeping with 
the Selection Criteria of this QAP, it will publish a written explanation that will be made 
available to the general public pursuant to Section 42(m)(1)(A)(iv) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. 

59



ATTACHMENT I 

 
47 

 

If all of the authorized Ccredits are Awarded after a particular cycle, MBOH may place 
qualifying Applications which did not receive an Award of tax credits on a waiting list for 
potential Award of tax Housing Ccredits in the event Ccredits become available at a later 
date.  Any available Ccredits that are not Awarded or reserved in a particular cycle may in 
the discretion of the MBOH Board be made available for Award in a future cycle or may be 
used to increase the amount of tax Housing Ccredits reserved for a previously Awarded 
Project as provided in this QAP.   

 
SECTION 10 – RESERVATION, CARRYOVER AND FINAL 
ALLOCATION 
Once MBOH has selected Projects and determined the Award of tax Housing Ccredits and 
amount of Ccredits to be reserved, MBOH will provide a Reservation Agreement, Gross Rent 
Floor Election, and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants to the partnership for execution and 
return to MBOH. 

Reservation Agreement 
MBOH will provide a Reservation Agreement, Gross Rent Floor Election, and Declaration of 
Restrictive Covenants to the partnership for execution and return to MBOH.  The partnership 
should review, complete, sign, and return the Reservation Agreement and Gross Rent Floor 
Election, along with the additional information and materials required below.  A Reservation 
Agreement is MBOH’s conditional commitment to make a Carryover Allocation Commitment 
and/or Final Allocation to the Project, subject to the requirements and conditions of the 
Reservation Agreement, the QAP and federal law.  Such requirements include but are not 
limited to submission of evidence of timely progress toward completion of the development 
acceptable to MBOH and compliance with federal tax credit requirements.  

If an unsuccessful Applicant, or a party associated with such Applicant, commences any 
legal action or proceeding challenging MBOH’s Award determination or process, MBOH will 
make a Carryover Allocation Commitment or Final Allocation of tax Housing Ccredits as 
required by an executed Reservation Agreement to the same extent it would have been 
bound to do in absence of the legal challenge, unless the court determines that such 
Applicant was not eligible or qualified under the applicable QAP to receive an Award of tax 
Housing Ccredits or MBOH otherwise determines that it is precluded by Court order from 
doing so.  If a court determines in any such action or proceeding that MBOH must Award 
Ccredits to one or more unsuccessful Applicants from such round or year, such Award or 
Awards will be made using any available returned or unreserved tax Housing Ccredits or 
current year’s Ccredits provided in Section 7. 

The following will be required from the partnership, prior to entering into a Reservation 
Agreement: 

• Demonstrated financial ability to proceed (conditional financing commitment); and 
• Certain other updated Application material 

MBOH will send the successful Applicant a Reservation Agreement shortly after Award and 
upon meeting the foregoing requirements.  The Applicant will have a maximum of 120 days 
after award to accept, sign and return the Reservation Agreement.  Failure to return the 
Agreement by the deadline will result in a late fee of 25% of the Reservation Fee.  
Where applicable, however, if the Owner elects the federal percentage(s) in the month that 
the Reservation is issued by MBOH, the Reservation Agreement must be signed and 
returned on or before the 25th of that month to assure the lock-in of the rate.  Owners 
electing the placed-in-service date should return the signed Reservation Agreement 

60



ATTACHMENT I 

 
48 

 

immediately.  Upon receipt, MBOH will sign the Reservation Agreement, and return a copy 
to the partnership. 

The  Reservation Fee specified in the fee schedule in Section 5 will be due and must be 
received by MBOH on or before December 1 of the year in which the Award is made (e.g., 
December 1, 2016 for 2016 credit Awards made in January 2016).    

Once the partnership enters into a Reservation Agreement with MBOH, the partnership must 
then meet the requirements and conditions described in the Reservation Agreement and 
provide the required documentation before it receives a Carryover Allocation Commitment 
or Final Allocation of tax Housing Ccredits.   

MBOH will revoke an approved tax credit Reservation and terminate the Reservation 
Agreement when a Project fails to make successful progress toward completion or otherwise 
fails to perform its obligations under the Reservation Agreement.  Submitting quarterly 
status reports demonstrating satisfactory evidence of the Project’s completion is the 
responsibility of the Applicant.  Successful progress toward Project completion and Project 
completion require that such progress and completion are in substantial accordance with the 
Project as described and proposed in the Project Application, except to the extent that 
Ssubstantial Cchanges have been approved by the Board as provided in the Applicable QAP.        

NOTE:  Reservation Agreements for tax credit Projects funded through tax-exempt bonds 
must be completed, signed, and returned to MBOH not later than five business days 
following the close of the bond financing agreement. 

Gross Rent Floor Election 
The election on this form verifies when the Owner elects the gross rent floor for the Project. 
There are two options: at the Reservation/Initial Allocation, or at the date Placed in Service.   
This form reflects the election made by the Owner in the Reservation Agreement. This form 
must be returned with the executed Reservation Agreement. 

Declaration of Restrictive Covenants 
The Declaration of Restrictive Covenants assures that the land and its use will be restricted 
for the purposes of providing low-income housing for the period proposed in the Application.  
Provisions included in the Restrictive Covenants will include Exhibit A-1 (Legal Description of 
Project Land); Exhibit A-2 (Conditions of Tax Credit Allocation) indicating the number of 
units at the appropriate elected rent levels, e.g., 30%, 40%, 50%, 60% AMI as determined 
by the Application.  Owners will be required to maintain those rent levels through the 
Extended Use Period of the Project; Exhibit A-3 (Energy and Green Building) indicating the 
architect’s letter provided in the Application outlining those energy and green building 
initiatives.   

It is the Developer’s responsibility to record the Declaration of 
Restrictive Covenants in the county in which the Project real 
property is located.  In unusual circumstances, and for good 
cause shown, MBOH may permit amendments to the 
Declaration of Restrictive Covenants at a subsequent date. 
 

Carryover Commitment 
MBOH will issue a Carryover Commitment in December of the year for which the credits are 
being Awarded and such Carryover will be for a period of two (2) years. To preserve this 

61



ATTACHMENT I 

 
49 

 

commitment the Owner/Developer must submit the 10% Carryover Cost Certification by the 
deadline specified in the Applicable QAP.  

Carryover Commitment  
In order to receive a Carryover commitment, Owners must provide Proof of Ownership 
(evidence of title or right to possession and use of the property for the duration of the 
Compliance Period and any Extended Use Period plus one year, e.g., a recorded deed or an 
executed lease agreement), executed and recorded Restrictive Covenants, and the 
Reservation fee.  Land lease periods must be at least one year longer than the Restrictive 
Covenant period.  These items must be received by December 1, of the year for which the 
Award of Ccredits was made.  MBOH will issue Carryover Ccommitments before year end. 

10% Test 
MBOH requires that more than 10% of the expected basis in a Project, including land, must 
be expended by the 10% Carryover Cost Certification deadline.  MBOH requires that 
Developers provide an independent third party CPA Cost Certification, in a format 
established by MBOH, verifying compliance with the 10% test.  

Developers must submit the 10% requirements, including the required CPA Cost 
Certification, other documents and the 10% test underwriting fee by the deadline.  Failure 
to do so will result in the loss of the Ccredit Award.  The fee for 10% test underwriting is 
$1,000.00, which fee must be paid at the time of submission of 10% test information and 
documentation.  Failure to provide the 10% test information so that it is received by 
MBOH by the deadline will result in a $5,000.00 late fee.  At the Developer’s 
request, one extension will be granted if requested before the deadline.  A fee of 
$2,500.00 will be imposed for the extension.  The extension will not exceed the 
period allowed by federal law. 

At 10% Test, MBOH staff will re-evaluate: 

• The Sources and Uses of funds; 
• Total financing planned for the Project; 
• Proceeds or receipts expected to be generated by the tax Housing Ccredits; 
• Reasonableness of the development and operation costs; 
• Projected Rental Income and Operational Expenses; 
• Debt Coverage Ratio; and 
• HousingTax Credits required for financial feasibility of the Project. 

Deadline for submission of the required 10% information is the first anniversary of the date 
on which MBOH executed the Reservation Agreementend of the twelfth month following the 
credit Award.  Developers that fail to pay the required fee will be deemed not to have met 
the 10% Test requirements.  Failure to submit certification for 10% documentation or to 
meet the 10% Test will cause forfeiture of Awarded, reserved or allocated tax Housing 
Ccredits for the Project. 

Placed in Service 
Placed in Service (PIS) is the date on which the building is ready and available for its 
specifically assigned function (the date on which the first unit in the building is certified as 
being suitable for occupancy in accordance with State or local law).  This certification is the 
Certificate of Occupancy (C of O). 

New Construction and Gutsubstantial Rehabilitation buildings must be placed in service 
(receive C of O), not later than the close of the second calendar year following the calendar 
year in which the Carryover commitment is made. 

62



ATTACHMENT I 

 
50 

 

Other Rehabs that are not substantial (accomplished with residents in place during Rehab) 
can place in service at the end of the 24 month or shorter period over which the required 
amount of expenditures are aggregated.  The Owner selects the placed in service date in 
this case unless local approval is required. 

Final Allocations/8609 
Documentation supporting a request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s) must be submitted to 
MBOH within 6 months of the last building Placed In Service date. MBOH will not allocate tax 
credits on IRS Form 8609(s) until a qualified building is placed in service.  A site visit and 
file audit by MBOH may be conducted prior to the issuance of the IRS Form 8609(s).  
Notwithstanding other provisions of this QAP, to obtain issuance of Form 8609(s), the 
Project must be placed in service in substantial accordance with the Project as described 
and proposed in the Project Application, except to the extent that Ssubstantial Cchanges 
have been approved by the Board as provided in the Applicable QAP. 

The Final Allocation/8609 underwriting fee is $2,500.00, which fee must be paid at the time 
of submission of the request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s).  If the paperwork is not 
received by MBOH within the 6 months, a $5,000.00 late fee will be assessed. 

The request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s) must include:  

• Certification of required blower door or infrared test results (if not previously 
submitted); 

• The independent third party completed MBOH CPA’s Cost Certification and Owner’s 
Statements Form(available in Exhibit C);  

• Exhibit C Sponsor Certification section of the UniApp;  
• The architect’s verification that the items for green and energy listed in the 

Application  as well as provisions of accessibility listed in Section 3 have been 
incorporated; 

• Certificates of Occupancy (C of O’s);  
• Copies of all permanent loan and/or grant documents; 
• Copy of partnership/equity operating agreement; and 
• Statement of items or costs excluded from eligible basis. 
• Statement identifying the first year of the credit period, which statement must name 

the specific year (e.g., 2017). 
• The Final Allocation/8609 underwriting fee. 

If the required fee is not submitted, the Project will be deemed not to have met Final 
Allocation requirements and MBOH will not issue Form 8609(s).  MBOH will complete the 
final credit Allocation evaluation.  Typical turn-around time for 8609(s) is 4-8 weeks after 
submission of all required documentation and the fee.  Once the 8609(s) are issued and 
delivered to the Owner, the bottom half must be completed and signed.  A copy of each 
completed 8609 must be sent back to MBOH within 90 days of issuance.  Failure to 
provide the completed 8609(s) so that they are received by MBOH by the deadline 
will result in a $1,000.00 late fee.  If the 8609(s) need to be reissued after 
completed by MBOH due to Developer error, the MBOH underwriting fee must be 
paid again. 

 

SECTION 11 - DEVELOPER/APPLICANT RESPONSIBILITIES  
Applicant must respond to a written MBOH request within 10 working days.  Failure to do so 
may result in the Application being deemed ineligible for that funding round.  

63



ATTACHMENT I 

 
51 

 

Applicant must proceed according to the timeframe identified in the Implementation 
Schedule.  Adjustments up to 60 days are acceptable.  Any changes in the Implementation 
Schedule greater than 60 days must be submitted in writing with justification to MBOH.  Any 
changes not reported or not approved may jeopardize the credits.  If the schedule is more 
than 60 days behind, a late fee of $1,000.00 will be assessed. 

State Law Requirements 
The Applicant and Development Team must agree to comply with Montana State law 
requirements (e.g., certificate of contractor registration, workers compensation, 
unemployment compensation, and payroll taxes).  MBOH will include this certification in the 
execution of all Reservation and Carryover Allocation Commitment documents. 

Public Notification 
Any public relations actions by a recipient of tax credits involving MBOH funds or tax credits 
must specifically state that a portion of the funding is from MBOH.  This will be included in 
radio, television, and printed advertisements (excluding rental ads), public notices, and on 
signs at construction sites, e.g., “Housing Credits allocated by the Montana Board of 
Housing, Montana Department of Commerce.” 

Quarterly Status Reporting 
All Applicants receiving Reservations of credits must provide written status reports for each 
calendar quarter, beginning with the quarter in which the tax credit Award is made. Status 
reports will be due on or before January 10th, April 10th, July 10th & October 10th until the 
Applicant receives its 8609(s).  The documentation regarding the progress must be 
development specific, and include such items as planning approval and building permits, 
firm debt and/or equity financing commitments, construction progress (foundation, framing, 
rough in, enclosed, drywall, etc., for each Project building), and lease up progress.  
Submission of photos is encouraged. 

The following items must be addressed for each building on the quarterly report that is 
submitted to MBOH.  If all items are not listedaddressed, the report will be returned.  The 
reportand must be corrected and resubmitted.  If the resubmitted report is received after 
the due date the late fee will apply. 

• Updated implementation schedule if more than 60 days behind 
schedule submitted with application; 

• Advertising for construction bids; 
• Construction bid awards; 
• Pre-construction meeting date; 
• Groundbreaking ceremony date (at least 2 weeks’ notice); 
• Future dates of construction/draw meetings; 
• Each phase of construction for each building including photos 

(excavation, foundation framed, etc.); 
• Certificate of Occupancy for each building as issued for the month of 

report; 
• Number of units occupied and number left to full lease up each 

quarter; and 
• Grand Opening date (at least 2 weeks’ notice). 

Owners must provide a copy of the Certificate of Occupancy for each building.  The 
Certificate of Occupancy must be included in the status report covering the period 

64



ATTACHMENT I 

 
52 

 

in which it was issued.  Failure to provide the reports so that they are received by 
MBOH by the deadline will result in a $500.00 late fee.  This also applies to those 
Properties with ARRA funding. 

All ARRA reports are due on or before the dates listed in the ARRA Exchange or TCAP 
Program Agreement. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the financial audit is not received by MBOH by the 
deadline. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the annual budget is not received by MBOH by the 
deadline. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the annual insurance binder is not received by MBOH by 
the deadline. 

Changes to Project or Application 
The Applicant must immediately notify MBOH in writing at least 30 days beforeof any 
proposed Ssubstantial Cchanges in the Project.  ProposedMBOH must review and approve 
any proposed Ssubstantial Cchanges to the Project must be approved by MBOH. 

, including but not limited to changes to: 

Applicant, Developer, HC Consultant or any other principal participant in the Project; 

Quality of construction; 

Unit composition;  

Target group; 

Location;  

Required information presented in the Application.   

Sources and Uses (refer to Section 3). 

Any change that would have affected the Application scoring under the Applicable QAP 

Specific approval by the MBOH Board is required for Ssubstantial Cchanges.  MBOH staff will 
review requested Substantial Changes and may approve or deny approval of such changes, 
or may request Board consideration and determination of the change request.  If MBOH 
staff denies approval of any Project Change, the Applicant may request Board review and 
approval of the change request.  Requests must be submitted to MBOH with proper 
justification at least 30 days before the change is expected to take place.  The Applicant 
must inform MBOH staff if the proposed change requires immediate or urgent review and 
approval.  MBOH review and Board approval of changes must be completed prior to the 
change taking effect.  Changes completed without MBOH Board approval, may result in the 
termination of the Reservation Agreement and/or loss of some or all credits. 

Any requested changes submitted requiring MBOH action may incur additional fees.  
Changes to tax creditthe Project site, construction of building(s), architectural, engineering, 
or any on-site review by any member of MBOH will incur additional charges.  Fees will be 
determined based upon the cost of MBOH Staff travel for that purpose. 

 
SECTION 12 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING  
Federal law requires state allocating agencies (MBOH) to monitor compliance with provisions 
of Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. § 42).  In addition, Federal law 

65



ATTACHMENT I 

 
53 

 

requires allocating agencies to provide a procedure the agency will follow in monitoring for 
non-compliance and to inform tax credit recipients (Owners) of procedures and 
requirements.  

Included in the requirements are procedures for notifying the Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS) of any non-compliance of which the allocating agency becomes aware.  Federal 
income tax regulations related to Procedures for Monitoring Compliance with Housing Credit 
Requirements are published in 26 CFR Part 1 and 602.  

For complete HC compliance guidance, refer to the MBOH HC Compliance Manual, available 
at http://housing.mt.gov/MFCompManualhttp://housing.mt.gov/About/MF/manuals.mcpx 

Compliance Fees 
Developments will incur and must pay to MBOH a compliance monitoring fee to offset the 
costs for MBOH compliance monitoring.  The compliance monitoring fee of $45.00 per each 
non-market unit (subject to change) is payable annually at the time of the Owner's 
Submission of the Owner’s Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance.  

If the Owner’s Certification of Continuing Program Compliancecomplete Annual 
Compliance Package is not received by the deadline, a late fee of $100.00 or 25% 
of the annual compliance monitoring fee, whichever is greater, will be charged. 

Failure to provide corrections on noncompliance so that they are received by the deadline 
set by MBOH by the deadline will result in a $25.00 per day fee until all required 
documentation is received by MBOH.  A one-time extension maywill be granted if a written 
request is submitted to MBOH no later than 10 days prior to the deadline.  OnceIf the 
extension deadline passes without MBOH receipt of the complete documentation, a $25.00 
per day fee will be imposed until all required documentation is received by MBOH. 

The following procedure describes MBOH plans for monitoring compliance on tax credit 
Projects. At minimum, each Project that has been placed in service will be subject to the 
following monitoring requirements: 

Recordkeeping, Record Retention and Data Collection  
Recordkeeping 

The Owner of a low-income housing Project must keep records for each building in the 
Project that shows unit qualifications for each year throughout the term of the Declaration 
of Restricted Covenants, including the Compliance Period and the Extended Use Period in 
effect for such Project. 

The information must show for each year in the Compliance Period: 

• The total number of residential rental units in a building (including the number of 
bedrooms and the size in square feet of each residential rental unit); 

• The percentage of residential rental units in the building that are qualified units; 
• The rent charged on each residential rental unit in the building (including any utility 

allowances and mandatory fees); 
• HC unit vacancies in the building and information that shows when, and to whom, 

the next available units were rented.  If a unit is left vacant, or in a mixed use 
Project is rented to a non-qualifying tenant, the Owner must maintain documentation 
showing a diligent attempt was made to rent the unit to a qualifying tenant; 

• The tenant income certification of each HC tenant (by unit), including annual 
certifications for each continuous tenant;   

• Documentation to support each HC tenant's income certification.  This must include a 
copy of (a) verification of income from third parties, or (b) 6 consecutive paystubs; 

66



ATTACHMENT I 

 
54 

 

• The eligible basis and qualified basis of the building at the end of the first year of the 
credit period; and 

• The character and use of any non-residential portion of the building included in the 
eligible basis of the building, if applicable.   

Records Retention 

Federal regulations require the Owner of a HC Project receiving tax credits to retain the 
records listed above.  The Owner is required to retain such records for at least 6 years after 
the due date for filing the federal income tax return for that year.  Records for the first year 
of the credit period must be retained for at least 6 years beyond the due date for filing the 
federal income tax return for the last year of the Compliance Period.  Owner should also 
retain records relating to the amount of credit claimed for the Montana Housing Tax Credit, 
including the Form 8609(s) and Schedule A of Form 8609(s). 

Data Collection 
To the extent required by federal law, the Owner will assist the MBOH with meeting federal 
reporting requirements by collecting and submitting information annually concerning the 
race, ethnicity, family composition, age, income, use of rental assistance under section 8(o) 
of the United States Housing Act of 1937 or other similar assistance, disability status, and 
monthly rental payments of all qualified households.  

Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance 
The Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance is required on an annual basis for 
each property.  The certificate must to be signed by the Owner and notarized.  This 
statement must be filed with MBOH every year throughout the Extended Use 
Period.  Owners must file annual certifications on the form provided by MBOH. Substitute 
forms are not acceptable.  Failure to provide an annual certification before the date 
established by MBOH may trigger an IRS Form 8823.  

Income and Expense Summary 
All property Owners must submit operating income and cost information for the property’s 
latest fiscal period, including a current balance of replacement and operating reserve 
accounts.   

Submission Deadlines 
The Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance and Tenant Income Certifications 
(TIC) must be submitted on or before the 25th of the month following the assigned annual 
period.  Federal regulations stipulate there must be no more than 12 months between 
certifications.  

All submissions must be filed through Certification On Line (COL). 

Review by MBOH staff 
MBOH will review the items listed above for compliance with the requirements of Section 42 
of the Code and with the requirements of the MBOH HC program. 

Ownership/Management Changes 
Written Notification of changes to property management companies, managers, site 
managers, or changes to points of contact must be submitted to MBOH prior to or 
immediately upon implementation of the change.  Changes not received by MBOH prior to 
change or immediately upon change will result in a $10.00 per day fee until written 
notification is received.  If no notification is received MBOH will research and identify the 

67



ATTACHMENT I 

 
55 

 

date of the change, and impose late fees based upon such date.  No Change in 
mManagement cCompany shall be acceptable unless it results in a Qualified Management 
Company assuming management of the pProperty.  Replacement of a mManagement 
cCompany with a company that is not a Qualified Management Company or failure to timely 
submit such notification to MBOH may trigger issuance of a Form 8823.  All management 
companies, whether in place or being hired, must meet Qualified Management definition. 

Subject to the requirements of Section 42 of the Code, the Restrictive Covenants and the 
Applicable QAP any other applicable restrictions, the Owner may sell, transfer or exchange 
the entire Project at any time.  No portion of a building to which the Restrictive Covenants 
apply may be sold to any person unless all of such building is sold to such person.  Prior to 
such sale, transfer or exchange, however, the Owner must notify in writing and obtain the 
written agreement of any buyer, successor or other person acquiring the Project or any 
interest therein that such acquisition is subject to the requirements of the Restrictive 
Covenants, the requirements of Section 42 of the Code and applicable Regulations, and the 
Applicable QAP.  Such written agreement of the buyer, successor or other person acquiring 
the Project must be in the form required by MBOH, which agreement form is available on 
the MBOH website.  Such form, executed by the buyer, successor or other person acquiring 
the Project must be submitted to MBOH prior to closing of the sale, transfer or exchange.  
The Board may void any sale, transfer or exchange of the Project if the buyer, successor or 
other person fails to assume in writing the requirements of this Agreement and the 
requirements of Section 42 of the Code. 

Education Requirements 
Persons responsible for qualifying tenants and verifying compliance (involved in tenant 
qualification and compliance) must be certified in LIHTC compliance by one of the 
Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Companies.  Property managers and 
property Management Company personnel must complete a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company certification course, passing the test.  For MBOH purposes, to 
maintain certification, the person must attend a class with a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company at least once every four years.  For each of the other three 
years, all property managers and property Management Company personnel should attend 
annual MBOH compliance training.  The property management company and site manager 
for an HC property must be trained and certified before the property is placed in service.  
New site managers hired for existing HC properties must be certified within their first year 
of employment.  New property management companies hired for existing properties must 
be certified before they assume management of a property.  On a case-by-case basis, 
MBOH may approve its compliance training as adequate training until such time as the next 
Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company program is availableoffered 
within Montana.  Training requirements must be met to maintain Qualified Management 
Company status. 

Persons responsible for qualifying tenants and verifying compliance (involved in tenant 
qualification and compliance) must also attend Fair Housing training at least once every four 
years.  The manager for a HC property must complete such training before the property is 
placed in service.  New managers hired for existing HC properties must complete the 
training within their first year of employment. 

Such Fair Housing training must include and cover the following subjects and requirements: 
  

• Protected Classes; 
• Accessibility requirements; 
• Reasonable accommodation/modification; 

68



ATTACHMENT I 

 
56 

 

• Applicant screening; 
• Disparate impact; 
• Domestic violence issues; 
• Occupancy standards; 
• Section 504; and 
• Service Animals. 

 

Tenant Income Certifications (TIC) 
Frequency and Form 

Owners must complete the MBOH TIC for all new move-ins and file it with MBOH through 
Certification On Line (COL).  Documentation supporting the TIC will not be submitted.  
MBOH staff will review supporting documentation during file audits. Timely annual Re-
certifications (TICs) for mixed Projects (with market units) are required must be submitted 
to MBOH through COL.    

The MBOH TIC is the only acceptable form.  

Student Status Certification 
Student status certifications must be completed annually prior to their move-in anniversary 
date. 

On-Site Inspections 
MBOH staff (staff) will perform an on-site inspection of each property at least once every 
three years during the Extended Use Period.  Staff will notify the Owner/manager in 
advance of the inspection. 

Staff must inspect and review at least 20% of the tenant files and corresponding units.  
MBOH will not notify the Project’s manager, Owner or other representative of the unit 
selection before the site inspection.  The selected sample may be expanded. 

Complete copies of all tenant files for each unit from original lease-up forward must remain 
within the State of Montana at the location of the rental property or the regional in-state 
office. 

If MBOH determines it is necessary, properties may be inspected on a cycle of more than 
once every three years.  The cost of any additional inspections will be billed to the 
respective property.   

MBOH may schedule on-site inspections at any time with minimal notice. 

In event of non-compliance under Section 42 of the Code or the implementing regulations 
MBOH may be required or elect to undertake additional monitoring.  The Owner will take 
any and all actions reasonably necessary to achieve and maintain compliance.  Staff may 
require the Owner to document correction of non-compliance and/or MBOH may elect to 
conduct one or more site visit(s) to verify correction of non-compliance. The Owner will pay 
a reasonable fee to MBOH for any such additional monitoring activities. 

Notice To Owner (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(2)) 
MBOH must provide prompt written notice to the Owner if MBOH becomes aware of non-
compliance.  These items include:  

• Non-receipt of the certification(s) described in this QAP.  
• Inaccessibility of tenant income supporting documentation, rent records, or 

the property.   

69



ATTACHMENT I 

 
57 

 

In addition, MBOH must provide prompt written notice to the Owner if MBOH discovers by 
inspection, review, or in some other manner, that the Project is not in compliance with the 
provisions of Section 42. 

Correction Period (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(4)) 
The Owner will be given a reasonable correction period from the date of non-compliance.  If 
Staff determines that good cause exists, an extension may be granted.  

Notice To IRS (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(3)) 
MBOH must file IRS Form 8823 "Low-Income Housing Credit Agencies Report of 
Noncompliance" with the IRS (even if non-compliance has been corrected) no later than 45 
days after the end of the correction period, and no earlier than the end of the correction 
period.   

Liability (26 CFR 1.42 (g)) 
Compliance with the requirements of Section 42 is the responsibility of the Owner of the 
building for which the credit is allowable.  MBOH's obligation to monitor for compliance with 
the requirements of Section 42 does not make the Agency liable for an Owner's 
noncompliance. 

No member, officer, agent, or employee of MBOH shall be personally liable concerning any 
matters arising out of, or in relation to, the compliance monitoring of a low-income housing 
Project. 

Marketing the Project 
MBOH will put all HC properties into the free State-approved Housing Locator website, 
MTHousingSearch.com.  Properties will be contacted by MTHousingSearch for required 
information.  Using this website meets the criteria for advertising vacant units and provides 
for broad coverage to those searching for affordable housing in Montana.   

 

SECTION 13 – DISCLAIMER 
MBOH is charged with allocating no more tax credits to any given development than is 
required to make that development economically feasible.  This decision shall be made 
solely at the discretion of MBOH, but in no way represents or warrants to any Applicant, 
Investor, lender, or others that the development is feasible or viable. 

MBOH reviews documents submitted in connection with this Allocation for its own purposes.  
In Allocation of the tax credits, MBOH makes no representations to the Owner or anyone 
else regarding adherence to the Internal Revenue Code, Treasury regulations, or any other 
laws or regulations governing Montana Housing Tax Credits. 

No member, officer, agent, or employee of MBOH shall be personally liable concerning any 
matters arising out of, or in relations to, the Allocation of the Housing Credit. 

If it is determined that an Applicant has intentionally submitted false information, a credit 
Award may be withdrawn or credits may be recaptured and the Applicant or any Applicant 
involving any related parties or any individual or entity supplying the false information will 
be ineligible to apply for credits for the next five years.  

MBOH Policy on Non-Discrimination 
Montana Board of Housing is an Equal Opportunity organization.  All employees who work 
for MBOH, agree not to discriminate against any client or co-worker based on any protected 

70



ATTACHMENT I 

 
58 

 

class under applicable Federal or Montana law.  The failure of any employee to comply with 
this policy may lead to disciplinary action in accordance with applicable employment policies 
and procedures, including but not limited to immediate termination of employment. 

Qualified Allocation Plan Revisions 
This QAP may be amended at any time after compliance with applicable notice, comment 
and approval requirements. 

MBOH Policy on Civil Rights Compliance 
The Owner, Developer, borrowers and any of their employees, agents, or sub-contractors, 
in doing business with the Montana Board of Housing understand and agree that it is the 
responsibility of the Owner(s) and such other persons and entities to comply with all 
applicable Federal Civil Rights laws and regulations, including without limitation applicable 
provisions of the Fair Housing Laws and Americans With Disabilities Act, and any applicable 
State and local Civil Rights Laws and regulations.  Should requirements, such as design, not 
be specified by MBOH, it is nonetheless the Owner(s) responsibility to be aware of and 
comply with all applicable non-discrimination provisions related to any protected class under 
Federal or Montana law, including design requirements for construction or Rehabilitation, 
Equal Opportunity in regard to marketing and tenant selection and reasonable 
accommodation and modification for those tenants covered under the Laws.  

71



ATTACHMENT I 

 
59 

 

Housing Credit ExhibitsForms: All Exhibits Forms 
Referenced in this QAP are available at:    
http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP  
Applicants, Developers, Owners, Management Companies and all other interested 
persons submitting Applications, Cost Certifications, Compliance materials and 
other material to MBOH are responsible to review the website and to make such 
submission on the most current Form available on the MBOH website as of the 
date of the submission.  MBOH may require resubmission of any item if submitted 
without using the current Form, and late fees may be incurred if the need for such 
resubmission results in late submission of the correct Form.  Please contact MBOH 
staff with any questions regarding the appropriate or current Form.  

 

Exhibit A High Cost Areas 

Exhibit B Full Market Study Requirements  summary change to NEW 
UNIT DEMAND 

Exhibit C 10% and 8609 Letters and Forms 
10% Cost Certification – Independent Auditors’ Report 
10% Owner’s Statement – 10% Carryover Cost Certification 
Final Cost Certification – Independent Auditors’’ Report 
Owner’s Statement – Final Allocation 
Owner’s Statement – Acq/Rehab Final Allocation 
Exhibit A Itemized Action Cost and eligible Basis (New 
Construction) 
Exhibit A Itemized Action Cost and Eligible Basis (Acq/Rehab) 

Exhibit D-1 Letter of Intent Template 

Exhibit D-2 Attachment to Letter of Intent 

Exhibit E  Release of Information Form and List of States and Properties 

Exhibit F Green Checklist  

Exhibit G  Statistical Data 

Exhibit H  Cold Weather Development and Construction Experience 

 

72

http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP


BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting:  November 9, 2015 

 

PROGRAM 
Accounting and Finance   

AGENDA ITEM 
Financial update 

BACKGROUND 
DASHBOARD 

In November of 2015 69% of the investments were in low grossing money 
market accounts. At the end of December that number dropped to 37.3% 
with the remaining investments earning from 3% to 6.25%. 

Mortgage purchases were made for the 2015 series B bond issue.This 
dropped the portfolio balance from $202.7 million to $145.6 million which in 
turn dropped the weighted average yield. 

We now have $83 million that is or will be available for reinvestment or 
other operating purposes.  

MATURITY SCHEDULE 

The portfolio maturity is shown by investment type on the second page in 
the Finance Section. 

  

 

73



Accounting & Finance Dashboard
Data as of December 31, 2015

FNMA = Federal National Mortgage Association

FHLB = Federal Home Loan Bank

FHLMC = Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

FFCB = Federal Farm Credit Bank

Portfolio Maturity
For December 31, 2015

Available Now Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years 6 to 10 years 11 to 15 years 16 to 20 years 21 to 25 years Grand Total
54,377,271$           28,698,000$          37,886,000$          9,409,000$           7,705,000$      2,424,256$           5,147,046$         145,646,573$   

Investment Diversification

Weighted Average Yield Trend

1% 

45% 

2% 

8% 
1% 

3% 

37% 

US Treasury Bonds @ 6.46%

FFCB Bonds @  3.41%

FHLB Discount Note @ 0.30 - 0.62%

FHLMC Bonds @ 3.61 - 6.25%

FNMA DEB @ 5.66 to 6.10%

FNMA MBS @ 4.46 to 5.71%

Investment Contracts @ 5.00%

Money Market @ 0.02 - 0.08

0.60%

0.80%

1.00%

1.20%

1.40%

1.60%

74



Montana Board of Housing
Accounting and Finance

Investment Maturity Schedule
December 31, 2015

Maturity Date Par Value Trustee Bank Invrestment Type
12/31/2015 6,644,005.54                      US Bank Corp Money Market
12/31/2015 47,733,265.89                    Wells Fargo Bank Money Market
02/24/2016 6,003,000.00                      Wells Fargo Bank FHLB DN
05/31/2016 22,695,000.00                    Wells Fargo Bank FHLB DN
12/15/2016 36,656,000.00                    Wells Fargo Bank FHLB DN
05/24/2021 1,230,000.00                      Wells Fargo Bank FFCB
08/15/2025 4,796,000.00                      Wells Fargo Bank T-NOTES & BONDS
04/30/2026 4,613,000.00                      Wells Fargo Bank FNMA DEB
09/27/2027 4,070,000.00                      Wells Fargo Bank FNMA DEB
11/26/2027 3,635,000.00                      Wells Fargo Bank FNMA DEB
07/15/2032 2,225,000.00                      Wells Fargo Bank FHLMC BOND
02/01/2036 79,203.62                           Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS
05/01/2036 31,864.18                           Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS
07/01/2036 88,187.97                           Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS
03/01/2037 156,338.84                         Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS
06/01/2037 4,200,000.00                      Wells Fargo Bank INV CONTRACTS
08/01/2037 43,357.27                           Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS
08/01/2038 74,619.09                           Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS
09/01/2038 63,420.03                           Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS
12/01/2038 497,278.14                         Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS
01/01/2039 40,580.36                           Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS
12/01/2039 71,452.39                           Wells Fargo Bank FNMA MBS

145,646,573.32                 

FNMA = Federal National Mortgage Association

FHLB = Federal Home Loan Bank

FHLMC = Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation

FFCB = Federal Farm Credit Bank

75



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting:  March 14, 2016 

 

PROGRAM 
Homeownership Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
Lender Approval – Rocky Mountain Credit Union 

BACKGROUND 
Rocky Mountain Credit Union has offices in Helena, Bozeman and Belgrade.  Their 
Articles of Incorporation from Montana is dated December 16, 1940 when they operated 
under the name of State Capitol Employee Credit Union.  

They are interested in participating in our MCC program, as well as our loan programs. 
They are approved to originate FHA, VA and RD. 

According to the most recent Report of Condition for quarter ending December 31, 
2015, Rocky Mountain Credit Union has an equity to asset ratio of 10% which meets the 
criteria for MBOH participating lenders (6%). 

All required Errors and Omissions and Fidelity Bond Insurance requirements have been 
met.  Rocky Mountain Credit Union is regulated by National Credit Union Administration 
(NCUA) and no adverse regulatory actions against them exist. 

Rocky Mountain Credit Union’s financial statements are available to Board members on 
request.   

PROPOSAL  
Staff requests for the Board to approve Rocky Mountain Credit Union as a participating 
lender with MBOH.   

 

76



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting:  March 14, 2016 

 

PROGRAM 
Homeownership Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
Adjust Setaside Interest Rate 

BACKGROUND 
The Board has funds setaside for special programs that were created from recycled 
payments of mortgages funded with Pre-Ullman bonds.  These funds are less restrictive 
than regular bond funds.   

The current rate for our Setaside funds is set at 5.5%.  Due to this rate, these funds are 
not being used except for a few special programs such as Habitat and the Disabled 
Program where a lower rate was set by the Board. 

PROPOSAL  
Staff requests for the Board to approve a lower rate on the Setaside funds.  Rate will be 
proposed after the strategic planning session. 

 

77



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting:  March 14, 2016 

 

PROGRAM 
Homeownership Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
Setaside Approval 

BACKGROUND 
This item will be contingent on the approval of the Setaside interest rate adjustment.   

Setaside funds have been used in the past to provide first mortgages for borrowers 
earning up to 80% of area median income who qualify for down payment assistance 
from specific providers, such as the program listed below. 

The Dream Makers Program offers grants for down payment and closing costs to first-
time homebuyers of modest means who valiantly work to protect our country’s national 
security.  

- Active Duty, Reserve, National Guard or veteran military 
- First-time home buyer, or has not owned a home for the last three years, or has lost 

home through divorce or disaster 
- Gross annual income of all applicants used to qualify for mortgage is no more than 

80% of area median income, adjusted for household size.   

The amount of the grant is determined by a 2-to-1 match of the borrower's contribution 
to their mortgage in earnest deposit and cash brought at closing with a maximum grant 
of $5,000.  The borrower must contribute a minimum of $500.  Grant approvals are 
contingent upon available funding. 

PROPOSAL  
Staff requests for the Board to approve to add the Dream Makers Program to the Down 
Payment 1st Mortgage Set-Aside Pool and add a $5,000,000 allocation to the pool.   

 

78



Rates

Current Last Month Last Year

MBOH 3.25 3.25 3.50
Market 3.5 3.63 3.69

10 yr treasury 1.83 1.97 2.00
30 yr Fannie Mae 3.16 3.29 3.39

Loan Programs

Total: Original 
Amount Number Amount Amount Balance

Regular Program
Series 2015B 0                         -   194          29,984,538          30,000,000            15,462 
Series 2016A 26 3,906,360         105 16,583,683         20,000,000               3,416,317 

Set-asides:
Veterans (Orig) 2 392,000            207 30,465,502         40,000,000         9,534,498     
Score Advantage 3 17,000              127 667,189              1,500,000           832,811        
80% Combined (20+) 0 61 7,020,809           9,500,000           2,479,191     
Foreclosure Prevent 0 -                     1 4,365                  50,000                45,635           
Disabled Accessible 0 -                     228 16,497,050         Ongoing 892,950        
Lot Refi 0 -                     12 1,273,560           2,000,000           726,440        
Habitat 0 -                     3 378,654              880,000              501,346        

MBOH Portfolio as of January 2016

5,371 Loans* (4,222 serviced by MBOH)

*This a 5.2% decrease in portfolio size from January 2015 when we had 5,664 loans

Delinquency and Foreclosure Rates

Montana Board of Housing Mortgate Bankers Assoc. Dec. 2015

Jan-16 Dec-15 Dec-14 Montana Region Nation
30 Days 2.43 2.15 2.90 1.48 1.92 2.50
60 Days 1.14 1.25 1.21 0.45 0.64 0.88
90 Days 2.53 2.46 1.93 0.72 1.09 1.66

Total Delinquencies 6.10 5.86 6.04 2.65 3.65 5.04

In Foreclosure 0.71 0.76 0.98 0.74 1.00 1.77

Feb 2016 
reservations

Homeownership Program Dashboard
March 1, 2016

3,026  1,360  

433  
358  

126  68  

FHA 57%

RD 25%

VA 8%

non ins 7%

PMI 2%

HUD184 1%

79



Home Ownership Training and Outreach

Lender Training Sessions (with RD and NeighborWorks)

Kalispell, MT TBD

Upcoming Events in Conjunction with Lender Visits

Missoula Home Builders Show January 8 & 9, 2016
Bitterroot Building Industry Show February 5 & 6, 2016
Billings Home Improvement Show March 4 - 6, 2016
Flathead Home & Garden Showcase March 12 & 13, 2016
Helena Assoc of Realtors, GRI March 15 - 17, 2016
Bozeman Home Show March 19 & 20, 2016
Great Falls Home Show April 1 - 3, 2016
Helena Home Show April 9 & 10, 2016
Montana Housing Partnership Conference May 23 - 25, 2016

80



Board Report for March 2016

                      SETASIDE SUMMARY ADVANCE PACKET REPORT
80% Combined Program
Authorized by the Board 04/22/2013: Program expires 6/30/16 (114)

Original Setaside 4,500,000$           

Additional Setaside Apr 14 700,000$              

Additional Setaside Apr 14 5,000,000$           

Loans Reserved 3 (458,000)$             

Loans Purchased 59 (7,262,810)$          

Remaining Setaside 2,479,191$           

2,479,191$           

FORECLOSURE PREVENTION SETASIDE
Authorized by the Board 09/13/2004: (499)

Original Setaside 50,000$                

Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        

Loans Purchased 1 (4,365)$                 

Remaining Setaside 45,635$                

TOTAL FORECLOSURE PREVENTION SETASIDE: 45,635$                

DISABLED ACCESSIBLE AFFORDABLE HOMEOWNERSHIP PROGRAM (DAAHP)
MORTGAGE RATE OF 2.750% TO 5%; Authorized by the Board 6/1995: expires 6/30/16 (501),(502)

Original Setaside 3,500,000$           

Additional Setaside (Sep 94) 4,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Aug 95) 800,000$              

Additional Setaside (Feb 98) 1,000,000$           

Transfer to CAP IV (Mar 97) (2,000,000)$          

Additional Setaside (Jul 00) 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Aug 01) 500,000$              

Additional Setaside (Oct 02) 500,000$              

Additional Setaside (Mar 04) 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Apr 05) 500,000$              

Additional Setaside (Jan 06) 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Mar 07) 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Feb 08) 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Jul 08) 500,000$              

Additional Setaside (Mar 09) 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Nov 09) 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Nov 10) 500,000$              

Additional Setaside (Jun 13) 560,000$              

Loans Reserved 1 (49,587)$               

Loans Purchased 227 (16,447,463)$        

Remaining Setaside 862,950$              

TOTAL DAAHP SETASIDE: 862,950$              

Score Advantage Second Mortgage 
Authorized by the Board  11/2012 (521)

Original Setaside 1,500,000$           

Loans Reserved 12 68,442$                

Loans Purchased 115 598,747$              

Remaining Setaside 832,811$              

832,811$              

LOT REFINANCE SETASIDE
 Authorized by the Board 07/02; Program expires 6/30/2016: (575)

Original Setaside 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (May 05) 1,000,000$           

Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        

Loans Purchased 12 (1,273,560)$          

Remaining Setaside 726,440$              

TOTAL LOT REFINANCE SETASIDE: 726,440$              

81



HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE
MORTGAGE RATE OF 0.375%; Authorized by the Board 9/97; Program expires 06/30/2016: (580)

Original Setaside 750,000$              

Additional Setaside 700,000$              

Additional Setaside (Feb 02) 250,000$              

Additional Setaside (Feb 02) Conventional Funding 250,000$              

Additional Setaside (Dec 02) Conventional Funding 250,000$               

Additional Setaside (Jun 03) Conventional Funding 500,000$              

Additional Setaside (Feb 06) Conventional Funding 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Oct 07) Conventional Funding 1,000,000$           

Additional Setaside (Sep 08) 350,000$              

Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        

Loans Purchased 74 (5,018,278)$          

Remaining Setaside 31,722$                

TOTAL HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE: 31,722$                

Additional Setaside (Sep 09) 1,000,000$           

Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        

Loans Purchased 9 (735,563)$              
Remaining Setaside 264,437$              

TOTAL HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE: 264,437$              

Additional Setaside (July 10) 1,000,000$           

Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        

Loans Purchased 4 (334,623)$             

Remaining Setaside 665,377$              

TOTAL HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE: 665,377$              

Additional Setaside (July 11) 850,000$              

Loans Reserved 1 (116,487)$             

Loans Purchased 8 (713,743)$             

Remaining Setaside 19,770$                

TOTAL HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE: 19,770$                

Additional Setaside (June 12) 1,125,000$           

Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        

Loans Purchased 7 (682,912)$             

Remaining Setaside 442,088$              

TOTAL HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE: 442,088$              

Additional Setaside (June 13) 1,000,000$           

Loans Reserved 0 (0)$                        

Loans Purchased 7 (710,750)$             

Remaining Setaside 289,250$              

TOTAL HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE: 289,250$              

Additional Setaside (June 14) 1,215,000$           

Loans Reserved 2 (174,918)$             

Loans Purchased 6 (563,279)$             

Remaining Setaside 476,803$              

TOTAL HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE: 476,803$              

Additional Setaside (June 15) 880,000$              

Loans Reserved 1 (109,196)$             

Loans Purchased 3 (269,458)$             

Remaining Setaside 501,346$              

TOTAL HABITAT FOR HUMANITY SETASIDE: 501,346$              

TOTAL OF ALL INDIVIDUAL SETASIDES: 5,448,372$           

82



DOWN PAYMENT 1ST MORTGAGE SET-ASIDE POOL (OCT 5, 2007) Jul-07 10,000,000$         

Approved 9-07/Began using 2-08 10,000,000$         

Mar-08 5,000,000$           

Jun-08 10,000,000$         

January-09 $5,000,000

September-09 $5,000,000

Pre-Ullman Funds

NHS 111

Total Loans 12,082,524$         

HRDC BOZEMAN 275

Total Loans 2,750,094$           

HRDCXI COMBINED 309

Total Loans 2,674,592$           

TOWN OF BRIDGER 325

Total Loans 108,900$              

CITY OF BILLINGS 355

Total Loans 8,157,169$           

LAKE COUNTY 383

Total Loans 497,345$              

HRDC VI 385

Total Loans 220,106$              

CITY OF LEWISTOWN HRDC VI 388

Total Loans -$                         

City of Redlodge 390

Total Loans 521,238$              

GR8 HOPE SETASIDE  405

Total Loans 1,574,651$           

FTHB SAVINGS ACCOUNT PROGRAM 571

Total Loans 9,662,328$           

GLACIER AFFORDABLE HOUSING SETASIDE 600

Total Loans 189,000$              

Total Loans -$                         

WHITEFISH HOUSING AUTHORITY 750

Total Loans 450,918$              

Total Loans 38,888,865$         

Amount Remaining in Current Allocation $6,881,939

Check: $11,559,506

45,000,000$               
(38,888,865)-               
$6,111,135

5,448,371.98$            Total of All Individual Setasides
11,559,506.49$          

Total Loans in Allocation

83



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting: March 14, 2016 

 

PROGRAM 
Multifamily Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
110 S California – Missoula, MT – loan request by Missoula Housing Authority  
 

BACKGROUND 
110 S California located in Missoula Montana will be 6-plex. It will contain 4 one-
bedroom units targeting persons making below 80% AMI and 2 one-
bedroom units targeting persons making below 50% AMI.    This property 
will be constructed using many cutting edge energy efficient materials, have 
green features, upgraded finishes, energy star appliances, and will be of 
modern design.  Conveniences will include A/C, in unit wash and dryers, flat 
top stoves, solid surface counters, bike parking, and extra storage.   Once 
completed, it will be a beneficial addition to the neighborhood and will 
provide safe, efficient, homes the tenants can be proud to live in.   This 
project has received a HOME grant for $700,000.  Missoula Housing 
Authority is requesting $144,272 loan for 20 years at 4%.  The loan funds 
would be funded with deallocated bonds.  
 

PROPOSAL 
Staff has reviewed the loan request.   

Staff requests the Board consider and approve the loan request 

  

84



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting: March 14, 2016 

 

PROGRAM 
Multifamily Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
Northstar Apartments – Wolf Point MT - requested by Gene Leuwer of GL Development 
 

BACKGROUND 
Northstar Apartments located in Wolf Point Montana is a 28 unit project.  It was 
awarded housing credits on January 19, 2016 but did not receive a full allocation.   It will 
contain 8 one-bedroom units, 12 two-bedroom units, and 8 three-bedroom units, all 
targeting persons making below 60% AMI.    This project has received a Housing Credit 
allocation of $5,570,420.  Gene Leuwer is requesting $385,000 loan for 30 years.  The 
loan would be funded with the Housing Trust Fund.  
 

PROPOSAL 
Staff has reviewed the loan request.   

Staff requests the Board consider and approve the loan request 

  

85



BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

Board Meeting: March 14, 2016 

 

PROGRAM 
Multifamily Program 

AGENDA ITEM 
2017 Qualified Allocation Plan  
 

BACKGROUND 
Every state Housing Credit allocating agency is required by Section 42 to have a 
Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP).  The Housing Credits are awarded once a year.  The 
QAP is the rulebook for the Housing Credit Program for the year. This is the proposed 
Montana QAP for 2017. 

PROPOSAL 
The 2017 QAP draft has been created by staff working with developers and other 
interested parties in the open annual roundtable. Changes were made to update the 
QAP in an effort to clarify and change processes.  A Public Hearing was held on 
February 17th.  Commenters have submitted written comment.  

Staff is presenting the 2017 QAP for board members to consider and proposes approval 
of the document. Written Public Comments received will be presented as well as an 
active discussion of the proposed processes. 

  

86



 
 

MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 
 

HOUSING CREDIT PROGRAM 
 

2017 QUALIFIED ALLOCATION PLAN (QAP) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MONTANA BOARD OF HOUSING 
PO BOX 200528 

HELENA, MONTANA  59620-0528 
(406) 841-2840 

(406) 841-2841 FAX

87



 
i 

 

Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................... 1 
SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS .......................................................................................... 2 
SECTION 2 - OVERVIEW OF HOUSING CREDITS ............................................................. 8 

New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation ........................................................... 9 

Acquisition and Substantial Rehabilitation................................................................. 10 

Eventual Home Ownership ..................................................................................... 10 

Federally Subsidized Buildings ................................................................................ 10 

Qualifying Buildings ............................................................................................... 10 

Election................................................................................................................ 10 

Rent Limitation ...................................................................................................... 10 
Tenant paid rent + Utility Allowance + Mandatory Fees equals the Gross Rent .............. 11 
Basis ................................................................................................................... 11 

Eligible Basis ......................................................................................................... 11 
Qualified Basis ....................................................................................................... 11 
Credit Calculations ................................................................................................ 11 

Allocation of Credit ................................................................................................ 11 

Need for Allocation ................................................................................................. 11 
Allocation Applies Throughout Credit Period .............................................................. 11 
Time for Obtaining Allocation – Carryover Provision ................................................... 12 
Carryover Provision ................................................................................................ 12 
Compliance Period ................................................................................................. 12 

SECTION 3 - MONTANA SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS ....................................................... 12 
Eligible Applicants ................................................................................................. 13 

Housing Credit Proceeds ........................................................................................ 13 

Development Cost Limitations ................................................................................. 13 

Hard Cost Per Units/Hard Cost per Square Foot and Total Project Cost Per Unit/Total 
Project Cost Per Square Foot .................................................................................. 13 

Contractor’s Overhead ........................................................................................... 14 

General Requirements ........................................................................................... 14 

Contractor Profit ................................................................................................... 14 

Developer Fees ...................................................................................................... 14 
Disclosure of Transactions Involving Related Parties ................................................... 15 
Underwriting Assumptions and Limitations ............................................................... 15 

Operating Expenses ............................................................................................... 15 
Debt Coverage Ratio .............................................................................................. 15 
Operating Reserves ................................................................................................ 16 
Replacement Reserves ........................................................................................... 16 

88



 
ii 

 

Utility Allowances................................................................................................... 16 
Project Accessibility Requirements ........................................................................... 17 

Energy and Green Building Initiatives, Goals and Requirements .................................. 17 

Integrated Design Process and Community Connectivity ............................................. 17 
Sustainable Site, Location and Design ...................................................................... 17 
Energy and Water Conservation ............................................................................... 18 
Material and Resource Efficiency .............................................................................. 18 
Healthy Living Environments (Indoor Environmental Quality) ...................................... 18 
Substantial Rehabilitation ....................................................................................... 19 

Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects ........................................................................ 19 

Eventual Homeownership ....................................................................................... 19 

130% Basis Boost ................................................................................................. 20 

Basis Boost for QCT and DDA Projects ...................................................................... 20 
Basis Boost for Non-QCT/DDA Projects ..................................................................... 20 
Non-Housing Amenities .......................................................................................... 20 

Accountant and Owner Certification ......................................................................... 21 

Rural Development Projects .......................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Information Request and Release Policy ................................................................... 21 

General Program Information .................................................................................. 21 
Request Procedure ....................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Policy on Confidentiality and Disclosure of Information ..... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Compliance File Policy .................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Individual Loan Files .................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Ex Parte Communication Policy ............................................................................... 21 

SECTION 4 - APPLICATION CYCLE .............................................................................. 21 
First Allocation Round: ................................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Second Allocation Round (if any): ........................................................................... 22 

Carryover Commitment ................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

SECTION 5 - FEE SCHEDULE ...................................................................................... 24 
Letter of Intent ..................................................................................................... 24 

Application ........................................................................................................... 24 

Requesting Additional Credits After Initial Allocation .................................................. 24 

Compliance Fees ................................................................................................... 24 

SECTION 6 - MAXIMUM AWARDS ............................................................................... 25 
SECTION 7 – SET ASIDES ......................................................................................... 25 

Non-profit ............................................................................................................ 25 

Corrective Award .................................................................................................. 25 

89



 
iii 

 

Small Rural Projects .............................................................................................. 26 

SECTION 8 – LETTER OF INTENT AND APPLICATION PROCESS ...................................... 27 
Letter of Intent ..................................................................................................... 27 

Application ........................................................................................................... 27 

Threshold Requirements Are Mandatory ................................................................... 27 

Threshold Requirements ........................................................................................ 28 

SECTION 9 – EVALUATION AND AWARD ..................................................................... 31 
Threshold Evaluation and Considerations.................................................................. 31 

Amount of Housing Credit Allocation ........................................................................ 32 

Development Evaluation Criteria and Scoring ............................................................ 33 

1. Extended Low Income Use* (0-100 points) ........................................................ 33 
2. Lower Income Tenants* (0-220 points).............................................................. 34 
3. Project Location* (0-100 points) ....................................................................... 34 
4. Housing Needs Characteristics* (0-190 points) ................................................... 35 
5. Project Characteristics* (0-240 points) .............................................................. 36 
Preservation of Affordable Housing Projects* (0-20 points) ......................................... 36 
6. Development Team Characteristics* (0-110 points) ............................................. 37 
7. Participation of Local Entity (0-50 points) ........................................................... 38 
8. Tenant Populations with Special Housing Needs* (0-100 points) ........................... 39 
9. Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness (Up to minus (-) 400 points) ................ 40 

SECTION 10 – RESERVATION, CARRYOVER AND FINAL ALLOCATION .............................. 43 
Reservation Agreement .......................................................................................... 43 

Gross Rent Floor Election ....................................................................................... 44 

Declaration of Restrictive Covenants ........................................................................ 44 

Carryover Commitment ................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

10% Test ............................................................................................................. 45 

Placed in Service ................................................................................................... 45 

Final Allocations/8609 ............................................................................................ 46 

SECTION 11 - DEVELOPER/APPLICANT RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................ 46 
State Law Requirements ........................................................................................ 47 

Public Notification .................................................................................................. 47 

Quarterly Status Reporting ..................................................................................... 47 

Changes to Project or Application ............................................................................ 48 

SECTION 12 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING................................................................... 48 
Compliance Fees ................................................................................................... 48 

Recordkeeping, Record Retention and Data Collection ................................................ 49 

Recordkeeping ...................................................................................................... 49 
Records Retention .................................................................................................. 49 

90



 
iv 

 

Data Collection ..................................................................................................... 50 

Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance ............................................... 50 

Annual Operating Expense Information .................................................................... 45 

Submission Deadlines ............................................................................................ 50 

Review by MBOH staff ............................................................................................ 50 

Ownership/Management Changes ........................................................................... 50 

Education Requirements ........................................................................................ 51 

Tenant Income Certifications (TIC) .......................................................................... 51 

Frequency and Form .............................................................................................. 51 
Student Status Certification .................................................................................... 52 

On-Site Inspections ............................................................................................... 52 

Notice To Owner (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(2)) ..................................................................... 52 

Correction Period (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(4)) .................................................................... 52 

Notice To IRS (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(3)) ......................................................................... 52 

Liability (26 CFR 1.42 (g)) ...................................................................................... 53 

Marketing the Project ............................................................................................ 53 

SECTION 13 – DISCLAIMER ....................................................................................... 53 
MBOH Policy on Non-Discrimination ......................................................................... 53 

Qualified Allocation Plan Revisions ........................................................................... 53 

MBOH Policy on Civil Rights Compliance ................................................................... 53 

All Forms are located on the website at:              http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP  

 

91

http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP


 
1 

 

INTRODUCTION  
The low income housing tax credit is established under Section 42 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986.  The credit is a federal income tax credit for Owners of qualifying rental 
housing which meets certain low income occupancy and rent limitation requirements. 

Congress established the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program by enactment of the Tax 
Reform Act of 1986.  Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) implemented and began 
administering the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program in 1987 in the State of Montana.  
Since then, the program has assisted in providing for the retention, rehabilitation, and 
construction of rental housing for low income individuals and families for over 6,000 units 
throughout Montana.  

The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1989 required the appropriate administering 
agencies (in this case, MBOH) to allocate credits pursuant to a Qualified Allocation Plan 
(QAP) which sets forth the priorities, considerations, criteria and process for making 
Allocations to Projects in Montana.  The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 provided 
a permanent extension for the Low Income Housing Tax Credit.  

Montana Board of Housing (MBOH) is the state agency that allocates the tax credits for 
housing located in Montana.  The per state resident amount of tax credit allocated annually 
for housing is limited to $2.30 with a minimum cap as allocated by IRS, whichever is larger.  
The current allocation of Tax Credits plus any inflation factor the IRS may calculate is posted 
to the MBOH website, normally in August or September each year.  Montana receives the 
minimum cap because of its population. 

An Owner must obtain a Final Allocation from MBOH and meet all other applicable 
requirements before claiming the tax credit.  

This QAP is intended to ensure the selection of those developments which best meet the 
most pressing housing needs of low income people within the State of Montana in 
accordance with the guidelines and requirements established by the federal government and 
the requirements, considerations, factors, limitations, criteria and priorities established by 
the MBOH Board. 

At its February 8, 2016 meeting, the MBOH Board considered and approved public notice 
and distribution of the proposed 2017 Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP).  Public notice of the 
proposed 2017 QAP and the opportunity for public comment was published and distributed 
on February 8, 2016 with oral comments received at a public hearing February 17, 2016.  At 
its March 14, 2016 meeting, after considering written and oral public comment on the 
proposed 2017 QAP, the MBOH Board approved the proposed 2017 QAP for submission to 
and approval by the Montana Governor.  The Governor of Montana, Steve Bullock, approved 
the plan as the final 2017 QAP on __. 

MBOH annually makes available for reservation and Allocation its authorized volume cap of 
credit authority subject to the provisions of this QAP.  Montana’s Qualified Allocation Plan for 
the current and prior years, along with current Forms, are available at 
http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP.MBOH evaluates tax credit Applications, selects the Projects 
for which tax credits will be reserved, and allocates credits to the selected developments 
meeting applicable requirements.  Federal legislation requires that the administering agency 
allocate only the amount of credit it determines necessary to the financial feasibility of the 
development. 

92



 
2 

 

Tax credits not Awarded during a given round or any unused credits from earlier rounds 
may, at the discretion of MBOH, be carried forward for the next round of allocation or, as 
MBOH determines necessary for financial feasibility, be used to increase the amount of tax 
credits Awarded for a Project selected for an Award of tax credits in a prior round. 

Consistent with the foregoing and notwithstanding any other provision of this QAP, all tax 
credit Awards, Reservations (Initial Allocations), Carryovers Commitments, 10% Cost 
Certifications and Final Allocations are subject to and conditional upon IRS authorization and 
allocation of tax credits for the State of Montana. 

 
SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS 
As used in this QAP, the following definitions apply unless the context clearly requires a 
different meaning: 

“4% Credits” means HCs that may be Awarded in accordance with the applicable QAP 
to Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
and outside the competitive allocation process applicable to 9% Credits. 

“9% Credits” means HCs that may be Awarded through the competitive process in 
accordance with the applicable QAP.  

“10% Carryover Cost Certification” means the certification that must be provided to 
MBOH using the MBOH 10% Carryover Cost Certification Forms.   

“Absorption Rate” means the number of months projected in the Application’s market 
study for a Project to become fully leased. 

“Acquisition” means obtaining title, lease or other Land and Property Control over a 
property for purposes of an HC Project.  Acquisition includes purchase, lease, donation or 
other means of obtaining Land and Property Control. 

“Acquisition/Rehab” means Acquisition of a property with one or more existing 
buildings and renovation meeting Montana’s minimum Rehabilitation standard set forth in 
Section 3, Substantial Rehabilitation, for existing buildings on the property that are part of 
an HC Project.   

“Adjusted Construction Costs” means Construction Costs excluding General 
Requirements. 

“Allocation” means an Initial Allocation or a Final Allocation. 

“Applicable QAP” means: (a) for purposes of any substantive issues relating to an 
Award, or to the Development Evaluation Criteria, Scoring, Selection Criteria or Selection 
Standard for such Award, the particular year’s QAP under which the Application is or was 
submitted, evaluated and Awarded HCs; or (b) for purposes of Project changes, Reservation 
(Initial Allocation), Carryover, Carryover Commitment, 10% Cost Certification, Final 
Allocation, compliance requirements, compliance audits, and any post-Award procedures, 
the QAP most recently adopted. 

“Applicant” means the entity identified as such in the Application, and who is and will 
remain responsible to MBOH for the Application.  When used in reference to a Letter of 
Intent, the term means the person or entity on whose behalf the Letter of Intent is 
submitted and who is and will remain responsible to MBOH for the Letter of Intent.   

“Application” means a request for an Award of HCs submitted in the form specified 
by and according to the requirements of this QAP. 

93



 
3 

 

“Architect” means a professional licensed by the applicable state authority as a 
building architect. 

“Available Annual Credit Allocation” is defined as and includes the state’s actual or 
estimated credit ceiling for the current year plus any other available credits from prior year 
credit authority determined as of 20 business days prior to the applicable Application 
deadline, and includes any credits held back pursuant to court order or subject to Award 
under the Corrective Award set aside. 

“Award” means selection of a Project by the MBOH Board to receive a Reservation of 
HCs. 

“Award Determination Meeting” means the meeting of the MBOH Board at which the 
Board selects one or more Applicants to receive an Award. 

“Carryover” means the process and determination of MBOH by which Awarded and 
reserved HCs are continued and carried into the second year after Award of the HCs by 
MBOH issuance of a Carryover Commitment, according to the specific requirements of this 
QAP.  

“Carryover Commitment” means a Carryover of HCs based upon an MBOH Carryover 
determination, which commitment is conditional upon the Applicant performing all 
conditions and requirements for Final Allocation as set forth in the Applicable QAP, the 
Carryover Commitment document issued by MBOH and applicable law. “Cold Weather 
Development and Construction” means experience of the HC Developer or Consultant on 
one or more Projects located above the 40 degrees north parallel. 

“Commercial Purposes” means use of any Project Amenities, common space or other 
Project property or facilities by others than tenants for which the Project owner or 
management receives any compensation for such use, whether in cash or in kind. 

“Common Area” means any space in the building(s) on the Project property that is 
not in the units, i.e. hallways, stairways, community rooms, laundry rooms, 
garages/carports, etc.  Common Area is eligible to be paid for with housing credits. 

“Compliance Period” means, with respect to any building, the initial period of 15 
taxable years beginning with the 1st taxable year of the applicable credit period as provided 
in 26 U.S.C. § 42. 

“Construction Costs” means all costs listed on the UniApp, Section C, Uses of Funds, 
under the Site Work and Rehab sections. 

“Consultant” or “HC Consultant” means an individual or entity advising a Developer 
or Owner with respect to the HC Application and/or development process. 

“Contractor’s Overhead” means the contractor’s overhead shown in the Applicant’s 
properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements. 

“Contractor Profit” means the contractor’s profit shown in the Applicant’s properly 
completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements.  

“Debt Coverage Ratio” or “DCR” means the ratio of a Project’s net operating income 
(rental income less Operating Expenses and reserve payments) to foreclosable, currently 
amortizing debt service obligations.  

“Design Professional” means a housing/building design professional.  

“Developer” means the individual(s) and/or entity(ies) specifically listed and 
identified as the developer in the Uniform Application, Section A - Applicant 

94



 
4 

 

Developer/Sponsor, responsible for development, construction and completion of an HC 
Project. 

“Developer Fee” means those costs included by the Applicant in the UniApp, adjusted 
as necessary to comply with the maximum Developer’s fee specified in Section 3, Additional 
Cost Limitations, Developer Fees, which are included as Developer’s fees by the Cost 
Analysis. 

“Development Evaluation Criteria” means the evaluation and scoring criteria set forth 
in QAP Section 9, Evaluation and Award. 

“Development Team” means and includes the Applicant, Owner, Developer, General 
Partner, Qualified Management Company, and HC Consultant identified as such in the 
Application. 

“Difficult Development Areas” or “DDA” means an area designated by HUD as a 
Difficult Development Area. 

“Disqualify” or “Disqualification” means, with respect to an Application, that the 
Application is returned to the Applicant by MBOH without scoring and without consideration 
for an Award of HCs, as authorized or required by this QAP.   

“Elderly Property” means a Project that will limit its tenants to households that 
include at least one individual age 55 or older or in which all household members are age 62 
or older.  If permitted by the rules applicable to other federal funding sources involved in 
the Project, households may also include disabled individuals below the specified age 
thresholds. 

 “Experienced Developer” means a Developer who was entitled by written agreement 
to receive at least 50% of the Development Fees on a prior low-income housing tax credit 
Project that has achieved 100% qualified occupancy and for which the applicable state 
housing finance agency has conducted a compliance audit which revealed no significant 
problems. 

“Experienced Partner” means a member of the Development Team who was a 
member of the Development Team on a prior low-income housing tax credit Project that has 
achieved 100% qualified occupancy and for which the applicable state housing finance 
agency has conducted a compliance audit which revealed no significant problems. 

“Extended Use Period” means the Compliance Period plus an additional period of 15 
or more years as specified in the Application and provided for in the Restrictive Covenants.   

“Final Allocation” means, with respect to HCs, MBOH issuance of an IRS Form 
8609(s) (Low Income Housing Credit Allocation Certificate) for a Project after building 
construction or Rehabilitation has been completed according to the Project Application and 
any MBOH Board-approved changes and the building has been placed in service. 

“Final Cost Certification” means an independent third party CPA cost certification, 
including a statement of eligible and qualified basis for the Project, submitted to MBOH on 
the form specified by and in accordance with the requirements of this QAP, for purposes of 
obtaining IRS Form 8609(s). 

“Form” means the most current version of any Form referenced in this QAP.  All 
Forms are available on the MBOH website at [URL].   

“General Partner” means the general partner of a partnership entity that is formed 
for purposes of a Project.   

“General Requirements” means the contractor's miscellaneous administrative and 
procedural activities and expenses that do not fall into a major-function construction 

95



 
5 

 

category and are Project-specific and therefore not part of the contractor's general 
overhead, categorized in accordance with NCSHA standards and shown in the Applicant’s 
properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Limitations and Requirements. 

“Gut Rehab” means a Project that includes the replacement and/or improvement of 
all major systems of the building, including (i) removing walls/ceilings back to the 
studs/rafters and replacing them; (ii) removing/replacing trim, windows, doors, exterior 
siding and roof; (iii) replacing HVAC, plumbing and electrical systems; and (iv) replacing 
and/or improving the building envelope (i.e., the air barrier and thermal barrier separating 
exterior from interior space) by either removing materials down to the studs or structural 
masonry on one side of the exterior walls and subsequently improving the building envelope 
to meet the whole-building energy performance levels for the project type, or creating a 
new thermal and air barrier around the building. 

“Hard Costs” means and includes all costs other than Soft Costs, land Acquisition 
costs and operating and replacement reserve costs.  Hard Costs include any building 
Acquisition costs. 

“Hard Cost Per Square Foot” means Hard Costs divided by Project Square Footage 
shown in the Applicant’s properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost 
Limitations and Requirements. 

“Hard Cost Per Unit” means an amount calculated by dividing Hard Costs by the 
number of units in the Project, as calculated in the UniApp Supplement, Section C, Cost 
Limitations and Requirements, Part XI, line “Cost Per Unit.” 

“Housing Credits” or “HCs” or “Credits” means federal low-income housing tax credits 
allocated or available for allocation under this Montana QAP. 

“Initial Allocation” means the conditional setting aside by MBOH of HCs from a 
particular year’s federal LIHTC allocation to the state for purposes of later Carryover 
Commitment and/or Final Allocation to a particular Project, as documented by and subject 
to the requirements and conditions set forth in a written Reservation Agreement, the 
Applicable QAP and federal law. 

 “Investor” means an entity that will directly or indirectly purchase HCs from the 
awardee.  

 “Land or Property Control” means legally binding documentation of title or right to 
possession and use of the property, or the right to acquire title or right to possession and 
use of the property, for purposes the Project, including but not limited to documentation of 
fee ownership, lease, buy/sell agreement, option to purchase or lease, or other right, title or 
interest that will allow the Owner to acquire Proof of Ownership for purposes of Carryover. 

“Large Project” means, for purposes of the Soft Cost Ratio, a Project with more than 
24 low-income units. 

 “Letter of Intent” means a letter and attachment submitted to MBOH on the MBOH 
Letter of Intent Form. 

“Low-Income Housing Tax Credits” means federal low-income housing tax credits, 
referred to in this QAP as HCs. 

“Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company” means a company 
recognized in the Low Income Housing Tax Credit industry as a qualified Low Income 
Housing Tax Credit compliance trainer.  

“NCSHA” means the National Council of State Housing Agencies.  

96

http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/stud
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/rafter
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/trim
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/window
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/doors
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/siding
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/roof
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/plumbing
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/electrical
http://en.wiktionary.org/wiki/system


 
6 

 

“New Construction” means construction of one or more new buildings, and includes 
Gut Rehabs.   

“Operating Expenses” means projected ongoing costs to run or operate a property. 

“Owner” means the legal entity that owns the Project.  

“Preservation” means Projects that are for the Acquisition and/or Rehabilitation of 
existing affordable housing stock. 

“Project” means the low income residential rental building, or buildings, that are the 
subject of an Application for or an Award of HCs.  

“Project Square Footage” means such portion of the total square feet applicable to 
low-income units and common areas and used for the applicable square footage calculation 
in the UniApp under Section B - Program Information, Part X, “Project Uses.”  Project 
Square Footage includes all building square footage available to or serving tenants, 
including units, management unit(s) and offices, common area, balconies, patios, storage 
and parking structures.  

“Proof of Ownership” means title or right to possession and use of the property for 
the duration of the Compliance Period and any Extended Use Period plus one year, e.g., a 
recorded deed or an executed lease agreement. 

“Qualified Allocation Plan” or “QAP” means this Montana qualified allocation plan 
required by Section 42 of the Code.   

“Qualified Census Tract” or “QCT” means an area designated as such by HUD. 

“Qualified Management Company” means a Management Company that meets the 
education requirements specified in Section 12, Education Requirements, and is not 
disqualified by MBOH to serve as a Management Company on existing, new or additional tax 
credit Properties or Projects, based upon the company’s: (i) failure to complete timely any 
required training; (ii) failure to have or maintain any required certification; (iii) record of 
noncompliance, or lack of cooperation in correcting or refusal to correct noncompliance, on 
or with respect to any tax credit or other publicly subsidized low-income housing property; 
or (iv) delinquent MBOH late fees (unless the management company demonstrates to the 
satisfaction of MBOH that such noncompliance or lack of cooperation was beyond such 
company’s control). 

“Qualified Nonprofit Organization” means, with respect to a Project, an organization 
exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c) (3) or (4) of the Internal Revenue 
Code, which is not and during the Compliance Period will not be affiliated with or controlled 
by a for-profit organization, whose exempt purposes include the fostering of low income 
housing, which owns an interest in the Project, which will materially participate in the 
development and operation of the Project throughout the Compliance Period, and which is 
not affiliated with or controlled by a for-profit organization. 

“Rehabilitation,” “Rehab” or “Substantial Rehabilitation” means renovation of a 
building or buildings to house HC units meeting the required minimum Hard Cost Per Unit 
thresholds specified in Section 3, Substantial Rehabilitation. 

“Related Party” means an individual or entity whose financial, family or business 
relationship to the individual or entity in question permit significant influence over the other 
to an extent that one or more parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own 
separate interests.  Related parties include but are not limited to: (1) family members 
(sibling, spouse, domestic partner, ancestor or lineal descendant); (2) a subsidiary, parent 
or other entity that owns or is owned by the individual or entity; (3) an entity with common 
control or ownership (e.g., common officers, directors, or shareholders or officers or 

Comment [A1]: Alex Burkhalter #1 added 
clarifying language 

97



 
7 

 

directors who are family members of each other); (4) an entity owned or controlled through 
ownership or control of at least a 50% interest by an individual (the interest of the 
individual and individual’s family members are aggregated for such purposes) or the entity 
(the interest of the entity, its principals and management are aggregated for such 
purposes); and (5) an individual or entity who has been a Related Party in the last year or 
who is likely to become a Related Party in the next year. 

“Reservation” means MBOH’s Initial Allocation of HCs from a particular year’s federal 
LIHTC allocation to the state for purposes of later Carryover Commitment and/or Final 
Allocation to a particular Project, as documented by and subject to the requirements and 
conditions set forth in a written Reservation Agreement, the Applicable QAP and federal law.    

“Reservation Agreement” means a written contract entered into between MBOH and 
the taxpayer to provide for a Reservation and setting forth the terms and conditions under 
which the taxpayer may obtain a Carryover Commitment or Final Allocation.   

“Restrictive Covenants” means the recorded covenants required by Section 42 of the 
Code.  

“Selection Criteria” means and includes all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides and priorities set forth in 
this QAP and all federal requirements. 

“Selection Standard” means the standard for selection of Projects to receive an 
Award of HCs set forth in the Award Determination subsection of Section 9, Evaluation and 
Award, i.e., the MBOH Board’s determination that one or more Projects best meet the most 
pressing housing needs of low income people within the state of Montana as more 
specifically set forth in such subsection.  

“Small Project” means a Project with 20 or fewer low-income units. 

“Small Rural Project” means, for purposes of the Small Rural Project set aside, a 
Project: (1) for which the submitted tax credit Application requests tax credits in an amount 
up to but no more than 10% of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation; (2) is a 
Project with 20 or fewer low-income units, and (3) proposed to be developed and 
constructed in a location that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great 
Falls, Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula.  

 “Soft Costs” means the costs of professional work and fees, interim costs, financing 
fees and expenses, syndication costs and Developer’s fees included by the Applicant in the 
UniApp. Soft Costs do not include operating or replacement reserves. 

“Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio” or “Soft Cost Ratio” means total Soft Costs divided by 
the sum of total Hard Costs (as calculated in the UniApp) and land value (as shown by a 
comparative market analysis or appraisal).  Land value is added regardless of whether land 
is donated, leased, purchased or otherwise acquired. 

“Sources and Uses” means the sources and uses of funds as specified in the 
Application. 

“Substantial Change” means a substantial change in the Project from the Project as 
set forth in the Application, and includes a change in or to:  

• A member of the Development Team occurring prior to Placed in Service; 
• Participating local entity; 
• Quality or durability of construction; 
• Number of units or unit composition; 
• Site or floor plan; 
• Square footage of Project building(s); 

Comment [A2]: Alex Burkhalter #2 change in 
management company.  A change to a qualified 
management company should not result in negative 
points.  
 

98



 
8 

 

• Project amenities; 
• Income or rent targeting; 
• Rental subsidies; 
• Target group; 
• Project location; 
• Sources and Uses (to the extent any line item changes by 10% or more); 
• Common Space square footage, location or purposes; 
• Housing Credits required for the Project; 
• Extended Use Period; 
• Any Application item or information required by the Applicable QAP; 
• Any item that would have resulted in a lower Development Evaluation Criteria 

Score under the Applicable QAP; and 
• Any other significant feature, characteristic or aspect of the Project.  

  

“Total Project Cost” or “Total Development Cost” mean all costs shown in UniApp 
Section C, Part II, Uses of Funds line “Total Projects Costs without Grant Admin”.  Total 
Project Cost does not include grant administration costs. 

“Total Project Cost Per Square Foot” means Total Project Costs divided by Project 
Square Footage shown in the Applicant’s properly completed UniApp Supplement, Section C, 
Cost Limitations and Requirements. 

“Total Project Cost Per Unit” means an amount calculated by dividing Total Project 
Costs by the number of units in the Project, as calculated in the UniApp Supplement, 
Section C, Cost Limitations and Requirements, Part XI, line “Cost Per Unit.” 

“UniApp” means the most current Uniform Application and Supplement available on 
the MBOH website at: http://housing.mt.gov/FAR/housingapps.mcpx. 

“UniApp Supplement” means the Supplement portion of the UniApp. 

“Unit” means an income-restricted tenant or management (manager, security or 
other) residential apartment or single-family home.  

“Vacancy Rate” means percentage of vacant units in the Application’s market area or 
in the property. 

 
SECTION 2 - OVERVIEW OF MBOH HOUSING CREDITS 
THE FOLLOWING IS A BRIEF SUMMARY OF SOME ELEMENTS OF THE HOUSING CREDIT AND 
IS PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.  THERE ARE NUMEROUS TECHNICAL 
RULES GOVERNING A BUILDING'S QUALIFICATION FOR THE HOUSING CREDIT, THE 
AMOUNT OF THE HOUSING CREDIT, AND AN OWNER'S ABILITY TO USE THE HOUSING 
CREDIT TO OFFSET FEDERAL INCOME TAXES.  ANYONE CONSIDERING APPLYING FOR 
HOUSING CREDITS SHOULD REFER, IN ADDITION TO THIS QAP, TO SECTION 42 OF THE 
UNITED STATES INTERNAL REVENUE CODE (26 U.S.C. § 42).  DEVELOPERS OR OWNERS 
INTERESTED IN APPLYING FOR A CREDIT ALLOCATION SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX 
ACCOUNTANT OR ATTORNEY IN PLANNING A SPECIFIC TRANSACTION.   

Low Income Housing Tax Credits, referred to in this QAP as Housing Credits or HCs, are 
Awarded by the State of Montana through MBOH to applicants based on the information 
submitted in or in connection with Applications, other information obtained by MBOH staff as 
provided in this QAP and justification with support documentation supplied by the 
Applicants.  At or before the time an Application is made, the Applicant must solicit an 
Investor who will purchase the tax credits, if Awarded. 

Comment [A3]: Alex Burkhalter #3 add unit 
definition 

99

http://housing.mt.gov/FAR/housingapps.mcpx


 
9 

 

The Housing Credits are Awarded each year for a ten-year period.  Hypothetically, a Project 
Awarded $100,000 in Housing Credits is essentially Awarded $1,000,000 ($100,000 X 10 
years) for the ten-year period.  When an Investor purchases the Credits, the money from 
the purchase is infused into the financing for the building of the Project.  The Investor 
purchases the Housing Credits, for example, $ .75 on the dollar ($100,000 X $.75 X 10 
years) equating to $750,000.  Typically, the Investor pays at a range of $ .70 to $.90 on the 
dollar.  This money directly reduces the amount of dollars financed in a Project, thereby 
reducing the rents that must be charged to tenants as well as assuring that the Project cash 
flows.   

The Investor, through a limited liability partnership (LLP) or a limited partnership (LP), must 
be a 99.99% Owner of the Project for fifteen years during which the Investor declares 
$100,000 each year for ten years as credit on the Investor’s income tax.  Generally, once 
fifteen years have passed, the Project is sold back to the General Partner (the .01% 
partner) for a negotiated amount and the ownership is transferred. 

Throughout the Housing Credit Extended Use Period, the Project must comply with the 
requirements of housing credit administration as set forth in the current QAP and 26 U.S.C. 
§ 42.  Periodic file audits and inspection of units will be performed by MBOH staff. 

The Housing Credit is available for residential rental buildings which are part of a qualifying 
low income Project.  The rental units must be available to the general public.  Residential 
properties which are ineligible for the Credit generally include transient housing, housing 
initially leased for less than six (6) months, buildings of four (4) units or less which are 
occupied by the Owner or a relative of the Owner, nursing homes, life care facilities, 
retirement homes providing significant services other than housing, dormitories, and trailer 
parks. 

Projects with tax-exempt financing under the Montana’s volume limitation for private 
activity bonds may be eligible to receive Housing Credits outside the state’s Housing Credit 
allocation volume cap.   See specific requirements in Section 3, Montana Specific 
Requirements, Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects.  

The Housing Credit can be used to assist in financing Acquisition with Substantial 
Rehabilitation, Substantial Rehabilitation, construction of qualifying residential rental, or 
eventual homeownership housing.  The applicable percentage rate (APR) for each Project 
will depend upon the type of building and its financing, the floating APR or other APR set by 
the federal government, and the Project’s election of the APR.  As long as the building 
continues to qualify for the Credit, the Owner may claim the Credit each year during the 10-
year credit period. 

New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation 
New Construction and Rehabilitation Projects using competitive Credits will qualify for the 
floating monthly tax credit rate (commonly referred to as the 9% rate) or another 
percentage rate permitted by federal law.  The applicable tax credit rate is elected by the 
taxpayer and locked at Reservation/Initial Allocation or at placed in service, as specified in 
the Reservation Agreement.  If an Owner Substantially Rehabilitates a building (basically by 
incurring Rehabilitation expenditures in an amount that equals or exceeds the greater of: 
(a) the Montana-specific Substantial Rehabilitation  Hard Costs per rental unit standard 
specified in Section 3, “Substantial Rehabilitation,” or (b) 30% of the adjusted basis of the 
building during a 24-month or shorter period), the Rehabilitation expenditure is treated as a 
separate new building for purposes of the Housing Credit. The “per unit” calculation is the 
total amount of Hard Costs for the Project divided by the number of units within the Project.  
Because Montana’s Substantial Rehabilitation standard is higher than the federal minimum 

100



 
10 

 

of $6,200.00 in Hard Costs and 20% of adjusted basis, Montana’s higher Substantial 
Rehabilitation standard applies. 

Acquisition and Substantial Rehabilitation 
For an existing building which is acquired and Substantially Rehabilitated, the Housing 
Credit will be approximately four (4) percent for qualified Acquisition costs and nine (9) 
percent for the qualified Substantial Rehabilitation costs, provided that the Rehabilitation is 
not federally subsidized. 

Eventual Home Ownership 
The opportunity for eventual home ownership allows for Projects, with sufficient 
justification, to make units available to be purchased by the current tenants after 15 years 
of successful performance as an affordable rental. See Section 3, Eventual Home 
Ownership.  

Federally Subsidized Buildings 
Projects funded by tax exempt bonds are considered federally subsidized and qualify only 
for 4% of the qualified basis for New Construction, Acquisition, and Rehabilitation. Buildings 
directly or indirectly financed with below market federal loans are not considered federally 
subsidized.  Below market loans made to the Project from the proceeds of grants made 
under the HOME Investments Partnership Act or loans made to Projects through the Native 
American Housing Assistance and Self Determination Act of 1996 are no longer considered 
to be federal subsidy.  Section 8 rental “certificate” or “voucher” subsidy is not considered 
to be federal subsidy.   

Qualifying Buildings 
In order to qualify for the Housing Credit, an eligible building must be part of a qualifying 
low income Project.  A Project is a qualifying Project only if it meets one of the following 
requirements:   

At least 20% of its units are rent-restricted and rented to households with incomes at 50% 
or less of area median gross income, adjusted for family size (the "20-50 test”), or 

At least 40% of its units are rent-restricted and rented to households with income at 60% 
or less of area median income, adjusted for family size (the "40-60 test").  

Election 
The Owner must make an irrevocable election between the 20-50 test and the 40-60 test.  
Regardless of the election made, the credit is only allowed for the portion of the building 
dedicated to low income use (for example, if the Owner elects the 40-60 test and a 
minimum of 40% of the units are low income, the Owner would qualify for Housing Credits 
on a minimum of 40% of the eligible basis). 

Rent Limitation 

The gross rent for each Housing Credit unit may not exceed 30% of the applicable income 
ceiling (30% of 50% of median or 30% of 60% of median, as applicable, calculated based 
on the number of bedrooms in the unit, which is the “Maximum Rent”).  For purposes of the 
rent limitation, the gross rent is the sum of the rent amount payable by the tenant, a utility 
allowance amount determined in accordance with this QAP (see Section 3, Underwriting 
Assumptions and Limitations, “Utility Allowances”) and any mandatory fees payable by the 
tenant.  Rental assistance payments made by government agencies such as Section 8, Rural 
Development, or any comparable rental assistance program are not included in gross rent.  

101



 
11 

 

Gross rent does not include any fee for supportive services as described in 26 U.S.C. 
§42(g)(2)(B)(iii).  Gross Rent is expressed as follows: 

Tenant paid rent + Utility Allowance + Mandatory Fees equals the Gross Rent 

The Gross Rent must be less than or equal to the Maximum Rent (i.e., 30% of the 
applicable income ceiling). 

Basis 
Eligible Basis 

Eligible basis of a qualifying building is generally the same as its adjusted basis for tax 
purposes, determined at the time the building is placed in service.  Generally, eligible basis 
consists of: 

• The cost of New Construction or Substantial Rehabilitation; or 
• The cost of purchasing an existing building and the cost of Substantial Rehabilitation. 

Eligible basis includes costs of common areas and comparable amenities provided to all 
residential rental units in the building.  However, eligible basis must be reduced to reflect 
any Rehabilitation or historic preservation tax credit claimed with respect to the building.  
Eligible basis excludes land cost, costs attributable to any portion of the building which is 
not residential rental property (except common areas), and costs attributable to non-low 
income units which are above the average quality of the low income units in the Project. 
Cost certifications must list all items in basis (parking lot, paving, community areas, covers 
for parking, etc.). 

Qualified Basis 

To determine the qualified basis of a qualifying building, the taxpayer multiplies the eligible 
basis of the building by the lesser of the "unit percentage" or the "floor space percentage".  
The "unit percentage" is the number of low income units in the building expressed as a 
percentage of the number of all residential rental units in the building.  The "floor space 
percentage" is the total floor space of the low income units in the building expressed as a 
percentage of the total floor space of all residential rental units in the building. Low income 
units are eligible units which are occupied by qualified low income tenants (with income at 
or below 50% or 60% of area median gross income, depending on the Owner's election of 
the 20-50 or 40-60 test) and which comply with the gross rent limitation (30% of the 
applicable 50% or 60% income limit). The Credit is only allowed for the portion of the 
building dedicated to low income use.   

Credit Calculations 
To calculate the Credit each year, the taxpayer applies the applicable credit percentage to 
the qualified basis of a qualifying building.  The "qualified basis" is that portion of the 
"eligible basis" attributable to low income units in the building. 

Allocation of Credit 
Need for Allocation 

All Projects including Projects financed with tax-exempt bonds must first obtain a Final 
Allocation from MBOH before claiming the housing credit.  MBOH makes a Final Allocation by 
issuance of IRS Form 8609(s). 

Allocation Applies Throughout Credit Period 

An Owner needs to obtain a Final Allocation only once with respect to a building for which 
the Credit will be claimed.  The Final Allocation then applies each year during the 10-year 

102



 
12 

 

Credit period.  Regardless of the maximum Credit otherwise available (based on applying 
the applicable credit percentage to the qualified basis), the Credit claimed each year for a 
building may not exceed the amount of the Final Allocation for that building. 

Time for Obtaining Carryover Commitment   

An Owner who receives an Award of Credits must either: 

• Place the building in service and receive a Final Allocation by MBOH issuance of IRS 
Form 8609(s) by the close of the calendar year corresponding to the annual tax 
credit ceiling from which the Credits are allocated (e.g., by the close of calendar year 
2017 for 2017 credits Awarded in January 2017), or 

• Obtain a Carryover Commitment as provided below, and place the building in service 
and receive a Final Allocation by MBOH issuance of IRS Form 8609(s).  

 

Carryover Provision 

A Carryover of a housing credit Allocation will be permitted for a period of two (2) years 
beyond the end of the calendar year corresponding to the annual tax credit ceiling from 
which the Credits are allocated (e.g., by the close of calendar year 2019 for 2017 credits 
Awarded in January 2017); contingent upon meeting 10% requirements (see Section 10). 

Compliance Period 
The Compliance Period is the initial period of 15 taxable years beginning with the 1st 
taxable year of the applicable credit period as provided in 26 U.S.C. § 42.  The Application 
must specify an additional period of 15 or more years in which the Applicant agrees to 
maintain units for low income occupancy.  The Compliance Period plus the additional 15 or 
more year period together are referred to as the Extended Use Period.  These restrictions 
will be included in the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants and will be effective for the 
entire Extended Use Period. 

An Owner must continue to meet the requirements of Section 42 for a Compliance Period of 
15 years.  Failure to comply, reducing the number of the HC units, or reducing floor space 
for which the Credit is based during the Compliance Period, may result in IRS recapture of 
Housing Credits, including non-deductible interest, of at least a portion of the Housing 
Credits taken previously by the Owner. 

To be eligible for HCs, a building must be subject to an extended low income housing 
commitment between the Owner and the state agency, which commitment must be 
established by recorded Restrictive Covenants effective for the full Extended Use Period.  
The Owner must meet compliance criteria for the full Extended Use Period specified in the 
Restrictive Covenants.  Any Application indicating an Extended Use Period beyond the 
Compliance Period forfeits the right to request that MBOH locate a non-profit qualified buyer 
and the Owner must maintain HC units through the Extended Use Period as provided in the 
Restrictive Covenants. 

Three-year tenant protection period 

HC rent requirements and restrictions will continue for a period of three years following the 
termination or expiration of the Extended Use Period.  The Owner cannot evict or terminate 
the tenancy of an existing tenant of any HC unit other than for good cause during the 
Extended Use Period or during the additional three-year tenant protection period.  

 

SECTION 3 - MONTANA SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS 

103



 
13 

 

Eligible Applicants 
An Applicant who previously received an Award of Credits for its first Housing Credit Project 
in Montana may not receive an Award of Credits for another Housing Credit Project until the 
first Project has achieved 100% qualified occupancy and an MBOH compliance audit has 
been conducted which revealed no significant problems.  For purposes of this rule, 
Applicants are considered to be the same Applicant if the Applicants are Related Parties or if 
the same Developer or a Related Party of the Developer will receive more than 50% of the 
Development Fees for both Projects.  The foregoing rule does not apply to a subsequent 
Housing Credit Application if the Developer partners with an Experienced Developer who will 
be entitled under a written agreement to receive at least 50% of the Developer Fee on the 
subsequent Project.  The Applicant is not eligible to apply for Credits if the Applicant or any 
member of the Applicant’s Development Team is debarred from federal programs or FHLB 
(Federal Home Loan Bank), prohibited from applying for LIHTCs by another state HFA for 
disciplinary reasons, or has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH,.  If any member 
of the Development Team has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH at any time 
from submission of Letter of Intent through the Award Board meeting, the Application will 
be ineligible for an Award of Credits until such fees are paid in full.  If such late fees are not 
paid in full within ten (10) business days of written notice, the Application will be returned 
and will receive no further consideration.  Application fees will not be refunded. 

Tax Credit Proceeds 
In order to allow MBOH to adequately evaluate Sources and Uses for Housing Credit 
Projects, the Applicant is required to provide information to MBOH regarding the proceeds or 
receipts generated from the Housing Credit.   

At Application, expected Credit proceeds must be estimated by the Applicant.  Within 30 
days after the partnership or operating agreement is signed by all parties, the 
Applicant must provide MBOH with a copy of the executed agreement.  If MBOH 
does not receive a copy of the executed agreement within 30 days of execution, a late fee 
of $500.00 will be assessed. Prior to issuance of IRS Form 8609(s), MBOH will require the 
accountant's certification to include gross syndication proceeds and costs of syndication, 
even though the costs are not allowed for eligible basis. 

Sources and Uses Certification 
Applicants must certify that they have disclosed all of a Project’s Sources and Uses, as well 
as its total financing, and must disclose to MBOH in writing any future changes in Sources 
and Uses over 10% in any line item or any increase in Soft Costs throughout the 
development period (until 8609’s are received).  Applicant’s certification of such disclosure 
must be provided to MBOH at Application, at 10% Carryover Cost Certification and at Final 
Cost Certification on the MBOH Disclosure Certification Form. 

Development Cost Limitations 
To balance housing needs in Montana with appropriate and efficient use of the state's 
allocation of tax credit authority, MBOH has adopted the following cost limitations and 
requirements for purposes of calculating the Housing Credit amount for a particular Project.  
These cost limitations are based upon and in accordance with NCSHA standards. 

Hard Cost Per Unit/Hard Cost Per Square Foot and Total Project Cost Per 
Unit/Total Project Cost Per Square Foot 

Hard Cost Per Unit, Hard Cost Per Square Foot, Total Project Cost Per Unit and Total Project 
Cost Per Square Foot are subject to the specific limitations provided in other sections of this 
QAP.  In addition, even for those projects meeting such specific limitations, MBOH will 

104



 
14 

 

evaluate such Cost Per Unit and Cost Per Square Foot for all Projects for reasonableness, 
taking into account the type of housing, other development costs as detailed below, unit 
sizes, the intended target group of the housing and other relevant factors.  MBOH will also 
consider in this review the area of the state and the community where the Project will be 
located.   

All Applications must provide justification for development costs.  These costs will be 
analyzed and scrutinized considering the individual characteristics of the Project listed above 
and will be compared to other like Projects.   

Even though the costs of some Projects may be justifiable and even in some contexts 
considered reasonable given their unique characteristics, MBOH may decline to Award 
Credits to a Project where it determines that costs do not reflect the optimal use of Housing 
Credits.  

 

Both of the following limits must be met: 

• Hard Cost Per Unit may not exceed $175,000; and  
• Total Project Costs Per Unit may not exceed $230,000. 

Applications exceeding these limits will be returned un-scored and will receive no further 
consideration, and the application fee will not be refunded.  Projects must meet these limits 
at Letter of Intent, Application, 10% Carryover Cost Certification and Final Cost 
Certification.  If these limits are exceeded at Final Cost Certification, negative points will be 
assessed with respect to future Applications as provided in Section 9, Item 910, Developer 
Knowledge and Responsiveness.  The revised $175,000 amount of the Hard Cost Per Unit 
limit set forth in this 2017 QAP and the negative points assessment provided in this 
paragraph for exceeding the cost per unit limits will apply only prospectively to Projects 
awarded Credits in the 2017 or later Award rounds. 

 
Additional Cost Limitations 
Applications must comply with the following limitations on Contractor Overhead, General 
Requirements, Contractor Profit and Developer Fee.  To the extent an Application exceeds 
these cost limitations, as calculated in Uni-App Section C, Cost Limitations and 
Requirements, the excessive costs will be reduced to the limit amount for all purposes under 
the HC program, including without limitation, calculation of basis and eligible Project costs, 
determination of Credit eligibility, and any Award, Reservation (Initial Allocation) or Final 
Allocation of Credits.  

Contractor’s Overhead   

Contractor’s Overhead is limited to a maximum of 2% of Construction Costs.   

General Requirements 

General Requirements are limited to a maximum of 6% of Total Adjusted Construction 
Costs, excluding General Requirements.   

Contractor Profit 

Contractor Profit will be limited to a maximum of 6% of Construction Costs. 

Developer Fees  

Developer Fees for New Construction or Rehabilitation will be limited to a maximum of 15% 
of Total Project Costs.  For purposes of this Developer Fee limit, Total Project Costs do not 

Comment [A4]: Alex Burkhalter #4 may be high 
-- average cost in “16” apps was 144,480, with one 
coming in at 205,775.  10% above average is 
$159,324, 10% less is $130,356, could not do 
analysis on rehabilitation, as land & building costs 
were not available. 

105



 
15 

 

include Developer Fees, Contractor Profit or land costs.  Consultant fees (amount must be 
disclosed) will be included as part of and subject to the limit on Developer Fees.  
Architectural, engineering, and legal fees are considered to be professional services, and are 
not included in this limitation; however, fees for professional services will be examined for 
reasonableness. 

Developer fees for Acquisition will be limited to a maximum of 15% of the Project 
Acquisition costs.  

Disclosure of Transactions Involving Related Parties  

If the development includes transactions with Related Parties, any profit from those 
transactions must be subtracted from the Total Development Project Cost before calculating 
the 15% maximum Developer Fee and 6% maximum Contractor Profit. Failure to fully 
disclose Related Party transactions may result in the Project’s not receiving an Award of 
Housing Credits.  MBOH reserves the right to negotiate lower Developer Fees and Contractor 
Profit on Projects involving Related Party transactions.  

Limitation on Soft Costs 
The Soft-Cost-to-Hard-Cost Ratio (“Soft Cost Ratio”) for the Project, based upon the 
Application’s UniApp, may not exceed 30% for Large Projects (more than 20 units) and 35% 
for Small Projects (20 or fewer units) or Small Rural Projects.  If the Soft Cost Ratio for a 
Project exceeds the applicable maximum, MBOH will contact the Applicant regarding the 
excessive costs and allow the Applicant to specify how and by what amount its Soft Costs 
will be reduced to comply with the maximum.  The Applicant must communicate its chosen 
Soft Costs adjustments to MBOH staff in writing within ten (10) business days after such 
communication and the Application will be deemed amended to reflect such adjustments for 
all purposes under the HC program.  All such Soft Cost adjustments and the Application, as 
amended to reflect such adjustments, must comply with this QAP in all other respects.  If 
the Applicant fails to communicate its Soft Cost adjustments to MBOH staff within the 
required time, MBOH staff will decide how and by what amount Soft Costs will be reduced to 
comply with the maximum and the Application will be deemed amended to reflect such 
adjustments for all purposes under the HC program.   

Underwriting Assumptions and Limitations 
Credit Percentage Rate for Tax Credit Calculation 

The credit percentage rate published by the federal government for the month prior to the 
date of Application will be used by Applicants and MBOH for purposes of preparation, 
submission, underwriting and evaluation of Applications and Award of HCs. 

Operating Expenses 

MBOH will evaluate Operating Expenses and Vacancy Rate underwriting assumptions for all 
Projects for reasonableness, taking into account the type of housing, unit sizes, intended 
target group of the housing and the location of the Project within the area of the state and 
the community.  Staff may require the Applicant to provide additional justification and 
documentation regarding any Operating Costs deemed to be outside the normal range.   

Debt Coverage Ratio    

The Debt Coverage Ratio (“DCR”) should be:  

• For Projects whose DCR is projected to trend upward through the first 15 years of 
normal operation, the DCR should be between 1.15 and 1.501.35 in the first year of 
normal operation, i.e., year 1 as shown on the DCR calculation of the UniApp. 

Comment [A5]: Alex Burkhalter #5 DCR in year 
1 too high at 1.50 

106



 
16 

 

• For Projects whose DCR is projected to trend downward through the first 15 years of 
normal operation, the DCR should be between 1.10 and 1.50 during the entire first 
15 years of normal operation i.e., the 15-year period that begins with year 1 as 
shown on the DCR calculation of the UniApp. 

• DCR’s outside these ranges must be justified in the Application narrative. 

MBOH will evaluate the DCR at Application, at 10% Carryover Cost Certification and at Final 
Cost Certification.  MBOH considers several variables, including projected Vacancy Rates 
(which may require upward adjustment for Small Projects) and Operating Cost data, in 
conjunction with debt service coverage, in judging the long-term financial viability of 
Projects.  MBOH may require adjustments to rents or Credit amount to assure the Credits 
Awarded are no greater than necessary to make the Project feasible. 

 

Maximum Rents 

The MBOH Board may require that rents be maintained at a specified percentage of 
maximum target rent throughout the Extended Use Period.  If required for a particular 
Project, this limitation must be specifically included as a condition of the HC Award and 
included in the Project’s Restrictive Covenants. 

Operating Reserves 

Minimum operating reserves must be established and maintained in an amount equal to at 
least four months of projected Operating Expenses, debt service payments, and annual 
replacement reserve payments.  The specific requirements for reserves, including the term 
for which reserves must be held, must be included in the limited partnership or operating 
agreement and meet the requirements of the Investor.  Using an acceptable third party 
source, this requirement can be met by either cash, letter of credit from a financial 
institution, or a Developer guarantee that a syndicator has accepted the responsibility for a 
reserve. 

Replacement Reserves 

Minimum replacement reserves must be built up in an amount equal to at least $300.00 per 
unit annually.  Exceptions may be made for certain special needs or supportive housing 
developments.  Exceptions must be documented and will be reviewed on a case by case 
basis.  In projecting replacement reserves (15 year pro-forma), developments should take 
into account a realistic rate of inflation foreseeable at the time of Application.  The specific 
requirements for reserves, including the term for which reserves must be held, will be 
included in the limited partnership or operating agreement and meet the requirements of 
the Investor.  

Utility Allowances 

The Montana Department of Commerce Section 8 Utility Allowances are the only acceptable 
utility allowances for Applications, unless otherwise provided by USDA (Rural Development), 
an MBOH-approved allowance or a HOME-approved allowance.  Utility allowances provided 
by utility providers will not be considered or accepted.   

Additional Underwriting Assumptions 

The following underwriting assumptions will be used by MBOH for underwriting of all 
Applications: 

• Vacancy rates:  10% - 20 units and less, 7% - more than 20 and up to 50 units, 5%- 
more than 50 units or 100% project based rental assistance; 

• Income Trending: 2%; 

107



 
17 

 

• Expense Trending: 3%; 
• Reserves Trending: 0%; 
• Debt Coverage Ratio:  see “Debt Coverage Ratio” subsection above; 
• Structured Debt for pro-forma not allowed; and 
• Operating expenses per unit: $3,000-$6,000 annually.  

These underwriting assumptions will used at Application, 10% Carryover Cost Certification 
and Final Cost Certification.  Credits will not be Awarded in an amount beyond those needed 
to make the Project feasible according to these underwriting assumptions. 

Project Accessibility Requirements 

The Fair Housing Act, including design and accessibility requirements, applies to HC 
properties.  In addition to meeting Fair Housing Act requirements, all New Construction and 
Rehabilitation that at least replaces interior walls and doors must incorporate the following: 

• 36 inch doors for all living areas (except pantry, storage, and closets). 
• All door hardware must comply with Fair Housing Act standards for all units. 
• Outlets mounted not less than 18 inches above floor covering. 
• Light switches, control boxes and/or thermostats mounted no more than 36 inches 

above floor covering. 
• Walls adjacent to toilets, bath tubs and shower stalls must be reinforced for later 

installation of grab bars. 
• All faucets must be lever style. 
• A minimum of a ground floor level half-bath with a 30X48 inch turn space (also 

required in Rehabilitation unless waived by staff for structural limitations or 
excessive cost, etc.) (does not apply if there is no living space on the ground floor 
level).  

• No-step entry to all ground floor level units. 

Compliance with accessibility requirements must be certified in the architect’s letter of 
certification submitted with the 8609(s) submission.  It is suggested but not required that 
Projects also include parking for caregivers for tenants with disabilities and that a lease 
addendum provide for moving a household without tenants with disabilities from a 
handicapped accessible unit to a regular unit if the handicapped accessible unit is needed for 
rental to a tenant with a disability.                 

Energy and Green Building Initiatives, Goals and Requirements 
Integrated Design Process and Community Connectivity 

Project development and design includes a holistic approach.  Processes include 
neighborhood and community involvement to ensure Project acceptance and enhancement.  
Integrated design processes ensure higher quality finish Project.  Existing neighborhood 
edges, characteristics, fabric are considered in the Project design. Some considerations may 
include but are not limited to a community design charrette, incorporating Project into 
neighborhood fabric, energy modeling, commissioning, blower door testing, etc. (see 
Required Blower Door and Infrared Testing for Projects Awarded Credits, below). 

Sustainable Site, Location and Design 

The building(s) and Project site, including the surrounding area, provide opportunities for 
education, alternative transportation, services, and community facilities.  This is evidenced, 
for example, by Projects using existing infrastructure, reusing a building or existing housing, 
redeveloping a greyfield/brownfield, or developing in an existing neighborhood.  Design 
elements use the site’s characteristics and reduce impact on the site allowing for open space 
and other amenities, such as infill projects, rehabilitating existing building(s), rehabilitating 
existing housing, providing carpooling opportunities, using well water for landscaping, etc. 

Comment [A6]: Alex #6 reserves should trend @ 
3% 

Comment [A7]: Alex Burkhalter #6 should be 
between $3,000 and $5,000 

108



 
18 

 

Passive House Standard 

Passive House is a voluntary international building standard developed by the Passive House 
Institute (PHI), located in Darmstadt, Germany (referred to as the “Passive House 
Standard”). The Passive House Standard is composed of several strict performance 
requirements for new building construction. For the renovation of existing buildings, PHI 
developed a similar if slightly more lenient performance standard. The resulting 
performance represents a roughly 90% reduction in heating and cooling energy usage and 
up to a 75% reduction in primary energy usage from existing building stock. 

Energy and Water Conservation  

Design features, product selection and renewable energy options directly reduce use of 
resources and result in cost savings.  Design and product selection exceeds applicable 
energy codes in performance.  Examples include but are not limited to Energy Star 
appliances, drip irrigation, low flow fixtures, dual flush or composting toilets, ground source 
heat, duct sealing, rain water collection, and low water consumption plants. 

Material and Resource Efficiency 

Material selections are better quality, designed for durability and long term performance 
with reduced maintenance.  Products used are available locally and/or contain recycled 
content.  Construction waste is reduced in the Project through efficient installation or 
recycling waste during construction. Considerations include but are not limited to 
construction waste management specification, recycled content products, local materials, 
reuse existing building materials, certified lumber, and sustainable harvest lumber. 

Healthy Living Environments (Indoor Environmental Quality) 

Materials and design contribute to a healthy and comfortable living environment.  
Mechanical system design, construction methods and materials preserve indoor air quality 
during construction as well as the long term performance such as fresh air circulation and 
exhaust fans, bathroom and kitchen fans exhausting air and moisture, material selection 
with low toxicity and low VOC (volatile organic compounds) paints, sealants, and adhesives.  

Smoke-Free Housing 

Promoting healthy behaviors can also have a large impact on residents at no additional cost 
to the Developer.  Smoke-free policies protect residents against the harmful health impacts 
of tobacco smoke, greatly reduce the risk of fires, and prevent damage to units caused by 
tobacco smoke.  Such policies also make properties more attractive to those who do not 
allow smoking in their own homes. 

For New Construction Projects seeking or awarded 2016 or later year Credits, the Owner 
(and any Management Company) must establish and implement a written policy that 
prohibits smoking in the units and the indoor common areas of the Project, including a non-
smoking clause in the lease for every Project unit.  The Owner (and any management 
company) rather than MBOH will be responsible to establish, implement and enforce such 
written policy and lease clause.  The Owner and management company also must make 
educational materials on tobacco treatment programs, including the phone number for the 
Montana Tobacco Quit Line, available to all tenants of the Project.  The Montana Tobacco 
Use Prevention Program Smokefree Housing Project can provide educational materials and 
smokefree signage to property owners and managers free of charge, as requested.  If 
smoking is allowed outside on the Project property, it is recommended that the written 
smoking policy require that smoking be restricted to areas no closer than 20 feet from all 
building entrances and exits.  The written policy must provide appropriate exceptions for 
bona fide cultural or religious practices.  

Comment [A8]: Tim McDonald comment.  
Wants to introduce this as a scoring item. 

109



 
19 

 

Required Blower Door and Infrared Testing for Projects Awarded Credits  

For New Construction Projects Awarded HCs: Blower door tests must be completed on every 
Single Family Project unit.  On Multi-Family Projects, blower door tests must be completed 
on the greater of twenty percent (20%) of units (such units to be selected by MBOH in 
conjunction with the testing provider) or the number of units required by State building 
codes (whether or not the State building code has been adopted in the Project’s 
jurisdiction).  Proof of such testing demonstrating compliance with the state building code 
standard (CFM50) must be submitted to MBOH to qualify for issuance of Form 8609(s).  The 
Developer or Builder must notify MBOH at least one week in advance of the date and time 
that blower door testing will be performed and MBOH staff must be permitted to attend and 
observe the testing.  

For Rehabilitation Projects Awarded HCs: Infrared tests will be required on at least 20% of 
each full units and a representative sampling ofall common areas both before and after the 
Rehabilitation.  MBOH staff may require changes to the sample selected.  The Developer or 
Builder must notify MBOH at least one week in advance of the date and time that post-
Rehabilitation infrared tests will be performed and MBOH staff must be permitted to attend 
and observe such testing.  Proof of such testing must be submitted to MBOH to qualify for 
issuance of Form 8609(s), demonstrating at least 20 degrees temperature difference from 
outdoors to inside the unit. 

Substantial Rehabilitation 
Montana’s minimum Substantial Rehabilitation standard is expenditures the greater of (i) 
$15,000 (for 4% projects)/$25,000 (for 9% Projects) of Hard Costs per rental unit, or (ii) 
an amount which is not less than 30% of the adjusted basis of the building during a 24-
month or shorter period. 

Rehabilitation Projects applying for (9%) competitive credits must meet all requirements of 
the capital needs assessment and the Application must also include a list of items in each 
unit that will be replaced, refinished, repaired, upgraded, or otherwise rehabilitation in the 
Project and a detailed narrative explaining the scope, details and expectations of the 
rehabilitation. 

Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects 
Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
(“4% Projects”) may be eligible to receive Housing Credits outside the state’s tax credit 
allocation volume cap.   Applications must meet all requirements of the applicable QAP and 
must meet at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria score specified in Section 
9, below, to receive an Allocation of Housing Credits.  Projects with tax exempt financing 
must submit a certification from the bond financing agency indicating that the Project meets 
the public purpose requirements of the bonds and that the Project is consistent with the 
needs of the community.  For purposes of Application, evaluation and Awarding tax credits 
with respect to 4% Projects, the Applicable QAP is the version of the QAP most recently and 
finally adopted as of the date of Application submission.  

Eventual Home Ownership 
Several supplemental Application documents are required for Projects that include eventual 
home ownership.  The Application must: (a) address how the Owner will administer the 
transfer of ownership to a qualified homebuyer at the end of the Compliance Period; (b) 
either identify the price at the time of the title transfer or a reasonable process to determine 
the price; (c) document that the potential owners will be required to complete a homebuyer 
counseling program; and (d) identify how Reserve for Replacement funds will be used at the 
time of sale of the properties.   

110



 
20 

 

At the time of sale, the HC Owner must provide a copy of the title transfer together with a 
certificate verifying that the new homeowner completed a homebuyer program within five 
years prior to the transfer of title.  Enforceable covenants must maintain the home as 
affordable and prevent sale or resale to a realtor, financial institution, or a family with an 
income over 80% AMI, or more than 80% of FHA appraised value.  Families who exceed 
income levels of 80% of AMI at the time of the sale must have qualified at the appropriate 
AMI contained in the recorded Restrictive Covenants for the Project evidenced by the Tenant 
Income Certification at the initial rent-up for the family. Tenant qualification documentation 
must be sent to MBOH for approval before the sale is completed.  Please contact MBOH for 
current forms.  Units not sold under the Eventual Home Ownership Program must remain in 
compliance with Section 42 until such time as they are sold to a qualified buyer or the end 
of the Extended Use Period. 

130% Basis Boost 
Basis Boost for QCT and DDA Projects 

Federal law permits MBOH to reserve Housing Credits based on a “basis boost” of 30% for 
Projects in a Qualified Census Tract (“QCT”) or in HUD designated Difficult Development 
Areas (“DDA”).  In addition, a 30% “basis boost” may be available for non-QCT or DDA 
Projects based upon the specific requirements specified below. 

MBOH Discretionary Basis Boost for Non-QCT/DDA Projects 

For buildings not already eligible for the 30% “basis boost” by virtue of being located in a 
QCT or DDA, up to 130% of the eligible basis of a New Construction building or the 
Rehabilitation portion of an existing building may be considered in Awarding Housing Credits 
if MBOH determines that an increase in Housing Credits is necessary to achieve the Project’s 
feasibility.  MBOH staff may recommend an Award of Housing Credits, and the MBOH Board, 
at the time it considers authorizing Reservations of Housing Credits, may Award Credits for 
such buildings based upon a basis boost of up to 30%.  Applications for Projects not located 
in a DDA or QCT may be submitted with requested Housing Credits calculated at up to 
130% of eligible basis.   The Application narrative and supporting documentation must 
specify and explain in detail the applicable considerations supporting the need for the 
requested basis boost (i.e., any of items 1 through 5, below) and justify the need for the 
requested basis boost.  Considerations justifying a need for a basis boost are: 

1. Qualification of the Application for the Small Rural Project set aside pool; 
2. Qualification of the building location for Rural Development funding; 
3. Targeting of more than 10% of the Project units to 40% or below area median 

income level or more than 62% of Project units to 50% or below area median income 
level; 

4. The Project includes historical preservation or Preservation of existing affordable 
housing; or 

5. The Project is located within a community where unusual market conditions produce 
higher than normal labor and material costs, unusually high land cost and/or rent 
and income limits which are too low to support the cash flows required by the 
Project’s financial structure. 

The MBOH discretionary basis boost does not apply to non-competitive 4% Credits. 

Non-Housing Amenities 
Swimming pools, tennis courts, golf courses, and other similar amenities will not be funded 
by Housing Credits.  Proposed Projects may include such amenities only if the amenities are 
funded by sources other than Housing Credits.  Subject to the requirements of this QAP, 

Comment [A9]: Kevin Thane #1  suggests 
different levels of boost for targeting 

111



 
21 

 

garages or car ports may be funded by Housing Credits considering Montana’s extreme 
winter weather.  

Accountant and Owner Certification 
Prior to the 10% Carryover Cost Certification deadline and at Final Cost Certification, MBOH 
requires an independent third party CPA cost certification, including a statement of eligible 
and qualified basis for the Project.  The Accountant Certification must include a breakdown 
of costs similar to the Project Sources and Uses of the Application, including development 
cost limitation categories as discussed in this QAP.  The Owner must provide the CPA 
certification, under penalty of perjury, providing the Owner’s name and address, the placed 
in service date, taxpayer identification number, the Project name and address, building(s) 
address(s), building identification numbers, the total eligible and qualified basis, and, if 
applicable, the percentage of the Project financed by tax-exempt bonds. 

Information Request and Release Policy 
Requests for information and documents from MBOH will be handled in accordance with and 
subject to applicable law and the MBOH Information and Release Policy, which policy is 
available on the MBOH website at [URL]. 

 

Ex Parte Communication Policy   
MBOH Board members should refrain from ex parte communications with interested persons 
or parties, or their representatives, who may be affected by any matter on which members 
may take official Board action.  Ex parte communications may include communications that 
take place outside a duly noticed meeting or hearing of the Board, relate to a matter on 
which the Board may take action to determine to rights or obligations of the person or 
party, and which convey information or may otherwise influence the Board member 
regarding the matter. 

If a Board member is unable to avoid such communications, the member will be required to 
disclose at a public meeting of the Board the full content of such communication and the 
identity of the person making the communication.  In addition, the Board member may be 
disqualified from participating in Board action on the matter.  Such communications may 
also subject the Board to challenge regarding its action on the matter. 

Ex parte communications do not include communications regarding general matters of 
housing, funding for low-income housing, or other Board policy, and do not include Board 
member speaking appearances, conferences, consulting engagements or other events or 
settings to the extent not involving communications such as those described above. 

The foregoing statement is provided as general information.  Ex parte communications are 
addressed in further detail and governed by the MBOH Ex Parte Communication Policy, 
available on the MBOH website at [URL]. 

 
SECTION 4 - APPLICATION SUBMISSION AND AWARD 
SCHEDULE – MANNER OF SUBMISSION 
Competitive 9% Credit Applications 
Applicants may apply for an Award of 9% Credits for a particular Project no later than the 
applicable submission deadline specified below or otherwise set by MBOH.   

112



 
22 

 

Applicants must submit the Application and the applicable fee (based on the fee schedule 
below) to MBOH as required in this QAP.  A separate Application is required for each Project.  
A single Application should include all buildings within a single Project. 

Complete Letters of Intent/Applications meeting all requirements of this QAP must be 
received at MBOH's office by 5:00 pm Mountain Time on the Letter of Intent/Application 
submission date specified below. 

First Award Round:  
o Letter of Intent Submission  First Monday in July 2016 
o Applicant Presentations/ 

Board Invitations to Apply  August 2016 MBOH Board Meeting 
o Application Submission   First Monday in October 2016 
o Award Determination   January 2017 MBOH Board Meeting 

Second Award Round (if any): 
If the Board decides to hold a second Award round, it will determine and post on 
MBOH’s website the dates for submission of Letters of Intent and Applications, Board 
review, discussion and invitation to apply, Applicant presentations and Award 
determination. 

Any of the above deadlines and dates may be extended or changed by MBOH if 
circumstances warrant, and in such event MBOH will provide notice of such extension or 
change by posting on MBOH’s website.  The MBOH Board, in its discretion, may waive any 
requirement of this QAP if it determines such waiver to be in the best interests of MBOH, the 
HC program or the application cycle.  In any Application/Award round or rounds, the MBOH 
Board may elect to Award less than all available Credits or to not Award any Credits if the 
MBOH Board determines that such is in the best interests of MBOH, the HC program or the 
Application cycle.  

Board Consideration and Determination Process 
At the MBOH Board’s meeting in the month after submission of Letters of Intent, MBOH staff 
will present Letters of Intent to the MBOH Board. MBOH will provide an opportunity for 
Applicants to make a presentation to the MBOH Board regarding their Projects and Letters 
of Intent and will provide an opportunity for public comment on proposed Projects and 
Applications.  Applicant presentations will be limited to 10 minutes or less.  The MBOH 
Board may ask questions of Applicants and discuss proposed Projects for purposes of 
assisting the Board in determining which Projects it will invite to submit Applications and 
assisting Applicants in presenting better Applications, but such questions, answers and 
discussions shall not be binding upon MBOH in any later Award determination or other 
MBOH process. 

After considering the Letters of Intent, presentations, questions and answers and 
discussion, the MBOH Board will select those Projects that it will invite to submit 
Applications.  Selection for invitation to submit an Application may be based upon 
consideration of any of the Selection Criteria permitted to be considered for purposes of an 
Award under this QAP, but no evaluation or scoring of Letters of Intent will be done or 
considered for purposes of selection for invitation to submit an Application.  For purposes of 
determining the number of Projects to select: (a) the total amount of Credits requested for 
all Projects invited to submit Applications will not exceed 150% of the State’s Available 
Annual Credit Allocation determined as provided in Section 6; and (b) no more than 10 
Projects will be selected.  Each Project so selected by the MBOH Board will deemed invited 
to submit an Application.  An Application may be submitted only for a Project invited by the 

Comment [A10]: .  Alex Burkhalter #7 does not 
support the change with only a 10-minute 
presentation, a 2-page narrative, and single 
spreadsheet, no requirement for a market study, 
major part of full application is proving development 
team can deliver the project, verifiable 
demonstration of need, financial underwriting, 
financial partners, appropriate positioning of project 
in the market, necessary approvals, and site control, 
appropriate infrastructure.  Don’t believe a 
determination can be made on a 3-page package that 
“best meet the most pressing needs of low income 
people with in the state of Montana.  It is for these 
reasons that I request all projects, if they meet 
minimum requirements and minimum scoring are 
given a full consideration for an award of Housing 
Tax Credits. 

113



 
23 

 

MBOH Board to submit an Application.  All other Applications will be returned without 
consideration.   

At the MBOH Board’s meeting in the month of Application submission, MBOH staff will 
present Applications to the MBOH Board.  The MBOH Board may ask questions of Applicants 
and discuss proposed Projects but there will be no Applicant presentations.  MBOH will 
provide an opportunity for public comment on proposed Projects and Applications.   

At the Award Determination Meeting, Applicants should be available to the MBOH Board to 
answer questions regarding their respective Applications.  Applicants shall have an 
opportunity to respond to any negative comments.   

4% Credit Applications for Tax Exempt Bond Financed Projects 
Projects with tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private activity bonds 
(“4% Projects”) may be eligible to receive tax credits outside the state’s tax credit allocation 
volume cap.  An Applicant for tax-exempt financing under the volume limitation on private 
activity bonds also seeking an Award of 4% Credits for a scattered-site Project under a 
single partnership may apply for such credits by submission of a single Application that 
includes sub-applications for each property included in the Project.   

Full Applications for tax-exempt financing and related 4% Credits may be submitted at any 
time; submission is not limited to the Application schedule set forth above for 9% Credit 
competitive awards.  However, complete Applications must be received by MBOH at least 6 
weeks before the scheduled MBOH Board meeting at which the Application is to be 
considered.  Changes to the Application that require MBOH to re-underwrite the Application 
will restart the minimum 6-week period. 

The Application fee for 4% Projects is 1% of the amount of annual Credits requested in the 
Application and must be submitted to and received in the MBOH office for the Application to 
receive consideration.  In addition, Final Allocation of 4% Credits is subject to payment in 
full of applicable bond closing fees at bond closing per the MBOH Private Placement policy 
available on the MBOH website at [URL]. 

Applications for 4% Projects must meet all requirements of the Applicable QAP, including 
meeting at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria threshold score specified in 
Section 9 to receive an Allocation of Housing Credits.  Projects with tax exempt financing 
must submit a certification from the bond financing agency indicating that the Project meets 
the public purpose requirements of the bonds and that the Project is consistent with the 
needs of the community.  For purposes of Application, evaluation and Awarding Housing 
Credits with respect to 4% Projects, the Applicable QAP is the version of the QAP most 
recently and finally adopted as of the date of Application submission.  

 

Application Submission Method for 4% and 9% Credit 
Applications 
Electronic submission of Applications using MBOH’s system (currently ShareFile) is preferred 
but hard copy Applications will also be accepted.  Please contact staff (preferably at least a 
week ahead of the submission deadline) for set up and for specific instructions on how to 
access this system.  In submitting or preparing to submit Applications, Applicants shall not   
change or create folders or otherwise change the file structure within the ShareFile 
submission.  An Applicant may request an additional folder by contacting MBOH staff.   

 

 

114



 
24 

 

SECTION 5 - FEE SCHEDULE 
Letter of Intent 
The Letter of Intent fee is $1,500.00 and must be submitted to and received in the MBOH 
office by the applicable Letter of Intent deadline.  MBOH will not consider Letters of Intent 
submitted without the Letter of Intent fee.  The Letter of Intent fee is not refundable.  

Application 
The application fee is 1% of the amount of credits requested in the Application and must be 
submitted to and received in the MBOH office by the applicable application deadline.  MBOH 
will not consider Applications submitted without the application fee.  The application fee is 
not refundable and will not be adjusted even if the MBOH Board Awards no credits or only a 
portion of the tax credits requested. 

In addition to the application fee, a Reservation fee in the amount of 8% of the credits 
reserved is due on or before December 1 of the year in which the Award is made (e.g., 
December 1, 2017 for 2017 credit Awards made in January 2017).  After a Reservation 
Agreement is executed the Reservation fee is not refundable.  If the conditions described in 
the Reservation Agreement are not met, the entire Reservation fee will be forfeited to 
MBOH. 

Requesting Additional Credits After Initial Allocation   
As MBOH, in its discretion, determines necessary for financial feasibility, returned or 
unreserved Housing Credits may be used to increase the amount of Housing Credits 
reserved for a Project after the first round Awards have been made.  In considering a 
request for an increase under this paragraph, MBOH may consider any anticipated potential 
need for returned or unreserved Credits to fund Projects that would otherwise be funded or 
require greater funding under the Corrective Award set aside under Section 7.  An Applicant 
seeking an increase in the amount of reserved Credits must apply in writing for such 
increase and must submit new financials (UniApp Section C) and documentation of cost 
increases. Applications for additional Credits must be submitted to staff.  Staff will review 
and evaluate supporting financials and new cost documentation and a staff recommendation 
will be presented at a later MBOH Board meeting for consideration.  Staff will not 
recommend and the MBOH Board will not approve any increase beyond that necessary to 
make the Project feasible. 

Any request for Credits above the amount initially Awarded is considered a request for 
additional Credits after Initial Allocation and is subject to the provisions of this section. 

An Application and Reservation fee of 9% of the additional Housing Credits requested is due 
with the request.  In the event an increase for the additional requested Credits is not 
approved, the Reservation fee in the amount of 8% will be refunded.   

Compliance Fees 
See Section 12, Compliance Monitoring. 

Developer/Owner Reimbursement of Board Legal Expenses 
The Developer/Owner of any Project awarded credits will be required to reimburse MBOH for 
legal fees and expenses incurred by MBOH with respect to any non-standard request, 
change, document or other matters relating to Reservation (Initial Allocation), Carryover 
Commitment, compliance or other aspects of qualifying for or obtaining Housing Credits.  
Such fees and expenses must be paid within 30 days of MBOH’s submission of an invoice.  

115



 
25 

 

MBOH shall not be required to complete any pending process, approval or other action until 
such fees and expenses are paid in full.      

 

SECTION 6 - MAXIMUM AWARDS  
Maximum Credit Award  
Twenty-five percent (25%) of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation will be the 
maximum Credit Awarded or Allocated to any one Project or Developer.  The state’s 
Available Annual Credit Allocation is defined as and includes the state’s actual or estimated 
credit ceiling for the current year plus any other available Credits from prior year credit 
authority determined as of 20 business days prior to the applicable application deadline, and 
includes any Credits held back pursuant to court order or subject to Award under the 
Corrective Award set aside.  The Developer’s percentage of the Development Fee, as 
specified in a written development agreement, will be that Developer’s percentage of the 
25% limit.  The maximum Credit Award for a Project will be determined based upon the 
state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation for the Housing Credit year from which the Project 
is first Awarded HCs. If the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is not known as of 20 
business days prior to the applicable application deadline, the Available Annual Credit 
Allocation from the previous year will be used, subject to later adjustment once the state’s 
actual Available Annual Credit Allocation is known.  If an estimated amount is used for 
Award purposes, all Awards based upon such estimate shall be conditional upon a final 
determination of the state’s actual Available Annual Credit Allocation.   

MBOH does not commit tax credits from future years, except as specifically provided in this 
QAP. The MBOH Board may Award Housing Credits from a future year’s Available Annual 
Credit Allocation at any time outside the competitive cycle for purposes of funding repair or 
replacement of a Project building due to a life/safety emergency as determined by the 
MBOH Board in its discretion.  The Applicant must submit a Letter of Intent and the Board 
must invite the Applicant to submit an Application before making an Award.  The Application 
must meet all QAP requirements. 

 
SECTION 7 – SET ASIDES  
Non-profit 
Ten percent of each state's credit ceiling must be set aside for buildings which are part of 
one or more Projects involving Qualified Nonprofit Organizations.   

The 10% non-profit set-aside requirement may be met by an Award to a Project involving a 
Qualified Nonprofit Organization out of any other set-aside or the general pool.  If no Project 
Awarded HCs involves a Qualified Nonprofit Organization, the non-profit set aside (i.e., 10% 
of the state's credit ceiling) will be held back for later Award to a Project involving a 
Qualified Nonprofit Organization. 

Corrective Award 
Such portion of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is reserved and set-aside as is 
necessary for Award of credits to: 

• Any Project for which an Application was submitted in a prior round or year, if: 
o a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction determines or declares that 

such Applicant was entitled to an Award in such prior round or year or 
requires MBOH to make an Award or Allocation of tax credits to such Project; 

116



 
26 

 

o a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction invalidates or sets aside an 
Award of credits to an approved Project from such prior round or year and a 
Reservation Agreement was executed by MBOH and such Applicant prior to 
issuance of such court order, unless such court order determines that such 
Project was not eligible or qualified under the applicable QAP to receive an 
Award of tax credits; or 

o MBOH, upon further consideration of any Award determination as required by 
and in accordance with the order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
determines that such Project was entitled to an Award in such prior round or 
year. 

All requirements and conditions of this Corrective Award set aside provision must be met to 
receive an Award under this set aside provision.  The amount of any Award under the 
Corrective Award set aside shall be the amount specified by the court, or if no Award 
amount is specified by the court, an amount determined by MBOH in accordance with this 
QAP.  The Corrective Award set aside shall be funded first from returned or unreserved tax 
credits from a prior year.  Awards may be “future allocated” under this Corrective Action set 
aside, i.e., such Awards may be made from returned or unreserved tax credits from a prior 
year and/or the current year’s credits at any MBOH Board meeting after the final court order 
has been issued and presented to MBOH.  Such Award need not await the annual 
Application and Award cycle. 

Where a court orders that an amount of the current year’s credits be set aside for a Project 
pending the decision of the court, if the court’s decision is not received before the end of the 
current year, the credits set aside will become classified as the next year’s credits, as 
required by federal code.  

If the court orders MBOH to Award credits to any Project under this set-aside, the Project 
must submit an updated Application so the MBOH can review and underwrite current 
numbers and assumptions to verify that the amount of credits requested or some other 
credit amount is justified for Project feasibility, unless otherwise ordered by the court.  The 
corrective awardee must pay the Reservation fee as required in Section 5.  

Small Rural Projects 
Twenty percent (20%) of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation is set-aside for Small 
Rural Projects.  For purposes of this set-aside, a Small Rural Project is a Project: (1) for 
which the submitted tax credit Application requests tax credits in an amount up to but no 
more than 10% of the state’s Available Annual Credit Allocation, (2) with 20 or fewer low-
income units, and (3) proposed to be developed and constructed in a location that is not 
within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great Falls, Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula.  

General Rules Regarding Set Asides 
MBOH reserves the right to determine in which set-aside a Project will be reviewed (subject 
to its eligibility), regardless of its eligibility for any other set-aside.  For example, if a Project 
is submitted as a Small Rural Project in order to utilize the Small Rural Project set-aside 
when it is clearly part of a larger or non-rural Project, the Project will be placed in the 
proper category as determined by MBOH staff.   

To qualify and receive consideration to receive an Award of credits under a set-aside, the 
Project must meet all applicable requirements of this QAP and must receive minimum 
Development Evaluation Criteria score specified in this QAP. 

The MBOH Board reserves the right to not Award credits to a qualifying Small Rural Project 
even if the Project meets the minimum required score, if the MBOH Board, at its discretion, 
determines another Project or Projects better meet the most pressing housing needs of low 

117



 
27 

 

income people within the state of Montana, taking into consideration the Selection Criteria 
of this QAP as determined in accordance with Section 9. 

In the event there are insufficient tax credits available to fully fund all set aside categories, 
the respective set asides categories shall be funded in the following order of priority: (1) 
Non-profit; (2) Corrective Award; and (3) Small Rural Project. 

 

SECTION 8 – LETTER OF INTENT AND APPLICATION 
PROCESS 
Applicants are responsible to read and comply with this Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP) (and 
any other Applicable QAP) and accompanying materials. 

Applicants are responsible to determine the degree that their building(s) and development 
correspond to the MBOH's Selection Criteria contained in this QAP.  

Applicants are responsible to consult their own tax attorney or accountant concerning: (a) 
each building's eligibility for the tax credit; (b) the amount of the credit, if any, for which 
their building(s) may be eligible; and (c) their ability and/or their Investor's ability to use 
the tax credit.  

Letter of Intent 
All Projects wishing to apply for HCs in Montana must submit a Letter of Intent by the 
deadline specified in Section 4 with the applicable fee.   

All Letters of Intent must be submitted in the format posted on the Board’s website.    The 
Project Location, type (e.g., family or elderly), and Developer specified in the Letter of 
Intent may not be changed in any later Application.  Other information in the Letter of 
Intent (e.g., cost information, number of units, unit sizes, income targeting, rents, hard and 
soft loan sources, etc.) will be considered the Applicant’s best estimates and may be 
changed in the Application.  No market study or mini-market study is required for purposes 
of a Letter of Intent. 

Application 
An Application may not be submitted for a Project unless a Letter of Intent has been 
submitted with respect to the Project according to the requirements of this QAP and the 
Board has invited that Project to submit an Application.  MBOH will return all other 
Applications without consideration, along with the application fee.   

Applicants must commission a full market study as outlined in the MBOH Market Study 
Form.  Such Market Study must be included with the Application submission in accordance 
with the Threshold Requirements below. 

Applicants must complete and submit the Uniform Application and Supplement, full market 
study and full application fee by the applicable application deadline (see Section 4, 
Application Submission and Award Schedule).  Applicants must use the most current form of 
the Uniform Application (UniApp) and Supplement available on the MBOH website at: 
http://housing.mt.gov/UniformApplication 

Threshold Requirements Are Mandatory 
Threshold Requirements are mandatory for all Letters of Intent and Applications.  Letters of 
Intent and Applications received not meeting all Threshold Requirements or other 
requirements of this QAP will be returned un-scored and will receive no further 
consideration.  Fees will not be refunded. 

118



 
28 

 

Submit complete Applications to MBOH.  Electronic submission of Applications using MBOH’s 
system (currently ShareFile) is preferred but hard copy Applications will also be accepted.  
Please contact staff (preferably at least a week ahead of the submission deadline) for 
specific instructions on how to access this system. In submitting or preparing to submit 
Applications, Applicants shall not change or create folders or otherwise change the file 
structure within the ShareFile submission.  Applicants may request an additional folder by 
contacting MBOH staff.   

MBOH staff may communicate with Applicants for purposes of providing interpretive 
guidance or other information or for purposes of clarifying Applications.  MBOH staff may 
allow minor corrections to Applications, but will return and will not further consider 
Applications requiring substantial revision or those that are substantially incomplete.  

Threshold Requirements 
To be eligible for further consideration, all Letters of Intent and Applications must be 
submitted in accordance with the requirements of this QAP and the following Threshold 
Requirements.  

ALL MBOH FORMS REFERENCED IN THIS QAP ARE AVAILABLE ON THE MBOH WEBSITE AT 
[URL].  ALL FORMS SUBMITTED TO MBOH IN OR AS PART OF THE APPLICATION, 
DEVELOPMENT, UNDERWRITING, ALLOCATION, COST CERTIFICATION, COMPLIANCE OR 
OTHER PROCESSES UNDER THIS QAP MUST BE THE MOST CURRENT FORM AVAILABLE ON 
THE MBOH WEBSITE.  If the most current Form(s) are not used, submissions may be 
returned and required to be resubmitted on the correct Form.  

Letters of Intent must: 

1.  Include the applicable fee; 
2.  Be received by the applicable deadline; and 
3.  Be substantially complete and in the format prescribed in the MBOH Letter of Intent 

Form. 

Applications must: 

1. Include the application fee; 
  

2. Be received by the applicable deadline;  
 

3.  Include all of the documents, information and other items specified in threshold 
requirements 4 through 26 below;  
 

4. Include a cover letter summarizing the Project, limited to 2 pages, which will be 
provided to MBOH Board members within one week following the Application 
deadline ; 
 

5. Include a fully completed, UniApp, including all applicable Forms, all in the most 
current forms as posted on the MBOH website. 
 

6. Specify the Qualified Management Company that will provide property management 
service to the Project and provide a copy of the written agreement with the 
management company evidencing the company’s commitment to provide 
management services.  Upon written notice from MBOH that the Application has 
identified a management company that is not a Qualified Management Company, the 
Applicant must submit to MBOH within ten (10) days a written designation of a 
Qualified Management Company and a copy of the written agreement with the 

119



 
29 

 

management company evidencing the replacement company’s commitment to 
provide management services.  
 

7. Include a Market Study prepared and signed by a disinterested third party analyst, 
with certificate (included in MBOH Market Study Form) signed by analyst and 
notarized.  Market Studies must be completed within six (6) months prior to the 
submission date of the Application, must have the market analyst complete a 
physical inspection of the market area within one (1) year of the Application and 
must adhere to minimum market study requirements in MBOH Market Study Form. 
 

8. Include documentation of Land or Property Control. 
 

9. Include documentation from the applicable local zoning authority that applicable 
zoning requirements are met or otherwise addressed, e.g., Project is within 
applicable zoning requirements, part of an approved planned unit development, 
subject to a zoning change request for which a change request has been 
submittedthat has been or will be approved, or not subject to any existing zoning 
requirements.  Acquisition/Rehabilitation Projects may provide documentation that 
the Project will not require a change in zoning requirements. 
 

10. Include documentation of availability and capacity of utilities to serve the Project, 
including documentation that utilities are available to the Project and the present 
proximity of utilities to the Project location.  Such documentation must be from the 
electric, gas/propane, water and/or sewer/septic provider/company, as applicable.  
Acquisition/Rehabilitation Projects need only provide such documentation for any 
expected additional load.  Documentation of utility availability and capacity must not 
be more than 24 months old at the time of Application submission.  MBOH staff may 
in its discretion require the Applicant to provide updated documentation.  
 

11. Include a preliminary financing letter from a lender indicating the proposed terms 
and conditions of the loan.  The financing letter must formally express interest in 
financing the Project sufficient to support the terms and conditions represented in 
the Project financing section of the Application. 
 

12. Include a letter of interest from an equity provider including an anticipated price 
based on the market at time of the Application. 
 

13. For all Applications, include a comparative market analysis (“CMA”) or an appraisal 
done by an independent (non-related) party.  Such CMA or appraisal is required 
regardless of the manner or method of Acquisition and must cover all real estate 
acquired, including land and/or buildings.  Land and existing building values must be 
listed separately. 
 

14. For Rehabilitation Applications, include a full scale Capital Needs Assessment on the 
USDA Rural Development Capital Needs Assessment (CNA) template or similar form, 
a list of items in each unit that will be replaced, refinished, repaired, upgraded or 
otherwise rehabilitated, and a detailed narrative explaining the scope, details and 
expectations of the Rehabilitation. 
 

15. For Applications proposing Rehabilitation or replacement of existing units, include a 
preliminary relocation plan addressing the logistics of moving tenants out of their 
residences and providing temporary housing during the Rehabilitation or replacement 

Comment [A11]: Alex Burkhalter #8  change 
request should not have to be approved at 
application, as some localities will not consider until 
application awarded, change back to original 
language. 

120



 
30 

 

and returning tenants to their residences upon completion of the Rehabilitation or 
replacement. 

16. Include a site plan, and a Design Professional’s preliminary floor plan and 
elevations/photos of existing properties for the Project. 
 

17. For Applications for Projects involving Qualified Nonprofit Organizations and seeking 
to qualify for the non-profit set aside under Section 7, include: (a) a copy of the IRS 
determination letter documenting such organization’s 501(c)(3) or (4) status; (b) an 
affidavit by the organization’s managing partner or member certifying that the 
organization is not and during the Compliance Period will not be affiliated with or 
controlled by a for-profit organization; and (c) documentation that one of the exempt 
purposes of the organization includes the fostering of low-income housing. 
 

18. For Applications proposing a property tax exemption for rental housing providing 
affordable housing to lower-income tenants pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 15-6-
221, include documentation of intent to conduct a public hearing as required by 
Mont. Code Ann. § 15-6-221(2).  Such public hearing must be conducted by the 
Owner and documentation of such public hearing must be submitted prior to 
issuance of the Carryover Commitment.  If the Application does not include 
documentation of intent to conduct the required public hearing, the Project will be 
underwritten as if no exemption was or will be received.  . 
 

19. Specify the Extended Use Period. 
 

20. For Projects targeted for Eventual Homeownership, provide the supplemental 
Application documents and information specified in Section 3, Eventual Home 
Ownership.   
 

21. Specify the selected minimum set aside (20-50 test) or (40-60 test). 
 

22. Include a copy of both the public notice and the affidavit of publication from the 
publisher, meeting the requirements specified in this Section 8, Public Notice,. 
 

23. Include letters of community support. These support letters must be Project specific 
and address how the Project meets the needs of the community.  New letters of 
support (as well as new letters of non-support) must be submitted for each 
Application for each Application round.  Generic support for affordable housing will 
not be considered support for the specific Project being considered. These letters will 
be provided to the MBOH Board for its consideration. 
 

24. If the Project is an Elderly Property, include a stipulation of minimum tenant or 
resident age (i.e., 55 or 62 and over).  
 

25. Include a narrative addressing each of the Development Evaluation Criteria, 
demonstrating how the Application meets each of these criteria, and providing a 
specific explanation and justification of the points sought for each scoring item.  
Narrative references to the Market Study must cite the specific page and paragraph 
of the Market Study.  The narrative must include the Applicant’s own proposed total 
score for each scoring item in the Development Evaluation Criteria and, at the 
conclusion of the narrative, the Applicant’s own proposed total score. 
 

26. Include the completed and signed Indemnification Form, Cost Sponsor Certification 
Form and Release of Information Form. 

121



 
31 

 

 
27. Include a copy of the public notice and affidavit of publication required below under 

“Public Notice.” 
 

Applications must also demonstrate that the proposed Projects are financially sound.  This 
includes reasonable financing terms, costs, expenses, and sufficient cash flow to support the 
operations of the Project, all of which must meet the underwriting standards of MBOH. 

Public Notice 

An Applicant must place a notice in the local newspaper of the intent to apply for Housing 
Credits, and encouraging submission of public comment to MBOH.  Such notice must include 
name of Project, number of units, location of Project, for-profit or non-profit status, and, if 
applicable, intent to request tax-exempt status for the Project.  The notice will be placed as 
a box advertisement in the newspaper within 90 days prior to or not more than 5 working 
days after the due date of the Application and will allow for not less than 30 days for 
submission of comments to MBOH. The notice must be published twice within a seven-day 
period.  A copy of the notice, together with an affidavit of publication showing the dates 
published, must be included in the Application. 

Example of Public Notice 

(Name of Developer, address, telephone number), a (for-profit/non-profit) organization, 
hereby notifies all interested persons of  (city, town, community name) that we are planning 
to develop, (Name of Project) an affordable multi-family rental housing complex on the site 
at (street location).  This complex will consist of (number) (one bedroom, two bedroom, or 
three bedroom) units for (elderly persons/families). This Project (will/will not) be exempt 
from property taxes.   

An Application (will be/has been) submitted to the Montana Board of Housing for federal tax 
credits financing.   

You are encouraged to submit comments regarding the need for affordable multi-family 
rental housing in your area to the Montana Board of Housing, PO Box 200528, Helena, MT  
59620-0528 or FAX (406) 841-2841.  Comments will be accepted until 5 PM the Friday 
before the MBOH Board Award Determination Meeting (see Section 4, Application Cycle).  

 
SECTION 9 – EVALUATION AND AWARD 
Threshold Evaluation and Considerations 
MBOH staff will review all Applications received by the applicable submission deadline for 
compliance with all Threshold Requirements, including but not limited to completeness, 
soundness of the development, and eligibility based on federal requirements and this QAP.  
Applications determined by MBOH staff to not substantially meet all Threshold Requirements 
or other requirements of this QAP or federal law will be returned un-scored and will receive 
no further consideration.  Except as specifically provided in this QAP, Application fees will 
not be refunded. 

MBOH staff may communicate with Applicants for purposes of providing interpretive 
guidance or other information or for purposes of clarifying, verifying or confirming any 
information in Applications.  MBOH staff may allow minor corrections to Applications, but will 
return and will not further consider Applications requiring substantial revision or those that 
are substantially incomplete.   

Comment [A12]: Alex Burkhalter #9  delete, is 
same as 22.   

122



 
32 

 

MBOH staff may query an Applicant or other persons regarding any concerns related to a 
Housing Credit Application or the management, construction or operation of a proposed or 
existing low income housing Project.  Questionable or illegal housing practices or 
management, insufficient or inadequate response by the Applicant, General Partners, or 
Management Company as a whole or in part, may be grounds for Disqualification of an 
Application and non-consideration for an Award of Housing Credits. 

As part of its review of Applications, MBOH staff will contact community officials of the 
Project location to discuss relevant evaluation criteria information pertaining to the 
Application and the proposed Project.  MBOH may also contact any other third parties to 
confirm or seek clarification regarding any information in the Application, including but not 
limited to checking Development Team references, verifying credit reports and verifying 
information through direct contact with the Project Developer.   

Between the submission deadline and the MBOH Board Award Determination Meeting, as 
required by federal law, MBOH will notify the chief executive officer of the local jurisdiction 
of each proposed development requesting comments on the development.  

Housing Credit Allocations will be subject to three underwriting evaluations: (i) evaluation 
for purposes of Award/Reservation and, for Projects that have received an Award of credits 
and entered into a Reservation Agreement, (ii) evaluation for purposes of the 10% 
Carryover Cost Certification, and (iii) evaluation for purposes of Final Cost Certification. 

MBOH will return and will not consider for an Award of Credits: 

• Incomplete Applications; 
• Unsound Applications, i.e., Projects for which the Market Study and other available 

market information fails to demonstrate adequate market need within the proposed 
location community or Projects that are not financially feasible, including but not 
limited to viable cash flow, based upon MBOH underwriting standards as set forth in 
this QAP;   

• An Application submitted by an entity with a demonstrated poor track record in 
completion of development or management of low income housing, whether located 
in Montana or another state;  

• Applications submitted by Applicants with current Project(s) that have/had numerous 
or unresolved substantial non-compliance issues or IRS  8823’s (consideration will be 
given to the type of 8823); 

• Any other Application failing to meet any mandatory requirement of this QAP or 
federal law; and 

• Any Application as otherwise specified in this QAP. 

Applications meeting all minimum Threshold Requirements and not excluded from further 
consideration under this QAP will be evaluated for the amount of tax credits needed for 
feasibility and long term viability and will be evaluated and scored according to the 
Development Evaluation Criteria section below. 

Amount of Tax Credit Allocation 
Although a proposed development may be technically eligible for a certain Credit amount, 
federal law prohibits MBOH from allocating more Credits than necessary for the financial 
feasibility of the development and its viability as a qualified low income housing Project 
throughout the Compliance Period.  Accordingly, an Award of Housing Credits under this 
QAP will be limited to the amount of Credits that MBOH, in its sole discretion, deems 
necessary to make the development feasible and viable throughout the Compliance Period.   

In determining the amount of Credits necessary, MBOH will consider:   

123



 
33 

 

• The Sources and Uses of funds and the total financing planned for the Project.  
Funds, including funds from federal sources, such as HOME grant money, Rural 
Development, and similar funds, may be loaned by or through a parent organization 
to a Project at an interest rate below the Applicable Federal Rate (AFR).  Such loans 
will not reduce the basis for the Project providing they are true loans. 

• Grants made with federal funds directly to a Project, which will reduce basis. 
• Any proceeds or receipts expected to be generated by the Housing Credits.  
• The reasonableness of the development and operational costs of the Project.  

Based on its evaluation, MBOH will make a preliminary determination of the amount of 
Credits deemed necessary for the financial feasibility of the development and its viability as 
a qualified low income housing Project throughout the Compliance Period.  This 
determination is made solely at MBOH's discretion, and is not intended to be a 
representation or warranty to anyone as to the feasibility of the development.  Rather, it will 
serve as the basis for making an Award of Credits.  A similar analysis will be done at the 
time of 10% Carryover Cost Certification and at Final Cost Certification prior to issuing IRS 
Form(s) 8609.  Neither the selection of a Project to receive an Award of Housing Credits nor 
the amount of Credits to be allocated constitutes a representation or warranty that the 
Owner or Developer should undertake the development, or that no risk is involved for the 
Investor. 

 
Development Evaluation Criteria and Scoring 
In addition to evaluation under all other QAP Selection Criteria, Applications will be 
evaluated and scored according to the following Development Evaluation Criteria. 

• Awarding of points to Projects pursuant to these Development Evaluation Criteria is 
for purposes of determining that the Projects meet at least a minimum threshold of 
1100 of the total possible 1419 available points to qualify for further consideration.  
Developments not scoring the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria score of 
1100 of the total possible 1419 available points will not receive further consideration.  

• Non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals will meet at least a minimum threshold of 
850 of the total possible 1419 available points to qualify for further consideration. 
Non-competitive developments not scoring the minimum Development Evaluation 
Criteria score of 850 of the total possible 1419 available points will not receive 
further consideration. 

• The Development Evaluation Criteria, other QAP Selection Criteria and information 
submitted or obtained with respect to Projects will be used to assist the MBOH Board 
in evaluating and comparing Projects. 

• Development Evaluation Criteria scoring is only one of several considerations taken 
into account by the MBOH Board.  It does not control the selection of Projects that 
will receive an Award of tax credits.  For purposes of this QAP and HC Awards and 
Allocations, the QAP Selection Criteria include all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides, priorities and data 
set forth in this QAP and all federal requirements. 
 

1.  Extended Low Income Use* (100 points possible) 

Federal law requires a 30-year or longer Extended Use Period.  An Application in which the 
Applicant agrees to maintain units for low income occupancy beyond the Compliance Period 
will receive points as indicated below and must incorporate these restrictions into the 
Restrictive Covenants.  

Comment [A13]: Kevin Thane #2 suggests 
graduated points for extended use. 

124



 
34 

 

Years beyond initial 15 

15 years 0     points  (30 total years) 

16 – 20 years 40   points  (31 – 35 years) 

21 – 25 years 60   points  (36 – 40 years) 

26 – 30 years 80   points  (41 – 45 years) 

Over 30 years 100 points        (46 years +) 

 

Eventual Home Ownership* Applications must also specify an Extended Use Period and will 
receive points for the Extended Use Period chosen as provided above (refer to the “Eventual 
Home Ownership” portion of Section 3 for supplemental Application documentation and 
information requirements). 

2.  Lower Income Tenants* (220 points possible) 

An Application will receive points for the percentage of eligible units at the percentages of 
area median income (“AMI”) levels listed below.  An Application will receive points for 40%, 
50%, and 60% categories when the development targets those income and rent levels.  
Points awarded for 40% units are independent of and not calculated as part of 50% or 60% 
units, except that the number of 40% units included in the Project, if any, that exceed 10% 
of eligible units will be added to the number of 50% units for purposes of point scoring 
under the chart below.  Developments will be bound by the terms committed to in the 
application process through the use of the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants.  Section C, 
Part IV, Rent and Forecasted Income of the UniApp will be used to calculate the score for 
this item.  Scoring under the following chart is based upon the total number of HC units 
including a manager’s unit if applicable. 

Target Median Income Level Percentage of Eligible Units Points 

40% 10% (or greater) 20  NOTE 1 

50%  15-20% 60  NOTE 1 

50%  21-40% 80  NOTE 1 

50%  41-60% 150 NOTE 1 

50%  61-100% 200 NOTE 1 

60%  40% 0 

60%  41-60% 20 

60%  61-100% 40 

NOTE 1: Rents @ 40% allowed to income qualify to 49% AMI. 

 Rents @ 50% allowed to income qualify to 55% AMI (40-60 election must apply) 

 (Applicable to all existing HC properties)  

3.  Project Location* (100 points possible) 

An Application will be awarded points to the extent the Project is located in an area where 
amenities and/or essential services will be available to tenants, determined according to the 
following specifications.  An Application will be awarded points with respect to an amenity or 
service as specified below, if: (i) a Project is located within 1½ miles of the specified 
amenity or essential service; (ii) public or contracted transportation (not including taxi or 

Comment [A14]: Kevin Thane #3 suggests 30% 
income targeting. 

125



 
35 

 

school bus service) is reasonably available to the specified amenity or service (i.e., the 
Project is located within ¼ mile of fixed bus stop or on a same day call basis); or (iii) where 
applicable, the specified amenity or service is available via a no-charge delivery service to 
the Project Location:  

• 20 points for grocery store (convenience store does not count); and 
• 10 points for each of the following, up to a maximum of 80 points: 

o One or more public schools; 
o Senior Center; 
o Bank; 
o Laundromat (only if washer/dryer not included in unit or onsite); 
o Medical services appropriate and available to all prospective tenants (e.g., 

hospital, doctor offices, etc.); 
o Pharmacy services appropriate and available to all prospective tenants; 
o Gas station and/or convenience store; 
o Post Office; 
o Public Park; 
o Shopping (department, clothing or essentials – does not include convenience 

store); or 
o Public Library. 

4. Housing Needs Characteristics* (190 points possible) 

Development meets area housing needs and priorities and addresses area market concerns, 
such as public housing waiting lists (for all units and tenants), Vacancy Rate and type of 
housing required.   

• Community Input (40 points possible): Up to a total of 40 points will be awarded 
for Community Input.  10 points will be awarded for each of the items (i) through 
(iv) through which community input regarding the proposed Project was gathered, as 
shown by evidence provided in the Application or in response to MBOH inquiries: (i) 
neighborhood meetings held expressly for this Application with attendance rosters 
and minutes; (ii) local charrettes held expressly for this Application with supporting 
documents, concept drawings, and input from community; (iii) other appropriate 
form of community input specifically designed to gather community input for this 
Application; and/or (iv) City or County Commission meeting.  In order to obtain the 
available points under item (iii), there must be actual community input in some form.  
If a community meeting is held but there is no attendance, another form of 
community input must be used.  No points will be awarded if the meeting or 
charrette is part of another public or design meeting, unless the minutes 
demonstrate that a portion of the meeting was specifically dedicated to community 
input for this Application.  No points will be awarded if the Application does not 
provide evidence of qualifying community input, including minutes of any meeting, 
charrette or other form of community input and copies of any written comments 
received.  Documentation of community outreach efforts to inform and invite 
community members to attend any of the community input events must be included. 
 

• Appropriate Size (50 points possible):  Points will be awarded for the 
appropriateness of size of the development for market needs and concerns as 
reflected in the Market Study.  50 points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is 50% or less than the number of units needed as projected by the 
Project’s Market Study.  No points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is more than 50% of the number of units needed as projected by the 
Project’s Market Study. For projects developed, rehabilitated or constructed in a 
location that is not within the city limits of Billings, Bozeman, Butte, Great Falls, 

Comment [A15]: Alex Burkhalter #9 further 
define each category, should change to 20 points for 
each or all and 20 points for city or county 
Commission meeting. 

126



 
36 

 

Helena, Kalispell, or Missoula, no points will be awarded if the number of units being 
proposed is more than 75% (rather than 50%) of the number of units needed as 
projected by the Project’s Market Study.  If the Project is existing in the community, 
the number of units in the Project will be added to the new units needed and the 
above test will be applied.  The Application narrative must address this scoring item 
with citations to the relevant pages and paragraphs of the market study.   
 

• Appropriate Development Type (40 points possible): Points will be awarded for 
the appropriateness of the development type for market needs and concerns as 
reflected in the Project’s Market Study.  40 points will be awarded if the Project’s 
Market Study explains and justifies the selection of the type of construction and 
housing selected (including justification of Rehab/New Construction, Family/Elderly, 
Single-Family/Multi-Family, bedroom size and Eventual Home Ownership).  If this 
explanation and justification is not included in the Project’s Market Study, no points 
will be awarded in this category.  The Application narrative must address this scoring 
item with citations to the relevant pages and paragraphs of the market study. 
 

• Market Need (60 points possible):  The Application will be awarded points based 
upon the required Market Study’s documentation that the Project meets the market 
needs of the community, as follows: 

o Vacancy Rate is at or below 5% (20 points); 
o Absorption rate is less than 4 months (20 points) or Absorption rate is 4 or 

more months and less than 6 months (10 points) and 
o Rents are at least 10% below adjusted market rents (20 points). 

Narrative references to the Market Study must cite the referenced page and paragraph of 
the Market Study. 

5. Project Characteristics* (269 points possible) 

Preservation of or Increase in Housing Stock (50 points possible) 

20 points will be awarded if the Application proposes the Preservation of existing affordable 
housing stock or increases the affordable housing stock through the use of federal funds or 
funds from other sources (e.g., donation of land, other substantial donations, reduction in 
taxes through tax abatement (other than non-profit exemption) or impact fees) to leverage 
the tax credit dollars.  

Qualified Census Tract* or Community Revitalization Plan* (10 points possible) 

10 points will be awarded if the Project is located in a Qualified Census Tract* or involves 
existing housing as part of a local (not national, state or regional) community 
revitalization plan* or similar plan.  The Application must include any such local community 
revitalization plan and identify where in the plan such existing housing may be found.   

Preservation of Affordable Housing Projects* (20 points possible) 

20 points will be awarded if the Application proposes the Acquisition and/or Rehabilitation of 
buildings with local, state, and/or federal historic* preservation designations, existing 
affordable housing stock, or Projects applying for Rehabilitation tax credits that have 
completed their Compliance Period. 

Project-based rental subsidy (50 points possible): 

 0 points for less than 25% of the units; 

 10 points for at least 25% of the units; 

 20 points for at least 35% of the units; 

Comment [A16]: Kevin Thane #6  Suggests 
adding new category for innovation  in construction 
or operation. 

127



 
37 

 

 30 points for at least 50% of the units; 

 40 points for at least 75% of the units; or  

 50 points for 100% of the units. 

The Application must provide a copy of the relevant contract or other documentary proof of 
subsidy from the provider.  MBOH staff will verify claimed subsidies with funding source. 

Amenities (39 points possible):   

Applications will be awarded 3 points for each of the amenities listed in the Amenities Form 
that will be provided at no charge to tenants in the Project up to a maximum of 39 points:  
For an amenity not included in all units, such amenity will be counted as a partial amenity 
based upon the ratio of number of units with the amenity to total units in the Project.  
Partial amenities may be combined to constitute one or more entire amenities for purposes 
of receiving an award of 3 points per amenity.  Amenities qualifying for points are listed in 
the Amenities Form available on the MBOH website at [URL]. 
Amenities listed on the Amenities Form must all be accessible amenities in/for 
handicapped/504 units. 
 
Luxury amenities will not be considered or funded with tax credits.  Items deemed luxury 
amenities include but are not limited to swimming pools, golf courses, tennis courts and 
similar amenities.   

The added costs of the Project attributable to higher quality amenities will be considered on 
a Project by Project basis for a cost to benefit assessment. 

Amenities provided will not be used for Commercial Purposes.  All Projects previously 
awarded tax credits are subject to this restriction but are grandfathered only to the extent 
Commercial Purposes were specifically included in the Application.   

Green Building and Energy Conservation Standards* (100 points possible):   

Applicant’s justification for green building and energy conservation includes but is not 
limited to Energy Star building and appliance initiatives, water saving devices and green 
construction and materials.  The green building and energy conservation items are listed 
and further described, and the available points and evaluation scoring criteria are specified, 
for New Construction and Rehabilitation in the MBOH Green Building and Energy Form.  The 
Application must include the completed worksheet (Exhibit F).  The Applicant’s architect, 
who is qualified with respect to energy and green building standards, must provide a letter 
confirming the listed green building and energy conservation items incorporated into the 
Project and a document that is outlined in a column and table format, listing each 
Mandatory and Scoring Item.  For Rehabilitation the table must list each scoring item and 
specify each unit that will include the item. This letter and the accompanying column/table 
document must be included in the Application.  NOTE: The Applicant’s architect also must 
provide certification at Final Cost Certification for 8609(s) purposes confirming that the 
initiatives were incorporated.     

Please refer to Section 3 for mandatory blower door and infrared testing for Projects that 
have been Awarded HCs. 

 
6.  Development Team Characteristics* (330 points possible) 

Participation by an entity with a demonstrated track record of quality experience in 
completed development or management of low income housing tax credit Projects.  MBOH 
will consider all members of the Development Team (Applicant, Owner, Developer, General 

Comment [A17]: Kevin Thane #4 add recycling 
bins and central wifi, and remove computers. 

Comment [A18]: Kevin Thane #7 LED required 
for all lighting, points on amount of savings from 
Photovoltaic and Solar Hot Water systems. 

Comment [A19]: Kevin Thane #5 too many 
points for this category,  

128



 
38 

 

Partner, Management Company, and HC Consultant) and whether housing Projects have 
been developed and operated with the highest quality either in Montana or another state.  
Special attention will be paid to existing Projects, amount of active local community 
participation used to develop Projects, and a management entity with a good compliance 
track record and specialized training.  If a new Developer these points can be obtained 
through Experienced Partners.  (180 points possible) 

Thirty points each will be awarded for (a) one member of the Management Company 
meeting the education requirement under Section 12, and (b) one member of the 
Development Team (other than the Management Company) who is directly and actively 
involved with the Project that has been trained by a Nationally Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company.  For MBOH purposes, to maintain certification, the person 
must attend a complete class with a Nationally Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training 
Company at least once every four years (certificates must be attached with each 
Application).  MBOH annual compliance training does not qualify for credit under this 
category (60 points possible). 

Ninety points will be awarded if the Project’s Developer or Consultant who is actively 
involved in the actual construction process has experience with Cold Weather Development 
and Construction, as reported on the MBOH Cold Weather Experience Form.  Cold Weather 
Development and Construction is defined as experience of the HC Developer or Consultant 
on one or more Projects located above the 40 degrees north parallel (90 points possible). 

The application must list all affordable housing including low-income housing tax credit 
Projects in Montana or any other state developed, owned, managed or consulted on by 
Applicant and any member of the Development Team or for which an Award of tax credits 
was received, whether or not such Projects were successfully completed.  All Development 
Team members, including Applicant, Developer, General Partner/Owner, Management 
Company, and HC Consultant  must consent in writing, on a form provided in the UniApp 
Supplement, to the release of information by any other applicable state tax credit agencies 
to MBOH regarding the Applicant’s history of performance on other tax credit Projects. 

7.  Participation of Local Entity (60 points possible) 

The MBOH Board has determined having a Local Entity participate at a significant level 
increases the success and acceptance of the Project into the community.  Up to 60 points 
may be awarded for participation of one or more local entities.  10 points will be awarded 
for each of the local entity participation items (i) through (vi) documented in the Application 
as provided below. 

Qualifying participation includes Local Entities providing: (i) screening and referring of 
individuals as prospective tenants; (ii) providing on-site services to Project tenants,; (iii) 
donation of land or sale at a reduced price to enhance affordability; (iv) use of grant money 
to develop infrastructure or for other uses; (v) significant fee waivers on local government 
fees; or (vi) other forms of significant monetary or material support.   

Each item of local entity participation must be evidenced by a binding written agreement to 
participate, binding grant or conveyance, binding commitment for fee waivers, etc.  Such 
agreements may be conditioned upon an Award of Credits.  Formal written agreements are 
required; letters, offers or other non-binding documents will not be accepted as sufficient 
documentation of local entity participation under this section.  Only new or updated 
agreements, land donations, and/or grants requested or negotiated for the current round 
will be considered for awarding points.  The Application must provide evidence of how such 
local entity support will benefit the property.  Formal written agreement for ongoing 
services must be extended or replaced so that a binding agreement remains in place for the 
duration of the Extended Use Period (with such agreement preserving the Owner’s right to 

129



 
39 

 

cancel the agreement and obtain a replacement agreement with a new servicer if existing 
servicer is unable to provide the services).  The same component of participation by a local 
entity may not be counted toward more than one item, and may be given credit by an 
award of points only once.  Points will not be awarded for the same item in both this 
Development Evaluation Criteria 7 and Development Evaluation Criteria 5, Preservation of 
Affordable Housing. 

8.  Tenant Populations with Special Housing Needs* (100 points possible) 

An Application will be awarded 10 points for each 5% of the units targeting the following 
identified needs up to a maximum of 100 points.  The Application must specify the number 
of units targeted for each category.  Section B Part XII, Units Accessibility, of the UniApp 
will be used to calculate the score for this item.  Units may not be counted more than once 
or in more than one category for purposes of awarding points.    

• Units targeted specifically for individuals with children or large families (units with 2 
or more bedrooms). 

• Units targeted specifically as Section 504 fully accessible units exceeding minimum 
fair housing requirements. 

• Units targeted specifically for persons with disabilities (limited to a maximum of 25% 
of units in the Project) (Application must describe the strategy that will be used to 
market available units to disabled persons throughout the Extended Use Period). 

• Units targeted to veterans (limited to a maximum of 25% of units in the Project). 
• Units targeted to victims of domestic violence (limited to a maximum of 25% of units 

in the Project) 

If the Project is an Elderly Property as defined in federal law, the Application will receive 100 
points under this provision. 

Example:   

2 – 2 bdrm units meet family requirement 20% – 40 points 

2 – 1 bdrm units exceed section 504 20% – 40 points 

1 – 1 bdrm unit targeted to mental illness 10% – 20 points 

5 – 1 bdrm units with no targeting 50% – 0 points 

10 – Total units in Project – 100 total points received 

9.  Percentage of Credits Funding Total Project Cost (from minus (-) 50 to a 
positive 50 points possible) 

Projects proposing Total Project Cost to be funded by Housing Credits at the following levels 
will be assigned negative points (minus (-) 50) or awarded positive points (50 points) as 
follows: 

• New Construction (NC) equal to or above 75%  minus (-) 50 points; 
• Rehabilitation (Rehab) equal to or above 70%  minus (-) 50 points; 
• Combined NC/Rehab   equal to or above 72.5%  minus (-) 50 points; 
• New Construction (NC) below 75%    50 points; 
• Rehabilitation (Rehab) below 70%    50 points; 
• Combined NC/Rehab   below 72.5%    50 points; 

Percentage numbers will not be rounded upward or downward for purposes of this Section.  
A Project is entitled to points in only one of the 3 categories New Construction, 
Rehabilitation and Combined New Construction/Rehabilitation. 

Comment [A20]: Alex Burkhalter proposed a 
graduated schedule 

130



 
40 

 

10. Developer Knowledge and Responsiveness (Up to minus (-) 400 points 
possible) 

If an entity or individual participating in a Project as a member of the Development Team 
identified in an Application has a demonstrated poor track record or demonstrated past 
management weaknesses with respect to developments in Montana or in another state, or 
has failed in the past to respond timely to an MBOH letter of Inquiry with respect to a 
Project, MBOH may assign negative points.   

a. Demonstrated Poor Track Record 

For purposes of determining a participant’s track record, MBOH may contact community 
officials, Development Team or Development Team member references, credit bureaus, 
other state tax credit administering agencies and any other sources as MBOH deems 
appropriate.  Up to minus (-) 100 points may be assigned for each of the following: (i) 
demonstrated poor track record with respect to developments in Montana or in another 
state, and/or (ii) failure to respond within 10 working days of MBOH letter of inquiry. (Up to 
Minus (-) 200 points possible) 

b. Demonstrated Management Weaknesses 

Development Team members with past demonstrated management weaknesses, including 
but not limited to those management weaknesses listed below may be assigned negative 
points for this section (Up to Minus (-) 200 points possible), for example:  

• Has not followed-through on the development of a Project from Application to rent-
up and operation; 

• Has not complied with MBOH submission, compliance or other requirements 
applicable during Project development, construction and Extended Use Period; 

• Has not maintained a Project to Section 42 or other program standards; 
• Has or had numerous or outstanding substantial non-compliance issues or IRS  

8823’s (consideration will be given the type of 8823); 
• Has not completed required training in a certified compliance training program; 
• Has not completed required management compliance retraining at least every four 

years; 
• Has requested income targeting changes that are not supported by unanticipated 

hardship; 
• Has requested additional credits more than once;  
• Has made Substantial Changes to previous tax credit applications or has failed to 

notify MBOH and seek approval of Substantial Changes according to QAP 
requirements;  

• Has significantly diminished the quality and long term viability of a previous Project 
by lowering costs below a reasonable level; 

• Has delinquent late fees due and payable to MBOH; or 
• Has been a member of the Development Team for a prior Project that exceeded 

maximum Hard Cost Per Unit or Total Project Cost Per Unit at Final Cost Certification. 

Negative points may not be assigned for the same matter under both Section 10 9(a) and 
10 9(b).   

c. Method of Assigning Negative Points. 

Any negative points will be assigned as follows: 

• The factors that will be considered in determining whether to assign negative points 
and the number of any negative points to be assigned with respect to poor track 

131



 
41 

 

record items, management weaknesses and failure to response to MBOH letters of 
inquiry, include: 

o The nature and seriousness of the incident(s); 
o The frequency of such incidents; 
o The incidents were or were not within the control of the individual or entity; 
o The degree and timeliness to and with which the entity or individual 

responded to correction and educational efforts; 
o The responsiveness of the individual or entity in responding timely to fees, 

penalties and other sanctions imposed; 
o The cost or financial harm caused to the Project, the tax credit agency or 

third parties; 
o The nature and extent of inconvenience and harm caused to Project tenants; 
o The nature and extent of damage or expense caused to Project property; 
o The extent to which the Project as completed failed to comply with the Project 

as represented in the Application or in approved Project changes; 
o The extent to which the incident would have affected scoring of the Project 

Application if known as the time (although no such effect on Application 
scoring need be shown to justify an assignment of negative points);  

o The extent to which completion of a Project that received an Award of Credits 
was substantially delayed or prevented; 

o The extent to which Credits that were Awarded were recaptured; 
o The extent to which unreasonable or excessive fees, profits or other improper 

remuneration was derived improperly from a Credit Award or Project; and  
o The presence of any other relevant factors or considerations.    

• Except as otherwise provided in this Section, negative points will be assigned on the 
next competitive 9% Credit Application (or multiple Applications in the same 
competitive round) which includes as part of its Development Team any person or 
entity that participated as a Development Team member in the Project or Projects 
giving rise to the negative point assignment.   

• If multiple and/or repeat instances of poor performance, management weakness or 
fail to respond occur or have occurred, negative points may be assigned with respect 
to a Development Team member for not only the first competitive round in which an 
Application involving such member participates but may also be assigned for such 
Applications in multiple future years or competitive rounds. 

• If negative points are assigned as a result of poor track record, management 
weakness or failure to respond that occurred as part of the 
development/construction/rehabilitation process prior to beginning of lease-up 
activities or other involvement of the Qualified Management Company, negative 
points will not be assigned with respect to such Qualified Management Company.  

• If more than one Development Team member subject to a negative point assignment 
from a prior Project is part of the Development Team on a current or future Project 
Application, the total negative points assigned to the Application will be the greatest 
number of negative points assigned with respect to any one such participating 
Development Team member. 

• If the Project giving rise to the negative points would have received a lower 
Development Evaluation Criteria score under the QAP under which the Project 

132



 
42 

 

initially was evaluated, scored and awarded credits had the poor track record, 
management weakness or failure to respond been known as of Application scoring, 
the negative points assigned with respect to a Development Team member from the 
earlier Application will be the number of points corresponding to the difference in 
scoring that would have resulted.  Such point difference shall be converted as 
appropriate and necessary to correspond to the current QAP point scoring system.   

 

* Indicates federally mandated criteria 

Minimum Scoring Threshold 
Developments not scoring the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria score of 1100 
points (or 850 points for non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals will not receive further 
consideration.  Applications scoring at least the minimum Development Evaluation Criteria 
score of 1100 points or 850 points for non-competitive 4% Credit Bond Deals and meeting 
all other requirements of this QAP will be considered for an Award of Housing Credits as 
provided in this QAP.    

Award Determination Selection Standard 
The MBOH Board will select those Projects to receive an Award of Housing Credits that it 
determines best meet the most pressing housing needs of low income people within the 
state of Montana, taking into consideration: (i) all of the requirements, considerations, 
factors, limitations, Development Evaluation Criteria, set asides, priorities and data 
(including without limitation the statistical data in the MBOH Statistical Data Form) set forth 
in this QAP and all federal requirements (together referred to in this QAP as the “Selection 
Criteria”); (ii) the Development Evaluation Criteria scoring; and (iii) all other information 
provided to the MBOH Board regarding the applicant Projects. 

The awarding of points to Projects pursuant to the Development Evaluation Criteria is for 
purposes of determining that the Projects meet at least the minimum Development 
Evaluation Criteria required for further consideration and to assist the MBOH Board in 
evaluating and comparing Projects.  Development Evaluation Criteria scoring is only one of 
several considerations taken into account by the MBOH Board and does not control the 
selection of Projects that will receive an Award of Housing Credits.  In addition to any other 
Selection Criteria specified in this QAP, the MBOH Board may consider the following factors 
in selecting Projects for an Award of Housing Credits to qualifying Projects: 

• The geographical distribution of Housing Credit Projects; 
• The rural or urban location of the Projects; 
• The overall income levels targeted by the Projects; 
• The need for affordable housing in the community, including but not limited to 

current Vacancy Rates; 
• Rehabilitation of existing low income housing stock; 
• Sustainable energy savings initiatives; 
• Financial and operational ability of the Applicant to fund, complete and maintain the 

Project through the Extended Use Period; 
• Past performance of an Applicant in initiating and completing tax credit Projects;  
• Cost of construction, land and utilities, including but not limited to costs/credits per 

square foot/unit; and/or 
• The frequency of Awards in the respective areas where Projects are located.  

If the MBOH Board Awards Credits to an Applicant where the Award is not in keeping with 
the Selection Criteria of this QAP, it will publish a written explanation that will be made 

133



 
43 

 

available to the general public pursuant to Section 42(m)(1)(A)(iv) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. 

If all of the authorized Credits are Awarded after a particular cycle, MBOH may place 
qualifying Applications which did not receive an Award of tax credits on a waiting list for 
potential Award of Housing Credits in the event Credits become available at a later date.  
Any available Credits that are not Awarded or reserved in a particular cycle may in the 
discretion of the MBOH Board be made available for Award in a future cycle or may be used 
to increase the amount of Housing Credits reserved for a previously Awarded Project as 
provided in this QAP.   

 
SECTION 10 – RESERVATION, CARRYOVER AND FINAL 
ALLOCATION 
Once MBOH has selected Projects and determined the Award of Housing Credits and amount 
of Credits to be reserved, MBOH will provide a Reservation Agreement, Gross Rent Floor 
Election, and Declaration of Restrictive Covenants to the partnership for execution and 
return to MBOH. 

Reservation Agreement 
MBOH will provide a Reservation Agreement, Gross Rent Floor Election, and Declaration of 
Restrictive Covenants to the partnership for execution and return to MBOH.  The partnership 
should review, complete, sign, and return the Reservation Agreement and Gross Rent Floor 
Election, along with the additional information and materials required below.  A Reservation 
Agreement is MBOH’s conditional commitment to make a Carryover Commitment and/or 
Final Allocation to the Project, subject to the requirements and conditions of the Reservation 
Agreement, the QAP and federal law.  Such requirements include but are not limited to 
submission of evidence of timely progress toward completion of the development acceptable 
to MBOH and compliance with federal tax credit requirements.  

If an unsuccessful Applicant, or a party associated with such Applicant, commences any 
legal action or proceeding challenging MBOH’s Award determination or process, MBOH will 
make a Carryover Commitment or Final Allocation of Housing Credits as required by an 
executed Reservation Agreement to the same extent it would have been bound to do in 
absence of the legal challenge, unless the court determines that such Applicant was not 
eligible or qualified under the applicable QAP to receive an Award of Housing Credits or 
MBOH otherwise determines that it is precluded by Court order from doing so.  If a court 
determines in any such action or proceeding that MBOH must Award Credits to one or more 
unsuccessful Applicants from such round or year, such Award or Awards will be made using 
any available returned or unreserved Housing Credits or current year’s Credits provided in 
Section 7. 

The following will be required from the partnership, prior to entering into a Reservation 
Agreement: 

• Demonstrated financial ability to proceed (conditional financing commitment); and 
• Certain other updated Application material 

MBOH will send the successful Applicant a Reservation Agreement shortly after Award and 
upon meeting the foregoing requirements.  The Applicant will have a maximum of 120 days 
after award to accept, sign and return the Reservation Agreement.  Failure to return the 
Agreement by the deadline will result in a late fee of 25% of the Reservation Fee.  
Where applicable, however, if the Owner elects the federal percentage(s) in the month that 
the Reservation (Initial Allocation) is issued by MBOH, the Reservation Agreement must be 

134



 
44 

 

signed and returned on or before the 25th of that month to assure the lock-in of the rate.  
Owners electing the placed-in-service date should return the signed Reservation Agreement 
immediately.  Upon receipt, MBOH will sign the Reservation Agreement, and return a copy 
to the partnership. 

The  Reservation Fee specified in the fee schedule in Section 5 will be due and must be 
received by MBOH on or before December 1 of the year in which the Award is made (e.g., 
December 1, 2016 for 2016 credit Awards made in January 2016).    

Once the partnership enters into a Reservation Agreement with MBOH, the partnership must 
then meet the requirements and conditions described in the Reservation Agreement and 
provide the required documentation before it receives a Carryover Commitment or Final 
Allocation of Housing Credits.   

MBOH will revoke an approved Reservation (Initial Allocation) and terminate the Reservation 
Agreement when a Project fails to make successful progress toward completion or otherwise 
fails to perform its obligations under the Reservation Agreement.  Submitting quarterly 
status reports demonstrating satisfactory evidence of the Project’s completion is the 
responsibility of the Applicant.  Successful progress toward Project completion and Project 
completion require that such progress and completion are in substantial accordance with the 
Project as described and proposed in the Project Application, except to the extent that 
Substantial Changes have been approved by the Board as provided in the Applicable QAP.        

NOTE:  Reservation Agreements for tax credit Projects funded through tax-exempt bonds 
must be completed, signed, and returned to MBOH not later than five business days 
following the close of the bond financing agreement. 

Gross Rent Floor Election 
The election on this form verifies when the Owner elects the gross rent floor for the Project. 
There are two options: at the Reservation/Initial Allocation, or at the date Placed in Service.   
This form reflects the election made by the Owner in the Reservation Agreement. This form 
must be returned with the executed Reservation Agreement. 

Declaration of Restrictive Covenants 
The Declaration of Restrictive Covenants assures that the land and its use will be restricted 
for the purposes of providing low-income housing for the period proposed in the Application.  
Provisions included in the Restrictive Covenants will include Exhibit A-1 (Legal Description of 
Project Land); Exhibit A-2 (Conditions of Tax Credit Allocation) indicating the number of 
units at the appropriate elected rent levels, e.g., 30%, 40%, 50%, 60% AMI as determined 
by the Application.  Owners will be required to maintain those rent levels through the 
Extended Use Period of the Project; Exhibit A-3 (Energy and Green Building) indicating the 
architect’s letter provided in the Application outlining those energy and green building 
initiatives.   

It is the Developer’s responsibility to record the Declaration of 
Restrictive Covenants in the county in which the Project real 
property is located.  In unusual circumstances, and for good 
cause shown, MBOH may permit amendments to the 
Declaration of Restrictive Covenants at a subsequent date. 
 

Carryover Commitment 

135



 
45 

 

MBOH will issue a Carryover Commitment in December of the year for which the credits are 
being Awarded and such Carryover will be for a period of two (2) years. To preserve this 
commitment the Owner/Developer must submit the 10% Carryover Cost Certification by the 
deadline specified in the Applicable QAP. 

In order to receive a Carryover Commitment, Owners must provide Proof of Ownership 
(evidence of title or right to possession and use of the property for the duration of the 
Compliance Period and any Extended Use Period plus one year, e.g., a recorded deed or an 
executed lease agreement), executed and recorded Restrictive Covenants, and the 
Reservation fee.  Land lease periods must be at least one year longer than the Restrictive 
Covenant period.  These items must be received by December 1, of the year for which the 
Award of Credits was made.  MBOH will issue Carryover Commitments before year end. 

10% Test 
MBOH requires that more than 10% of the expected basis in a Project, including land, must 
be expended by the 10%  Carryover Cost Certification deadline.  MBOH requires that 
Developers provide an independent third party CPA Cost Certification, in a format 
established by MBOH, verifying compliance with the 10% test.  

Developers must submit the 10% requirements, including the required CPA Cost 
Certification, other documents and the 10% test underwriting fee by the deadline.  Failure 
to do so will result in the loss of the Credit Award.  The fee for 10% test underwriting is 
$1,000.00, which fee must be paid at the time of submission of 10% test information and 
documentation.  Failure to provide the 10% test information so that it is received by 
MBOH by the deadline will result in a $5,000.00 late fee.  At the Developer’s 
request, one extension will be granted if requested before the deadline.  A fee of 
$2,500.00 will be imposed for the extension.  The extension will not exceed the 
period allowed by federal law.  If 10% test information is submitted by the 
deadline but any forms are incomplete or omitted, a $100 correction fee will be 
imposed for each incomplete or omitted item. 

At 10% Test, MBOH staff will re-evaluate: 

• The Sources and Uses of funds; 
• Total financing planned for the Project; 
• Proceeds or receipts expected to be generated by the Housing Credits; 
• Reasonableness of the development and operation costs; 
• Projected Rental Income and Operational Expenses; 
• Debt Coverage Ratio; and 
• Housing Credits required for financial feasibility of the Project. 

Deadline for submission of the required 10% information is the first anniversary of the date 
on which MBOH executed the Reservation Agreement. This submission deadline will apply to 
10% test submissions for Projects awarded housing credits in the 2016 or later year 
allocation rounds. Developers that fail to pay the required fee will be deemed not to have 
met the 10% Test requirements.  Failure to submit certification for 10% documentation or 
to meet the 10% Test will cause forfeiture of Awarded, reserved or allocated Housing 
Credits for the Project. 

Placed in Service 
Placed in Service (PIS) is the date on which the building is ready and available for its 
specifically assigned function (the date on which the first unit in the building is certified as 
being suitable for occupancy in accordance with State or local law).  This certification is the 
Certificate of Occupancy (C of O). 

136



 
46 

 

New Construction and Gut Rehabilitation buildings must be placed in service (receive C of 
O), not later than the close of the second calendar year following the calendar year in which 
the Carryover Commitment is made. 

Other Rehabs that are accomplished with residents in place during Rehab can place in 
service at the end of the 24 month or shorter period over which the required amount of 
expenditures are aggregated.  The Owner selects the placed in service date in this case 
unless local approval is required. 

Final Allocations/8609 
Documentation supporting a request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s) must be submitted to 
MBOH within 6 months of the last building Placed In Service date. MBOH will not allocate tax 
credits on IRS Form 8609(s) until a qualified building is placed in service.  A site visit and 
file audit by MBOH may be conducted prior to the issuance of the IRS Form 8609(s).  
Notwithstanding other provisions of this QAP, to obtain issuance of Form 8609(s), the 
Project must be placed in service in substantial accordance with the Project as described 
and proposed in the Project Application, except to the extent that Substantial Changes have 
been approved by the Board as provided in the Applicable QAP. 

The Final Allocation/8609 underwriting fee is $2,500.00, which fee must be paid at the time 
of submission of the request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s).  If the paperwork is not 
received by MBOH within the 6 months, a $5,000.00 late fee will be assessed.  

The request for issuance of IRS Form 8609(s) must include:  

• Certification of required blower door or infrared test results (if not previously 
submitted); 

• The independent third party completed MBOH CPA’s Cost Certification and Owner’s 
Statements Form;  

• Sponsor Certification section of the UniApp;  
• The architect’s verification that the items for green and energy listed in the 

Application  as well as provisions of accessibility listed in Section 3 have been 
incorporated; 

• Certificates of Occupancy (C of O’s);  
• Copies of all permanent loan and/or grant documents; 
• Copy of partnership/operating agreement; and 
• Statement of items or costs excluded from eligible basis. 
• Statement identifying the first year of the credit period, which statement must name 

the specific year (e.g., 2017). 
• The Final Allocation/8609 underwriting fee. 

If the required fee is not submitted, the Project will be deemed not to have met Final 
Allocation requirements and MBOH will not issue Form 8609(s).  MBOH will complete the 
final credit Allocation evaluation.  Typical turn-around time for 8609(s) is 4-8 weeks after 
submission of all required documentation and the fee.  Once the 8609(s) are issued and 
delivered to the Owner, the bottom half must be completed and signed.  A copy of each 
completed 8609 must be sent back to MBOH within 90 days of issuance.  Failure to 
provide the completed 8609(s) so that they are received by MBOH by the deadline 
will result in a $1,000.00 late fee.  If the 8609(s) need to be reissued after 
completed by MBOH due to Developer error, the MBOH underwriting fee must be 
paid again. 

 

SECTION 11 - DEVELOPER/APPLICANT RESPONSIBILITIES  

137



 
47 

 

Applicant must respond to a written MBOH request within 10 working days.  Failure to do so 
may result in the Application being deemed ineligible for that funding round.  

Applicant must proceed according to the timeframe identified in the Implementation 
Schedule.  Adjustments up to 60 days are acceptable.  Any changes in the Implementation 
Schedule greater than 60 days must be submitted in writing with justification to MBOH.  Any 
changes not reported or not approved may jeopardize the credits.  If the schedule is more 
than 60 days behind, a late fee of $1,000.00 will be assessed. 

State Law Requirements 
The Applicant and Development Team must agree to comply with Montana State law 
requirements (e.g., certificate of contractor registration, workers compensation, 
unemployment compensation, and payroll taxes).  MBOH will include this certification in the 
execution of all Reservation (Initial Allocation) and Carryover Commitment documents. 

Public Notification 
Any public relations actions by a recipient of tax credits involving MBOH funds or tax credits 
must specifically state that a portion of the funding is from MBOH.  This will be included in 
radio, television, and printed advertisements (excluding rental ads), public notices, and on 
signs at construction sites, e.g., “Housing Credits allocated by the Montana Board of 
Housing, Montana Department of Commerce.” 

Quarterly Status Reporting 
All Applicants receiving Reservations (Initial Allocations) of credits must provide written 
status reports for each calendar quarter, beginning with the quarter in which the tax credit 
Award is made. Status reports will be due on or before January 10th, April 10th, July 10th & 
October 10th until the Applicant receives its 8609(s).  The documentation regarding the 
progress must be development specific, and include such items as planning approval and 
building permits, firm debt and/or equity financing commitments, construction progress 
(foundation, framing, rough in, enclosed, drywall, etc., for each Project building), and 
lease up progress.  Submission of photos is encouraged. 

The following items must be addressed for each building on the quarterly report that is 
submitted to MBOH.  If all items are not addressed, the report will be returned and must be 
corrected and resubmitted.  If the resubmitted report is received after the due date the late 
fee will apply. 

• Updated implementation schedule if more than 60 days behind 
schedule submitted with application; 

• Advertising for construction bids; 
• Construction bid awards; 
• Pre-construction meeting date; 
• Groundbreaking ceremony date (at least 2 weeks’ notice); 
• Future dates of construction/draw meetings; 
• Each phase of construction for each building including photos 

(excavation, foundation framed, etc.); 
• Certificate of Occupancy for each building as issued for the month of 

report; 
• Number of units occupied and number left to full lease up each 

quarter; and 
• Grand Opening date (at least 2 weeks’ notice). 

138



 
48 

 

Owners must provide a copy of the Certificate of Occupancy for each building.  The 
Certificate of Occupancy must be included in the status report covering the period 
in which it was issued.  Failure to provide the reports so that they are received by 
MBOH by the deadline will result in a $500.00 late fee.  This also applies to those 
Properties with ARRA funding. 

All ARRA reports are due on or before the dates listed in the ARRA Exchange or TCAP 
Program Agreement. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the financial audit is not received by MBOH by the 
deadline. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the annual budget is not received by MBOH by the 
deadline. 

$500.00 late fee will be assessed if the annual insurance binder is not received by MBOH by 
the deadline. 

Changes to Project or Application 
The Applicant must notify MBOH in writing at least 30 days before any proposed Substantial 
Changes in the Project.  Proposed Substantial Changes to the Project must be approved by 
MBOH. 

Specific approval by MBOH is required for Substantial Changes.  MBOH staff will review 
requested Substantial Changes and may approve or deny approval of such changes, or may 
request Board consideration and determination of the change request.  If MBOH staff denies 
approval of any Project Change, the Applicant may request Board review and approval of 
the change request.  Requests must be submitted to MBOH with proper justification at least 
30 days before the change is expected to take place.  The Applicant must inform MBOH staff 
if the proposed change requires immediate or urgent review and approval.  MBOH review 
and approval of changes must be completed prior to the change taking effect.  Changes 
completed without MBOH approval may result in the termination of the Reservation 
Agreement and/or loss of some or all credits. 

Any requested changes submitted requiring MBOH action may incur additional fees.  
Changes to the Project site, construction of building(s), architectural, engineering, or any 
on-site review by any member of MBOH will incur additional charges.  Fees will be 
determined based upon the cost of MBOH Staff travel for that purpose. 

 
SECTION 12 - COMPLIANCE MONITORING  
Federal law requires state allocating agencies (MBOH) to monitor compliance with provisions 
of Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. § 42).  In addition, Federal law 
requires allocating agencies to provide a procedure the agency will follow in monitoring for 
non-compliance and to inform tax credit recipients (Owners) of procedures and 
requirements.  

Included in the requirements are procedures for notifying the Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS) of any non-compliance of which the allocating agency becomes aware.  Federal 
income tax regulations related to Procedures for Monitoring Compliance with Housing Credit 
Requirements are published in 26 CFR Part 1 and 602.  

For complete HC compliance guidance, refer to the MBOH HC Compliance Manual, available 
at http://housing.mt.gov/MFCompManualCompliance Fees 

139



 
49 

 

Developments will incur and must pay to MBOH a compliance monitoring fee to offset the 
costs for MBOH compliance monitoring.  The compliance monitoring fee of $45.00 per each 
non-market unit (subject to change) is payable annually at the time of the Owner's 
Submission of the Owner’s Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance.  

If the complete Annual Compliance Package is not received by the deadline, a late 
fee of $100.00 or 25% of the annual compliance monitoring fee, whichever is 
greater, will be charged. 

Failure to provide corrections on noncompliance so that they are received by the deadline 
set by MBOH will result in a $25.00 per day fee until all required documentation is received 
by MBOH.  A one-time extension may be granted if a written request is submitted to MBOH 
no later than 10 days prior to the deadline.  Once the extension deadline passes without 
MBOH receipt of the complete documentation, a $25.00 per day fee will be imposed until all 
required documentation is received by MBOH. 

The following procedure describes MBOH plans for monitoring compliance on tax credit 
Projects. At minimum, each Project that has been placed in service will be subject to the 
following monitoring requirements: 

Recordkeeping, Record Retention and Data Collection  
Recordkeeping 

The Owner of a low-income housing Project must keep records for each building in the 
Project that shows unit qualifications for each year throughout the term of the Declaration 
of Restricted Covenants, including the Compliance Period and the Extended Use Period in 
effect for such Project. 

The information must show for each year in the Compliance Period: 

• The total number of residential rental units in a building (including the number of 
bedrooms and the size in square feet of each residential rental unit); 

• The percentage of residential rental units in the building that are qualified units; 
• The rent charged on each residential rental unit in the building (including any utility 

allowances and mandatory fees); 
• HC unit vacancies in the building and information that shows when, and to whom, 

the next available units were rented.  If a unit is left vacant, or in a mixed use 
Project is rented to a non-qualifying tenant, the Owner must maintain documentation 
showing a diligent attempt was made to rent the unit to a qualifying tenant; 

• The tenant income certification of each HC tenant (by unit), including annual 
certifications for each continuous tenant;   

• Documentation to support each HC tenant's income certification.  This must include a 
copy of (a) verification of income from third parties, or (b) 6 consecutive paystubs; 

• The eligible basis and qualified basis of the building at the end of the first year of the 
credit period; and 

• The character and use of any non-residential portion of the building included in the 
eligible basis of the building, if applicable.   

Records Retention 

Federal regulations require the Owner of a HC Project receiving tax credits to retain the 
records listed above.  The Owner is required to retain such records for at least 6 years after 
the due date for filing the federal income tax return for that year.  Records for the first year 
of the credit period must be retained for at least 6 years beyond the due date for filing the 
federal income tax return for the last year of the Compliance Period.  Owner should also 
retain records relating to the amount of credit claimed for the Montana Housing Tax Credit, 
including the Form 8609(s) and Schedule A of Form 8609(s). 

140



 
50 

 

Data Collection 
To the extent required by federal law, the Owner will assist the MBOH with meeting federal 
reporting requirements by collecting and submitting information annually concerning the 
race, ethnicity, family composition, age, income, use of rental assistance under section 8(o) 
of the United States Housing Act of 1937 or other similar assistance, disability status, and 
monthly rental payments of all qualified households.  

Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance 
The Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance is required on an annual basis for 
each property.  The certificate must to be signed by the Owner and notarized.  This 
statement must be filed with MBOH every year throughout the Extended Use Period.  
Owners must file annual certifications on the form provided by MBOH. Substitute forms are 
not acceptable.  Failure to provide an annual certification before the date established by 
MBOH may trigger an IRS Form 8823.  

Income and Expense Summary 
All property Owners must submit operating income and cost information for the property’s 
latest fiscal period, including a current balance of replacement and operating reserve 
accounts.   

Submission Deadlines 
The Owners Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance and Tenant Income Certifications 
(TIC) must be submitted on or before the 25th of the month following the assigned annual 
period.  Federal regulations stipulate there must be no more than 12 months between 
certifications.  

All submissions must be filed through Certification On Line (COL). 

Review by MBOH staff 
MBOH will review the items listed above for compliance with the requirements of Section 42 
of the Code and with the requirements of the MBOH HC program. 

Ownership/Management Changes 
Written Notification of changes to property management companies, managers, site 
managers, or changes to points of contact must be submitted to MBOH prior to or 
immediately upon implementation of the change.  Changes not received by MBOH prior to 
change or immediately upon change will result in a $10.00 per day fee until written 
notification is received.  If no notification is received MBOH will research and identify the 
date of the change, and impose late fees based upon such date.  No Change in management 
company shall be acceptable unless it results in a Qualified Management Company assuming 
management of the property.  Replacement of a management company with a company 
that is not a Qualified Management Company or failure to timely submit such notification to 
MBOH may trigger issuance of a Form 8823.  All management companies, whether in place 
or being hired, must meet Qualified Management definition. 

Subject to the requirements of Section 42 of the Code, the Restrictive Covenants and the 
Applicable QAP any other applicable restrictions, the Owner may sell, transfer or exchange 
the entire Project at any time.  No portion of a building to which the Restrictive Covenants 
apply may be sold to any person unless all of such building is sold to such person.  Prior to 
such sale, transfer or exchange, however, the Owner must notify in writing and obtain the 
written agreement of any buyer, successor or other person acquiring the Project or any 

141



 
51 

 

interest therein that such acquisition is subject to the requirements of the Restrictive 
Covenants, the requirements of Section 42 of the Code and applicable Regulations, and the 
Applicable QAP.  Such written agreement of the buyer, successor or other person acquiring 
the Project must be in the form required by MBOH, which agreement form is available on 
the MBOH website.  Such form, executed by the buyer, successor or other person acquiring 
the Project must be submitted to MBOH prior to closing of the sale, transfer or exchange.  
The Board may void any sale, transfer or exchange of the Project if the buyer, successor or 
other person fails to assume in writing the requirements of this Agreement and the 
requirements of Section 42 of the Code. 

Education Requirements 
Persons responsible for qualifying tenants and verifying compliance (involved in tenant 
qualification and compliance) must be certified in LIHTC compliance by one of the 
Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Companies.  Property managers and 
property Management Company personnel must complete a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company certification course, passing the test.  For MBOH purposes, to 
maintain certification, the person must attend a class with a Nationally-Recognized LIHTC 
Compliance Training Company at least once every four years.  For each of the other three 
years, all property managers and property Management Company personnel should attend 
annual MBOH compliance training.  The property management company and site manager 
for an HC property must be trained and certified before the property is placed in service.  
New site managers hired for existing HC properties must be certified within their first year 
of employment.  New property management companies hired for existing properties must 
be certified before they assume management of a property.  On a case-by-case basis, 
MBOH may approve its compliance training as adequate training until such time as the next 
Nationally-Recognized LIHTC Compliance Training Company program is available.  Training 
requirements must be met to maintain Qualified Management Company status. 

Persons responsible for qualifying tenants and verifying compliance (involved in tenant 
qualification and compliance) must also attend Fair Housing training at least once every four 
years.  The manager for a HC property must complete such training before the property is 
placed in service.  New managers hired for existing HC properties must complete the 
training within their first year of employment. 

Such Fair Housing training must include and cover the following subjects and requirements: 
  

• Protected Classes; 
• Accessibility requirements; 
• Reasonable accommodation/modification; 
• Applicant screening; 
• Disparate impact; 
• Domestic violence issues; 
• Occupancy standards; 
• Section 504; and 
• Service Animals. 

 

Tenant Income Certifications (TIC) 
Frequency and Form 

Owners must complete the MBOH TIC for all new move-ins and file it with MBOH through 
Certification On Line (COL).  Documentation supporting the TIC will not be submitted.  
MBOH staff will review supporting documentation during file audits. Timely annual Re-

142



 
52 

 

certifications (TICs) for mixed Projects (with market units) are required must be submitted 
to MBOH through COL.    

The MBOH TIC is the only acceptable form.  

Student Status Certification 
Student status certifications must be completed annually prior to their move-in anniversary 
date. 

On-Site Inspections 
MBOH staff (staff) will perform an on-site inspection of each property at least once every 
three years during the Extended Use Period.  Staff will notify the Owner/manager in 
advance of the inspection. 

Staff must inspect and review at least 20% of the tenant files and corresponding units.  
MBOH will not notify the Project’s manager, Owner or other representative of the unit 
selection before the site inspection.  The selected sample may be expanded. 

Complete copies of all tenant files for each unit from original lease-up forward must remain 
within the State of Montana at the location of the rental property or the regional in-state 
office. 

If MBOH determines it is necessary, properties may be inspected on a cycle of more than 
once every three years.  The cost of any additional inspections will be billed to the 
respective property.   

MBOH may schedule on-site inspections at any time with minimal notice. 

In event of non-compliance under Section 42 of the Code or the implementing regulations 
MBOH may be required or elect to undertake additional monitoring.  The Owner will take 
any and all actions reasonably necessary to achieve and maintain compliance.  Staff may 
require the Owner to document correction of non-compliance and/or MBOH may elect to 
conduct one or more site visit(s) to verify correction of non-compliance. The Owner will pay 
a reasonable fee to MBOH for any such additional monitoring activities. 

Notice To Owner (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(2)) 
MBOH must provide prompt written notice to the Owner if MBOH becomes aware of non-
compliance.  These items include:  

• Non-receipt of the certification(s) described in this QAP.  
• Inaccessibility of tenant income supporting documentation, rent records, or 

the property.   

In addition, MBOH must provide prompt written notice to the Owner if MBOH discovers by 
inspection, review, or in some other manner, that the Project is not in compliance with the 
provisions of Section 42. 

Correction Period (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(4)) 
The Owner will be given a reasonable correction period from the date of non-compliance.  If 
Staff determines that good cause exists, an extension may be granted.  

Notice To IRS (26 CFR 1.42 (e)(3)) 
MBOH must file IRS Form 8823 "Low-Income Housing Credit Agencies Report of 
Noncompliance" with the IRS (even if non-compliance has been corrected) no later than 45 

143



 
53 

 

days after the end of the correction period, and no earlier than the end of the correction 
period.   

Liability (26 CFR 1.42 (g)) 
Compliance with the requirements of Section 42 is the responsibility of the Owner of the 
building for which the credit is allowable.  MBOH's obligation to monitor for compliance with 
the requirements of Section 42 does not make the Agency liable for an Owner's 
noncompliance. 

No member, officer, agent, or employee of MBOH shall be personally liable concerning any 
matters arising out of, or in relation to, the compliance monitoring of a low-income housing 
Project. 

Marketing the Project 
MBOH will put all HC properties into the free State-approved Housing Locator website, 
MTHousingSearch.com.  Properties will be contacted by MTHousingSearch for required 
information.  Using this website meets the criteria for advertising vacant units and provides 
for broad coverage to those searching for affordable housing in Montana.   

 

SECTION 13 – DISCLAIMER 
MBOH is charged with allocating no more tax credits to any given development than is 
required to make that development economically feasible.  This decision shall be made 
solely at the discretion of MBOH, but in no way represents or warrants to any Applicant, 
Investor, lender, or others that the development is feasible or viable. 

MBOH reviews documents submitted in connection with this Allocation for its own purposes.  
In Allocation of the tax credits, MBOH makes no representations to the Owner or anyone 
else regarding adherence to the Internal Revenue Code, Treasury regulations, or any other 
laws or regulations governing Montana Housing Tax Credits. 

No member, officer, agent, or employee of MBOH shall be personally liable concerning any 
matters arising out of, or in relations to, the Allocation of the Housing Credit. 

If it is determined that an Applicant has intentionally submitted false information, a credit 
Award may be withdrawn or credits may be recaptured and the Applicant or any Applicant 
involving any related parties or any individual or entity supplying the false information will 
be ineligible to apply for credits for the next five years.  

MBOH Policy on Non-Discrimination 
Montana Board of Housing is an Equal Opportunity organization.  All employees who work 
for MBOH, agree not to discriminate against any client or co-worker based on any protected 
class under applicable Federal or Montana law.  The failure of any employee to comply with 
this policy may lead to disciplinary action in accordance with applicable employment policies 
and procedures, including but not limited to immediate termination of employment. 

Qualified Allocation Plan Revisions 
This QAP may be amended at any time after compliance with applicable notice, comment 
and approval requirements. 

MBOH Policy on Civil Rights Compliance 
The Owner, Developer, borrowers and any of their employees, agents, or sub-contractors, 
in doing business with the Montana Board of Housing understand and agree that it is the 

144



 
54 

 

responsibility of the Owner(s) and such other persons and entities to comply with all 
applicable Federal Civil Rights laws and regulations, including without limitation applicable 
provisions of the Fair Housing Laws and Americans With Disabilities Act, and any applicable 
State and local Civil Rights Laws and regulations.  Should requirements, such as design, not 
be specified by MBOH, it is nonetheless the Owner(s) responsibility to be aware of and 
comply with all applicable non-discrimination provisions related to any protected class under 
Federal or Montana law, including design requirements for construction or Rehabilitation, 
Equal Opportunity in regard to marketing and tenant selection and reasonable 
accommodation and modification for those tenants covered under the Laws.  

145



 
55 

 

Housing Credit Forms: All Forms Referenced in this QAP 
are available at:    http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP  
Applicants, Developers, Owners, Management Companies and all other interested 
persons submitting Applications, Cost Certifications, Compliance materials and 
other material to MBOH are responsible to review the website and to make such 
submission on the most current Form available on the MBOH website as of the 
date of the submission.  MBOH may require resubmission of any item if submitted 
without using the current Form, and late fees may be incurred if the need for such 
resubmission results in late submission of the correct Form.  Please contact MBOH 
staff with any questions regarding the appropriate or current Form. 

 

 

146

http://housing.mt.gov/MFQAP


Amenities Form

Unit
Air Conditioning
Carport/Garage
Dishwasher
Disposal
Extra Storage outside unit
Microwave
Patios or Balcones
Washer/dryer hookups
Washer/dryer provided in unit

Community
Basketball hoop/pad
Car plug ins
Community Garden
Community Room
Computer(s) for tenant use
Library
On site Manager
Outdoor community area
Play Area

3 points per amenity

147



Green Initiatives: 
pts

Energy Star appliances: all initiatives chosen in this category must be included in all units for new const & where replaced for rehab 
(see list below)
Refrigerator 5
Clothes Washer (if provided) 5
Dishwasher (if provided) 5
Range Hood 5
Ceiling Fans (if provided) 5
Bathroom exhaust fans 5

Insulation- exceeds IECC code requirement by at least 5%, list what value will be used 5
Windows - exceeds IECC code requirement by at least 5%, list what value will be used 5
Low/No VOC paint/adhesive 5
Engineered Lumber 5
Water efficient landscaping- all for new Const, where replaced/modified for Rehab 5
On-site recycle or repurpose of construction materials 5
Water flow saving device - Showerheads=1.5 GPM & Kitchen Faucets=1.5 GPM & Lav faucets=1.0 GPM 5
Rain sensing landscape sprinklers or rain adjustable system 5
Photovaltaic Panels 10
Use of Montana products - 25% minimum 10
Formaldehyde free/full sealed countertop 10
Smokefree policy that includes all units, buildings, and their respective indoor common areas 10
using a 20 foot setback from windows and doors if smoking outdoors is allowed
A partnership with local or statewide health agencies offering cessation services 10
Solar Hot Water system 10

0
Insert points allowed for each Initiative to be included in the property, may earn up to 100 points

The items listed below are either code and are therefore required or will be required in the QAP
Insulation and Windows meeting State Adopted IECC standards – minimum (Rehab and New Construction)
LED lighting 

All Exterior (all for New Const, where replaced for Rehab)
      All Interior lighting shall have CFL or LED bulbs

148



      Multi Family Project - Blower Door testing and Certification of 20% of the total units for projects with a total unit count of 9 or more.  The 
Developer or Builder must notify MBOH at least one week in advance of the date and time that tests will be performed and MBOH staff must 
be permitted to attend and observe such testing. Proof of such testing must be submitted to MBOH to qualify for issuance of Form 8609(s), 
demonstrating at least meeting the State Adopted IECC level of ACH at the time the project is awarded. (New Const only)  Single Family is 
covered by code

      Infrared tests will be required on 50% of dwelling units and all common areas both before and after the Rehabilitation. The Developer or 
Builder must notify MBOH at least one week in advance of the date and time that post-Rehabilitation infrared tests will be performed and 
MBOH staff must be permitted to attend and observe such testing. Proof of such testing must be submitted to MBOH to qualify for issuance of 
Form 8609(s), demonstrating at least 20 degrees temperature difference from outdoors to inside the unit. (Rehab only)
   Min Code requirement or as labeled below: (all for New Const, where replaced for Rehab)
     Toilets = 1.6 GPF min (3 inch flapper is recommended)

Range/bathroom fans vented to exterior (New Const only)
Carbon Monoxide Detectors in all units that provide Gas Fired Appliances or Equipment within the unit (New Const and Rehab)

  Flooring (All for New Const, where replaced for Rehab)
    Carpet – 26 oz min
    Hard Surface – 12 mil min
  Cabinets (All for New Const, where replaced for Rehab)
    Must have “No” added urea Formaldehyde
    Must comply with AWI Architectural Woodwork Quality Standards
    Must contain cabinet fronts made from solid wood. Front stiles pocket-drilled and assembled with screws for rugged durability. Side and 
back panels are made from 3/8" vinyl covered particleboard min.  For wood surfaces that are to be coated or laminated with vinyl or water 
resistant coating, the coating or laminate should be applied as soon as practicable, to reduce formaldehyde emissions.

MBOH concerns about the following
    Blower door tests on more than 20% of the units - MBOH is comfortable with 20% random selection for testing, A larger selection raises 
costs
     Range/bathroom fans vented to exterior (Rehab only) -  can be very expensive
     Locate trees, plantings to provide shade for 50% of hardscape at maturity - Like the idea of providing the shade, it impacts the amount of 
heat generated in the units by the sun.  MBOH concerns are on the compliance side.   That number of trees would need to be there through 
the affordability period.  Trees have to be removed because of impact on roofs or siding, the roots impacting the ground, sidewalks, or water 
and sewer lines.   Those trees would have to be replaced when they are gone or die 
    Certifications for LEED for Homes, Enterprise Green Communities, Current Applicable Energy Star, ICC 700 National Green Building 
Standards - Due Diligence for certifications and certifications are expensive.  The items used to qualify for those certifications can be 
incorporated without the cost of certifications
Passive House Institute language will be added  to Energy and Green Initiatives on page 17 of the final QAP proposed to the board for 
approval

149



   Toilets less than 1.6 GPF, MBOH called some plumbers.  Plumbers concerns were they can plug easily and don't clean the bowl (items left 
behind when flushed) so customers complianed about having to flushi a second time.  
    Adding 10% recycle content to flooring requirements - some developer concern was expressed about recycled carpet at the QAP 
discussion meeting.  MBOH concern compliance throughout the affordability period.
   Water Re-Use - Gray water system - MBOH concerns, not sure these have been approved across MT.  Helena approved this not that long 
ago.., Rain barrels are a safety concern.

Intergrated Heat Recovery Ventilation System - MBOH needs more information about this and costs before considering adding to point 
system
FINAL CERTIFICATION
Upon project completion, the Architect must certify the project by providing a document that indicates all Mandatory and all Scoring and shall 
be described per the following method:

Provide a document that is outlined in a column and table type format, that lists each Mandatory and Scoring Item, this must provide 
photographic evidence of each, prior to it being concealed, a cut sheet of the product indicating the project compliance and date installed in 
the project. The document shall be easily readable and each item should be labeled clearly.  If the MBOH deems unacceptable or is in need 
of further information, a request will be made and the information must be sent in order for the project to reach full compliance. Proof must be 
submitted to MBOH to qualify for issuance of Form 8609(s).  All applicable certifications are to accompany this document.

150



Page 1 of 5  

2017 Qualified Allocation Plan Public Comment 

Submitted by  

Kevin Thane 

Bozeman Community Affordable Housing Advisory Board 

kpthane@gmail.com 

(406)587-7534 

 

BOH QAP Goals / Philosophy 

The QAP and the Development Evaluation Criteria and Scoring contained 

within it by their nature emphasize certain project characteristics and 

diminish (either directly or indirectly) other characteristics of a proposed 

project. Although the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program which the 

MBOH QAP is intended to support is by definition intended to be 

supportive of low income housing, the proposed Montana Board of 

Housing 2017 QAP has included language that limits consideration of some 

low income projects.  The Board of Housing should adopt a goal of 

optimizing, for low and very low income individuals, the impact of the Low 

Income Housing Tax Credits provided through Section 42 of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986.  There are several ways to work toward this goal 

through the design of the QAP.  One is to structure the QAP so that it 

incents developers to propose projects that serve a greater number of 

lower income individuals.  The proposed 2017 QAP does this to a certain 

degree but better language and incentives can be used to increase the 

opportunity to provide projects that serve very low income individuals.  

Another is to provide scoring incentives that encourage projects that 

incorporate low operational costs into their project design. A third is to 

provide points in the QAP scoring matrix for creative and innovative design 

that would result in construction or cost of operation savings for a project.  

The modifications to the QAP that are proposed below engender changes 

to make this happen. 

 

1. Basis Boost – The Basis Boost provides an increase of up to 30% in 

the basis for the project if the project is located in a Qualified Census 

Tract (QCT), in a HUD designated Difficult Development Area (DDA), 

or for certain other considerations such as targeting a greater 

percentage of the project to lower income clients.  Consider 

implementing the following sliding scale for awarding the Basis Boost 

151



Page 2 of 5  

to incent developers to increase the percentage of low income 

clients served: 

10% of units at or below 40% of AMI gives a 10% Basis Boost 

15% of units at or below 40% of AMI gives a 20% Basis Boost 

25% of units at or below 40% of AMI gives a 25% Basis Boost 

40% of units at or below 40% of AMI gives a 30% basis Boost 

15% of units at or below 30% of AMI gives a 30% Basis Boost 

 

2.  Extended Low Income Use -  Adjust the number of points awarded for 

maintaining the units as low income in the years beyond 30 (the 30 

year period is federally mandated) allowing 6 points for each 

additional year beyond 30 and taking away the opportunity to gain a 

large number of points by increasing the number of years low income 

units are maintained as low income by only one year 

 

Years beyond 30  Points awarded 

1 6 

2 12 

3 18 

4 24 

5 30 

6 36 

7 42 

8 48 

9 54 

10 60 

11 66 

12 72 

13 78 

14 84 

15 90 

16 or greater 100 

 

3.  Lower Income Tenants - Change the point allotment to provide more 

points for a greater number of low income units as well as adding a 

below 30% AMI Category: 

 

152



Page 3 of 5  

AMI % of eligible Units Points Awarded 

Below 30% 10 25 

 20 100 

 30 150 

 40+ 220 

31% to 40% 20 50 

 30 125 

 40 150 

 50 200 

41% to 50% 20 50 

 30 75 

 50 100 

 60+ 175 

51% to 60% 50 100 

 75 175 

 

 

4. Amenities – Add the following amenities to the list of those providing 

additional points 

a. Central Recycling Bins – This provides residents an incentive to 

recycle and in some cases makes it possible where it wouldn’t 

be otherwise due to transportation limitations.  It also has the 

potential to decrease garbage costs. 

b. Central WiFi for the project – Providing WiFi  available for the 

use of all units would lower the cost of providing individual 

internet access to each unit and provides a service that is 

quickly becoming a necessity. 

c. Remove Computers for tenant use from the list of available 

amenities since usable computers are available to most 

people. 

 

5. Development Team Characteristics - In 2015, the number of points 

possible in this area was 110.  For 2016, the number of points 

possible in this area was increased to 330. Earning these points 

requires having done previous Housing Credit projects or hiring 

people who have done previous Housing Credit projects. The number 

of points currently attributed to Development Team Characteristics 

153



Page 4 of 5  

skews the emphasis of the application in two areas.  First it places a 

disproportionate weight on the value of the development Team 

relative to the remainder of the application.  Second it discriminates 

against new entrants in the field who may have unique solutions for 

the low income housing market. Section 10 of the proposed 2017 

QAP provides for a reduction in points for applications from 

developers who have not performed in an acceptable manner on 

prior projects.  Using this section rather than placing an 

unrealistically high bar for new developers entering the field is a 

better way to ensure competency.  Currently, 330 possible points are 

awarded for Development Team Characteristics.  We propose 

returning to the 2015 point allowance of 110 points for this area.   

 

6. Innovation in Construction or Operation – Projects receiving Low 

Income Housing Tax Credits should be encouraged to implement 

strategies that result in lower construction costs and/or lower 

operating costs.  Adding the possibility of up to 100 points for a new 

category encouraging innovation to the Development Evaluation and 

Scoring will incent developers to submit forward thinking designs. 

 

 

7. Green initiatives Scoring 

a. LED lighting with a bulb life estimate of 20,000 hours or better 

should be required for all lighting, both interior and exterior.  

LED bulbs use less energy and last longer than equivalent CFL 

bulbs.  Using LED lighting when initially installing lighting 

results in a lower cost of operation for the tenants. 

b. Photovoltaic Panels and a Solar Hot Water system are listed 

without providing any standards or metrics against which to 

evaluate the value of these items.  Providing a sliding scale of 

points as shown below for energy savings, no matter what the 

means, will provide a metric against which the provision of 

these items can be measured and will allow developers the 

opportunity to do a cost benefit analysis to determine the 

amount of energy usage reduction that makes economic sense 

for their project. 

 

154



Page 5 of 5  

Utility cost offset measures – up to 250 points 

Implementation of solar, wind, geothermal or other strategies 

resulting in an estimated reduction in electricity or gas usage 

by reducing the total number of kilowatt hours of electricity or 

therms of gas that would be used by the project if the energy 

saving devices were not installed.  Points will be awarded 

based on the sliding scale below: 

 

Reduction Points Awarded 

100% 250 

75-99% 175 

50 – 74% 125 

25 – 49% 75 

10 – 24% 40 

1 – 9% 25 

 

 

 

155



Comments to 2017 MT QAP Housing Solutions LLC Page 1 of 5	

Alex	Burkhalter/Housing	Solutions	LLC		
Comments	to	the	2017	Draft	QAP	

March	3,	2016	
	
Page	6		 Section	1	–	“Project	Square	Footage”	Definition	
	

Immediately	preceding	“Part	X,	Project	Uses”	“Section	B	–	Program	Information”	should	
be	inserted	so	the	whole	location	description	reads	“Section	B	–	Program	Information	Part	
X,	Project	Uses”	

	
Page	7		 Section	1	–	“Substantial	Change”	Definition	
	

With	 the	Management	Company	being	a	member	of	 the	Development	Team,	and	any	
changes	 in	 Development	 Team	 being	 a	 Substantial	 Change,	 would	 changes	 in	
Management	 Company	 at	 existing	 projects	 trigger	 negative	 points	 for	 future	
applications?	 (Page	 40	 –	 Section	 9	 –	 Item	 10	 -	 Item	 B	 –	 Demonstrated	Management	
Weakness)	

	
Page	8		 Section	1	–	“Unit”	Definition	(definition	to	be	added)	
	

Throughout	 the	QAP	 there	 are	many	 references	 to	Unit	 (Cost	 Limits	 per	Unit,	 Annual	
Operating	Expenses	per	Unit,	Replacement	Reserves	per	unit,	Total	Project	Cost	per	Unit).		
I	think	it	would	be	prudent	to	have	a	definition	of	Unit	that	includes	Low	Income	Units,	
Commons	Space	Units	(manager),	and	Market	Units.	

	
Page	14	 Section	3	–	Hard	Cost	Per	Unit/Hard	Cost	Per	Square	Foot	and	Total	Project	Cost	Per	

Unit/Total	Project	Cost	Per	Square	Foot	
	

When	you	consider	the	calculation	of	Hard	Cost	per	Unit,	the	proposed	limit	as	outlined	
in	the	2017	QAP	at	$175,000	is	very	reasonable,	if	not	to	high.		When	looking	at	the	2016	
New	Construction	projects,	the	average	Hard	Cost	per	Unit	is	$144,840.		In	fact	there	is	
only	one	out	of	the	12	2016	New	Construction	that	was	over	the	cost	limit,	coming	in	at	
$205,775.00.	 	 Further	 support	 for	 a	 Hard	 Cost	 per	 unit	 limit	 closer	 to	 the	 average	 of	
$144,840	is	that	8	of	the	12	2016	New	Construction	projects	were	within	a	range	of	10%	
below	($130,356(	and	10%	above	($159,324)	the	average	Hard	Cost	Per	Unit.	
	
We	were	not	 able	 to	perform	a	 similar	 analysis	 on	 the	Rehab	projects	 as	 information	
handed	out	at	 the	2016	award	board	meeting	did	not	 include	a	breakdown	of	 land	vs	
building	costs	in	the	acquisition	of	the	property.	

	 	

156



Comments to 2017 MT QAP Housing Solutions LLC Page 2 of 5	

Page	15	 Section	3	–	Debt	Coverage	Ratio	
	

For	Projects	with	an	upward	trending	DCR…	seems	like	1.50	in	the	first	year	is	very,	very	
high.		If	that	is	where	the	DSCR	is	in	year	1,	where	is	it	in	year	15?		The	only	exception	to	
this	that	I	could	imagine	would	be	a	small	project	that	needs	a	large	DSR	to	to	get	any	
debt	at	all.	Maybe	there	needs	to	be	two	standards,	one	for	Small	Projects	and	one	for	
non-Small	Projects.	

	
Page	16	 Section	3	–	Additional	Underwriting	Criteria	
	

Operating	 Expenses	 per	Unit	 at	 $6,000	 per	month	 seems	 ridiculously	 high,	 this	 is	 the	
equivalent	of	$500	per	month.		I	would	suggest	lowering	the	limit	to	$5,000.	
	
With	Operating	Expenses	Trending	upward	at	3%,	the	Reserve	should	follow	the	same	
trending.		This	would	be	the	simplest	for	underwriting.		All	of	our	projects	have	an	upward	
trend	of	some	kind	on	the	reserves.	 	Examples	are	3%	per	year	or	 increase	 in	$50	per	
unit/year	every	five	years.	

	
Page	22	 Section	4	–	Board	Consideration	and	Determination	Process	&		
Page	27	 Section	8	–	Letter	of	Intent	
	

After	careful	and	thoughtful	review,	I	do	not	support	the	change	in	process	of	having	the	
Board	of	Housing	make	invitations	to	submit	full	applications	based	on	the	Letter	of	Intent	
and	a	10	minute	presentation.		As	currently	written,	the	requirements	for	a	Letter	Intent	
is	a	two	page	narrative	and	single	sheet	outlining	proposed	unit	mix,	rents,	project	sources	
and	project	uses.	
	
While	I	believe	the	intent	of	adding	this	process	is	good,	to	narrow	down	the	number	of	
applicants,	 I	 fear	 the	opposite	will	happen.	 	With	 such	a	 low	 threshold	of	 information	
required	you	could	be	flooded	with	these	three	page	proposals.	
	
Further,	without	any	requirement	for	a	market	study	to	accompany	the	Letter	of	Intent,	
how	will	the	projects	be	judged	against	each	other	in	areas	such	as	market	rents	in	the	
community,	vacancy	rates	in	the	community,	eligible	households	in	the	community,	and	
number	of	units	required	in	the	community.	
	
Lastly,	a	major	part	of	the	full	application	is	proving	the	development	team	can	deliver	on	
the	project	they	are	proposing.		This	includes	a	verifiable	demonstration	of	need,	financial	
underwriting,	 financial	 partners,	 appropriate	 positioning	 of	 the	 project	 in	 the	market,	
necessary	approvals	and	site	control,	appropriate	infrastructure	and	capacity	to	serve	the	
contemplated	project,	and	many	other	items	that	go	into	a	project	application.	
	
I	do	understand	 the	allure	of	having	a	 large	menu	of	projects	 to	 initially	choose	 from,	
however	the	with	just	a	letter	of	intent	you	don’t	have	the	information		have	no	idea	if	

157



Comments to 2017 MT QAP Housing Solutions LLC Page 3 of 5	

the	greatest	menu	in	the	world	has	no	value	if	the	items	listed	can’t	be	delivered	by	the	
kitchen.	
	
Based	on	a	 three	page	package,	 I	don’t	believe	you	can	determine	which	projects	are	
capable	of	moving	forward	if	award	credits	and	“best	meet	the	most	pressing	needs	of	low	
income	people	with	in	the	state	of	Montana.”	
	
It	is	for	these	reasons	that	I	request	all	projects,	if	they	meet	threshold	requirements	and	
minimum	scoring	are	given	a	full	consideration	for	an	award	of	Housing	Tax	Credits.	
	

Page	27	 Section	8	–	Threshold	Requirements	#9	
	

Under	 the	 2016	 and	 previous	 QAPs	 allowed	 for	 a	 project	 to	 be	 deemed	 as	 meeting	
threshold	if	a	zone	change	had	been	requested	prior	to	the	application.		The	new	language	
in	the	2017	QAP	seems	to	indicate	that	a	project	would	have	to	have	a	“zoning	change	
request	that	has	been	or	will	be	approved.”		I	don’t	know	how	you	can	demonstrate	a	
zone	 change	 request	will	 be	 approved	 in	 the	 future.	 	 I	 think	 this	 language	 should	 be	
adjusted	back	to	the	old	standard	of	a	minimum	of	a	“zone	change	requested.”	
	
It	 is	very	common	for	zoning	changes	to	be	done	for	these	properties	as	we	are	often	
trying	to	position	them	close	to	services	and	zoning	changes	need	to	be	done,	but	can	not	
be	pursued	until	after	an	award	of	Housing	Tax	Credits.		The	process	can	be	started	but	
the	change	will	not	be	approved	until	after	the	application	is	turned	in.	

	
Page	30	 Section	8	–	Threshold	Requirement	27	
	

Not	sure	how	this	item	differs	from	Threshold	Requirement	22.		Want	to	make	sure	we	
are	not	missing	anything,	they	appear	to	be	requesting	the	same	information.	

	
Page	35	 Section	9	–	Scoring	Criteria	4	–	Community	Input	
	

I	support	the	breaking	of	the	40	points	into	multiply	categories.	However	without	clear	
definitions	 of	 items	 (i)	 to	 (iii)	 it	 will	 be	 impossible	 to	 differentiate	 between	 (i)	
neighborhood	 meetings….,	 (ii)	 local	 charrettes…..	 and	 (iii)	 other	 appropriate	 form	 of	
community	input…..		I	would	suggest	offering	20	points	for	completing	any	or	all	of	items	
(i)	to	(iii)	and	20	points	for	completing	item	(iv)	City	or	County	Commission	Meeting.	

	 	

158



Comments to 2017 MT QAP Housing Solutions LLC Page 4 of 5	

Page	37	–	Section	9	Scoring	Criteria	9	–	Percentage	of	Credits	Funding	Total	Project	Costs	
	

I	understand	why	this	category	was	created	and	support	it.	However,	as	written	I	don’t	
think	it	achieves	the	intended	goal.		As	written	2/6,	or	33%	of	the	2016	Rehab	projects	
and	2/12,	or	16.7%,	of	the	2016	New	Construction	projects	would	have	earned	the	50	
points.		The	remaining	projects	would	have	had	50	points	taken	away.	When	you	consider	
the	positive	and	negative	points,	 it	 really	 is	 a	100-point	 category.	 	 This	 is	 a	 significant	
advantage	 given	 to	 only	 4	 of	 the	 18	 projects.	 	 Further	 the	 point	 category	 is	 skewed	
towards	Rehab	projects.		(I	didn’t	not	include	Cascade	Ridge	II	in	the	analysis	because	it	
wasn’t	a	“full”	project,	Freedoms	Path	was	included	as	a	Rehab)	
	
Further,	I	believe	a	better	metric	for	measuring	efficiency	of	the	use	of	the	credits	would	
be	Allocation	Requested	divided	by	Total	Project	Cost,	or	put	another	way,	Percent	of	
Allocation	Requested	 to	Total	 Project	Costs.	 	 This	 takes	out	 the	 variable	of	 Tax	Credit	
Pricing	from	the	review.		As	it	is	written	now	you	would	actually	be	penalized	for	garnering	
a	high	price	per	tax	credit	dollar.		For	example,	a	$4,000,000	award	of	credits	selling	for	
$0.93	per	dollar	would	yield	$	3,720,000.		That	same	award	of	$4,000,000	selling	for	$0.98	
per	dollar	would	yield,	$3,920,000.	 	On	projects	of	 like	Total	Project	Costs	 the	second	
project	would	be	viewed	more	negatively	a	because	it	has	a	higher	amount	of	tax	credit	
equity.	
	
In	light	of	my	two	comments	above,	I	would	suggest	the	following	sliding	scale	for	this	
point	 category	 (Table	 A).	 	 It	 places	 the	 bulk	 of	 the	 applicants	 at	 or	 near	 zero	 points	
awarded	or	taken	away,	rewards	those	who	are	able	to	garner	other	sources,	balances	
the	points	between	New	Construction	and	Rehab,	and	does	not	penalize	for	strong	credit	
pricing.	

	 	

159



Comments to 2017 MT QAP Housing Solutions LLC Page 5 of 5	

TABLE	A	

	
	
	
If	the	above	TABLE	A	was	applied	to	the	2016	applicants	the	outcomes	would	have	been	
(Table	B):	
	
TABLE	B	

	

Points
Min Max Min Max Min Max

50 0.00% 74.00% 0.00% 60.00% 0.00% 67.00%
40 74.01% 77.00% 60.01% 63.00% 67.01% 70.00%
30 77.01% 80.00% 63.01% 66.00% 70.01% 73.00%
20 80.01% 83.00% 66.01% 69.00% 73.01% 76.00%
10 83.01% 86.00% 69.01% 72.00% 76.01% 79.00%
0 86.01% 89.00% 72.01% 75.00% 79.01% 82.00%
-10 89.01% 92.00% 75.01% 78.00% 82.01% 85.00%
-20 92.01% 95.00% 78.01% 81.00% 85.01% 88.00%
-30 95.01% 98.00% 81.01% 84.00% 88.01% 91.00%
-40 84.01% 87.00% 91.01% 94.00%
-50 98.01% 100.00% 87.01% 100.00% 94.01% 100.00%

New	Construction Rehab Combined	NC/Rehab)
%	of	Allocation	Requested	to	Total	Project	Costs

Points
Min Max 2016	Round Min Max 2016	Round

50 0.00% 74.00% 2 0.00% 60.00% 0
40 74.01% 77.00% 0 60.01% 63.00% 0
30 77.01% 80.00% 0 63.01% 66.00% 1
20 80.01% 83.00% 0 66.01% 69.00% 0
10 83.01% 86.00% 2 69.01% 72.00% 1
0 86.01% 89.00% 1 72.01% 75.00% 2
-10 89.01% 92.00% 5 75.01% 78.00% 1
-20 92.01% 95.00% 1 78.01% 81.00% 1
-30 95.01% 98.00% 1 81.01% 84.00% 0
-40 0 84.01% 87.00% 0
-50 98.01% 100.00% 0 87.01% 100.00% 0

Total	projects 12 6
Total	Net	Points 20 10

Average	Points	per	Project 1.67 1.67

New	Construction Rehab
%	of	Allocation	Requested	to	Total	Project	Costs
Results	of	2016	Round	based	on	proposed	scoring

160



From: Timothy McDonald
To: Bair, Mary
Cc: Guariglia, Kellie
Subject: Re: 2017 QAP draft is out for public comment
Date: Wednesday, February 24, 2016 2:25:48 PM

Mary,
Thanks for the opportunity to submit comments to your QAP.  I’m writing my comments now 
but I wanted to make sure that I am seeing all changes that are being proposed in the energy 
and green scoring criteria.  I have gone to the website and found both this:
http://housing.mt.gov/Portals/93/shared/docs/MultifamilyDevelopment/QAP/energyandgreenf
orm.pdf
and the QAP it self which spells out more generally the energy efficiency strategies 
encouraged.

I’m checking to see if I’m missing anything?

If not, it appears that the scoring criteria does not include any “sustainability standard” such as
 LEED or Enterprise Green Communities, or “energy standard” such as Energy Star.  That is 
clearly intentional so my thought was that I would propose 2 ideas for how you incorporate 
Passive House into your scoring without actually giving points for a “Passive House building” 
per se, the way that Pennsylvania and other States have done.  Here are two ideas:

1. you give an extra 15 points to a “Net-Zero-Energy-Capable” project.  This would mean that 
the project would be required to be designed such that it COULD generate ALL the energy 
that it needed through renewable sources ON-SITE but was not required to actually have those
 renewable sources for these points (this would leave space for more points as indicated in 
your Green Initiatives form for Photovoltaic Panels, for instance).  This would mean that in 
order for the building to generate what it needed on-site, it would have to significantly reduce 
the energy consumption of the building.  Passive House could be mentioned as an effective 
“tool” for enabling the project to get to a “Net-Zero-Energy-Capable” status.  
2. you give an extra 15 points for a project demonstrates through an energy model (either 
PHPP or WUFIPassive model) that meets the following three criteria:
- a total energy demand in kBTU/sf/yr for heating and cooling as defined by either PHIUS 
(www.phius.org ) or PHI (http://passiv.de)
- a minimum air-tightness as defined by either PHIUS (www.phius.org ) or PHI 
(http://passiv.de)
- a maximum total Primary Energy demand in kBTU/sf/yr as defined by either PHIUS 
(www.phius.org ) or PHI (http://passiv.de)
These are the three main requirements of a Passive House building without actually requesting
 that the points be given for Passive House Certified projects.  More information could be 
provided but I think that if 15 points are offered there will at least be interest to explore.

Let me know what you think.
t

Timothy McDonald, RA, CPHC
Associate Professor
Temple University – Tyler School of Art – Architecture
2001 N. 13th St, Room #205
Phila, PA 19122
www.temple.edu/architecture

161

mailto:tuf32008@temple.edu
mailto:mbair@mt.gov
mailto:kguariglia@mt.gov
http://housing.mt.gov/Portals/93/shared/docs/MultifamilyDevelopment/QAP/energyandgreenform.pdf
http://housing.mt.gov/Portals/93/shared/docs/MultifamilyDevelopment/QAP/energyandgreenform.pdf
http://www.phius.org/
http://passiv.de/
http://www.phius.org/
http://passiv.de/
http://www.phius.org/
http://passiv.de/
http://www.temple.edu/architecture


C.  215.783.5591
F.   215.204.5481

 
Onion Flats – President
www.onionflats.com

CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT: The information contained in this e-mail, including attachments, is the confidential information of, and/or is the property of, Temple University. This 
information is intended for use solely by the individual or entity named in the e-mail. If you are not an intended recipient or you received this in error, then any review, printing, copying, or 
distribution of any such information is prohibited. Please notify the sender immediately by reply e-mail and then delete this e-mail from your system.

On Feb 11, 2016, at 2:57 PM, Bair, Mary <mbair@mt.gov> wrote:

The 2017 QAP draft was put out for public comment on the website on February 9th.   
Several developers have had trouble finding it.  
 
I am attaching it to this email along with the Amenity scoring form.
 
The Energy and Green scoring form is almost ready to go and will be emailed to you in 
the next day or two.   The changes in the energy and green scoring criteria in the draft 
QAP resulting from the energy and green scoring form will be updated in the 2017 QAP 

that will be presented to the board for approval at the March 14th Board Meeting.
 
Our website now gives you an opportunity to comment on the QAP electronically.  That
 link is: http://housing.mt.gov/MET/PC
 
You will need to page down about ½ way to find the 2017 QAP draft  public comment 
opportunity.
 
Mary S. Bair
Multifamily Program Manager
Montana Board of Housing
406-841-2845
 
<Amenity scoring items.xlsx>

162

http://www.onionflats.com/
mailto:mbair@mt.gov
http://housing.mt.gov/MET/PC


Loan Programs

Applications Active Loans: Set-aside Balance
 ##  $$ ## $$ $$ $$

Reverse Annuity (RAM)
RAM                                                                  1                            150,000                          58         4,698,179         6,000,000         1,301,821 

Housing Montana Fund
TANF
Standard Program

Bond Programs
Regular Program                                                                   -                                         -                          13         2,406,375 
Conduit                                                                  2                       41,000,000                          10       62,628,046 
Risk Share                                                                   -                                         -                            6         8,402,564 

Housing Credits (HCs) Allocation

 City  Award HC Year Status

Fort Peck Sust Village  Poplar 13-Apr 2013 
Apsaalooke Warrior  Crow Agency 13-Dec 2014 

Sunset Village  Sidney 13-Dec 2014 
Voyageur Apartments  Great Falls 13-Dec 2014 
Cedar View  Malta 13-Dec 2014 
Chippewa Cree Homes I  Box Elder 13-Dec 2014 
Antelope Court  Havre 14-Nov 2015 
Cascade Ridge II  Great Falls 14-Nov 2015 
Gallatin Forks  Manhattan 14-Nov 2015 
Guardian Apartments  Helena 14-Nov 2015 

Stoneridge Apartments  Bozeman 14-Nov 2015 

Sweet Grass Commons  Missoula 14-Nov 2015 
River Ridge  Missoula 14-Mar 2015 

 under construction 

 doing with previous credits received 

Multifamily & RAM Program Dashboard
March 4, 2015

 received HOME funds; construction underway 

 rehab underway on about 10 homes 
 Closed received approval from HOME 
 construction underway 
 Closed with investor 
 Closed with investor, rehab underway 

 have all certificates of occupancies 
 8609s completed 

 closed with investor; construction underway 
 2nd floor up starting 3rd 
 all but 2 buildings completed; 90% done 

163



Housing Credits (HCs) Compliance

 Year to Date Last Year

Project Site Visits                                      86                          93 
Units Inspected                                 1,526                    1,141 

                                        - 

Projects w/Comp Owner  Management audit done Explanation

Holland Park/MF loan Gt Falls Housing Authority
Gt Falls Housing 
Authority

10/10/14

Southern Lights Homeword
Tamarack Property 
Management 12/31/14

Phillips Apts Homeword
Tamarack Property 
Management 8/21/15

Ptarmigan Residences RMDC RMDC 10/15/15

Concrete issues to be addressed in spring 2016 

received settlement working on scope of workOutside wooden stairs Steps, railings, banisters 
& floors need to be sanded & 
stained/repainted. Floor of stairs also has 
some areas of rotting wood.ng bids for 
stairways/decks repairs, to be done Spring 
Northside fencing to be repainted/stained due 
to sprinklers creating water damage. Weather 
now interrupts completion to be done Spring 
2016.

164



2016 Calendar 
January 2016  February 2016  March 2016 

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 
     1 2   1 2 3 4 5 6    1 2 3 4 5 

3 4 5 6 7 8 9  7 8 9 10 11 12 13  6 7 8 9 10 11 12 
10 11 12 13 14 15 16  14 15 16 17 18 19 20  13 14 15 16 17 18 19 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23  21 22 23 24 25 26 27  20 21 22 23 24 25 26 
24 25 26 27 28 29 30  28 29       27 28 29 30 31   
31                       

 April 2016  May 2016  June 2016 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

     1 2  1 2 3 4 5 6 7     1 2 3 4 
3 4 5 6 7 8 9  8 9 10 11 12 13 14  5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

10 11 12 13 14 15 16  15 16 17 18 19 20 21  12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23  22 23 24 25 26 27 28  19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
24 25 26 27 28 29 30  29 30 31      26 27 28 29 30   

 July 2016  August 2016  September 2016 
Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 

     1 2   1 2 3 4 5 6      1 2 3 
3 4 5 6 7 8 9  7 8 9 10 11 12 13  4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

10 11 12 13 14 15 16  14 15 16 17 18 19 20  11 12 13 14 15 16 17 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23  21 22 23 24 25 26 27  18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
24 25 26 27 28 29 30  28 29 30 31     25 26 27 28 29 30  
31                       

 
October 2016  November 2016  December 2016 

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa  Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa 
      1    1 2 3 4 5      1 2 3 

2 3 4 5 6 7 8  6 7 8 9 10 11 12  4 5 6 7 8 9 10 
9 10 11 12 13 14 15  13 14 15 16 17 18 19  11 12 13 14 15 16 17 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22  20 21 22 23 24 25 26  18 19 20 21 22 23 24 
23 24 25 26 27 28 29  27 28 29 30     25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
30 31                      

 

March 2016 
• 13 – Strategic Planning Session - Butte 
• 14 – Board Meeting - Butte 

April 2016 
• 11 – Board meeting - TBD 

May 2016 
• 2-5 – Mountain Plains Housing Summit, 

Jackson Hole WY (Staff and Board Members) 
• 23-25 – Annual Housing Conference/Kalispell 
• 23 – 4% Tax Credit Training - Kalispell 

June 2016 
• 13 – Board Meeting – TBD 
• 13-16 – Housing Credit Connect (Staff) 

July 2016 
• Executive Director’s Workshop TBD 
• No Board Meeting 

August 2016 
• NCSHB Conference (Board Members) TBD 
• 8 – Board Meeting – TBD 

 

September 2016 
• 12 – Board Meeting – Helena 
• 24-27 – Annual Conference & Tradeshow (Staff & Board 

Members) Miami Beach FL 

October 2016 
• No Board Meeting 

November 2016 
• 14 – Board Meeting – Helena 

December 2016 
• No Board Meeting 

165



Administrative Dashboard 
March 2, 2016 

Board Meetings 
The next Board meeting will be March 14, 2016 in Butte.  The Board meeting will start at 8:30 A.M and will include 
the approval of the 2017 QAP for submission to the Governor.  We will hold a Strategic Planning session the 
evening of March 13, 2016.  If you are unable to attend this Board Meeting please notify Paula Loving at 841-2824 
or ploving@mt.gov. 

Board News 
The 2016 Legislative Conference was held February 29 – March 2, 2016 in Washington DC.   This conference 
addresses the organization’s legislative priorities and provides a platform for strategizing a unified message to 
collectively present to Congress. A who’s who of Washington’s housing insiders; the conference brings together 
HFA leaders, their board members, and stakeholders. Key Congressional staff and industry leaders will discuss the 
issues affecting HFAs today.  Jeanette McKee, Bob Gauthier and Bruce Brensdal attended.   The conference and 
meetings held on the hill were very informative and productive.   

Executive Update 
We continue to work with the Governor’s Office on opportunities for him to be more involved in housing issues 
across the state.  There are several opportunities in the next few months that we plan on coordinating and will 
keep you in the loop as these materialize.  

The Montana Financial Education Coalition conference was here in Helena, February 24, 2016.  The conference 
was one of the best to date.  Governor Bullock and Holly Petraeus were keynote speakers and many breakout 
sessions and information on financial education was available. 

Office Management 
The Housing Division’s reconfiguration project is in its final push.  The Finance program has completed their move 
to their new location.   The Quality Control cubicles and Multifamily offices will be completed by March 11 and a 
move in date of March 18.   This will conclude the scheduled yearlong project which started May of 2015.   

Operations Update 
We continue to work on updating the job descriptions and are in the process of creating career ladders within the 
Division.   

The Housing and Construction KIN for the Governor’s office met January 29th  and February 11th in Helena and 
discussed issues facing the industries. The next session is scheduled for March 10, 2016 to finalize the problem 
statements and recommendations.  KIN members/chairs may present at the Housing conference.   

I continue to work on the strategic planning efforts with the Program Managers and the Board and look forward to 
our follow-up session for March 2016. 

  I would propose the following agenda for March 13, 2016 

I. Review of 2015 Accomplishments 
II. Ranking/Prioritization of 2016 Items listed (in last Board Packet) 
III. Discussion of top priorities for 2016-2017 including next steps, time frames and 

assignments 

I have been facilitating Commerce wide discussions related to funding and housing access for former inmates of 
the Department of Corrections. As a member of the Re-entry Task Force, my role has been focused toward housing 

166

mailto:ploving@mt.gov


 

solutions, identifying opportunities for partnerships across program borders and creating private-public 
connections for solutions in communities across the state. 

Marketing Update 
The Housing in Montana book (LegCon Book) is complete and printed. Bruce took three (3) copies to Washington 
DC during the NCSHA  Legislative Conference and delivered them to the Montana Senators; Tester and Daines, and 
Congressman Zinke.  Bruce visited each office and had discussions about the housing situation in Montana.  The 
LegCon book will be available in print for our partners who also wish to use it in their advocacy work and will be 
available online, as well. 

Work on the next version of the White Paper has begun.  We are going to have an electronic dashboard format.  
Design of the display and the ability to print the information are almost complete.  We will reveal this powerful 
resource at the Housing Conference. 

Work on the MBOH Annual Report has begun.  This version will include a new design and will be available soon. 

We are working on a new source of swag and doodads for MBOH promotion.  We are collaborating with the 
Tourism office to access Montana branded items and will use Made in Montana items to promote Montana along 
with our housing information. 

The Housing Conference Planning committee is working diligently and has almost completed the work of 
organizing five tracks of breakout sessions.  The categories are Community Revitalization, Professional 
Development, Section 8 Programs, Multifamily Housing and Homeownership.  Registration is open and there is a 
link on the Housing website.  Attendees are urged to reserve their lodging before the rooms are full.  This year’s 
conference promises to be amazing and will include several national industry experts, plus the Governor and the 
Attorney General. 

The next HCT meeting is scheduled for April 20, 2016 in Helena at the MBOH offices. 

The Housing Resource Guide will go to print soon.  We will share this with our partners across the state and post 
on our website to assist those who are searching for resources. 

Staffing 
Tenant Based Section 8 – John Schroeck has accepted the position of the Section 8 Program Manager.  He will 
start March 14, 2016. 

Strategic Planning 
We meet March 13, 2016 for the follow-up strategic planning work session. See above for the proposed agenda. 

Travel – Training and Tribulations 
The Mountain Plains Housing Summit will be held in Jackson Hole, WY on May 2-4, 2016.   This is an excellent 
opportunity for Board members and Staff to engage with the regional Housing Finance Agencies to discuss issues 
facing the Agencies of our region.   This training is for MBOH Staff and Board members.    

The Housing Credit Connect for Housing Credits will take place in Seattle, WA on June 13-16, 2016.    An MBOH 
Staff will be in attendance.  

167



HOUSING DIVISION DASHBOARD

Tenant Based, Veterans' Vouchers, Mod Rehab, ShelterPlus Care I and II, 
811 PRA Demo Programs:

Current Period:  March, 2016
Before mid month payment and grant draws

Current Current Calendar  Year to 
Month Month Year  HUD  Date Agent 

Section 8 Programs Feb-2016 Feb-2016 Change HAP  Budget  Fees Term
Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) 15,426,099 216,832 CY 2015
          PBS8 Opt-Out Conversion Funding 88,595

Paid Units  (3625 Agency Contracts) 3,099 3,099 0
Current Month Payment Amount 1,397,661 1,397,661 0 2,770,690 216,832

Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing (VASH) 313,408
Number Units Paid (281 Authorized) 222 222 0

Payment Amount 108,672 108,672 0 212,550

Moderate Rehabitation (ModRehab) 2,012,728
Number Contracts 18 18 0

Paid Units (302 Authorized) 253 253 0
Payment Amount 143,186 143,186 0 290,842 8,716

Shelter Plus Care I (Individual) FY13 Grant Funds 248,388 July 27-July 26
Number Units Paid (28 Authorized) 34 34 0 Grant Balance

Payment Amount 17,225 17,225 0 93,780 97,019 2015 Request: $188,736

Shelter Plus Care II (Family) 174,000 Dec 2011-Dec2015
Number Units Paid (5 Authorized) 7 7 0 Grant Balance

Payment Amount 6,102 6,102 0 44,598 21,343 2015 Request: $34,212

Project-Based (PBS8) Admin Earnings Fed Fiscal
Contracts 86 85 -1 63,760

Units Paid (4073 Authorized) 3,656 3,604 -52 Contract Extension
Payment Amount 1,654,037 1,645,476 -8,561 Expires June 30 2016

Calendar Year Admin Earnings 587,760
811 Project Rental Assistance Demo (FY12 $) 1,900,000 157,000 Five Year

Rental Assistance Contracts (RAC) 48 48 0
Units (grant requires 82) 48 8 Units Kalispell

Payment Amount (Pending) 40 Units Missoula
48

Previous Current
Totals Month Month

Paid Units: 7,271 7,219 -52
Budgeted Units: 8,317

All Section 8 HAPs 3,326,883 3,318,322 -8,561

168


	March 14, 2016 Agenda
	February 8, 2016 Board Minutes
	2017 QAP placed for Public Comment

	Finance Update
	Homeownership Program
	Lender Approval
	Adjust Setaside Interest Rate
	Setaside Approval
	Homeownership Update
	Setaside Summary


	Multifamily
	110 S California Loan Request
	Northstar Apartments Loan Request
	2017 Qualified Allocation Plan
	2017 QAP Public Comments Accepted - Additional Changes
	Amenities Form
	Green Initiatives
	2017 Qualified Allocation Plan Public Comment as of 03/07/2016


	Multifamily Update
	Administrative Update
	Section 8 Dashboard






